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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

Qingling Motors Co. Ltd (the “"Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
"Group”) is principally engaged in the production and sale of Isuzu light,
medium and heavy-duty trucks, pick-up trucks, automobile parts and
accessories. All of the production facilities of the Group are located in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") and substantially all the sales of
the Group are also made in the PRC. The Group had exported sales to
overseas countries during the year, which accounted for approximately
2.59% of the Group's turnover for the year.

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES

The Group had 2,877 employees as at 31 December 2023.



B ABR -

AARARELERAEROERRA (AR
ADREMBRAR(AEEDB LI —T—_=F
ToA=ZT—BENFERSE  HERURE

4% -
—EC-FEE

2T _=%4+-A=+—H  xQA%
FREHE31,0896 © & _E428,85381H N
7.75% : EEBERAHAREK35.97(E)0 - &K E
FFEMHARIE32 4880 H110.73% © &
E_B-=F+-A=+—HILFEE ' KA
BERTREBBOARKEISAIGETT £F
RIBRREEBOARBL8EHETT

RIRMOEA

T =5 ERHEREN_TXBEENR
Bz  R=FHERBEIEERRZEERE
BRM—F - BAHEEFELDETE  BE
g - BRBERIGTIRER - AN GTR
RAMER - BRIETSRALEREANLES
N RFHEN31098W - BIELHS - ™
BRABIAY - ARRREBRCEENERE
B PREETESE - MRTRTLES
F EHREERRART  ARHELEERR
B - YEmEIF - B2 g - SEMERE -
RELEROBER -

ESERME
CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

| am pleased to present the annual report of Qingling Motors Co. Ltd (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2023 for your review.

2023 RESULTS

As at 31 December 2023, the Company sold 31,089 vehicles,
representing an increase of 7.75% over 28,853 vehicles sold last year.
Revenue was approximately RMB3,597 million, representing an increase
of 10.73% over approximately RMB3,248 million as recorded last year.
For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company recorded a loss
after tax for the year of approximately RMB45.41 million, while it was a
loss after tax of approximately RMB4.98 million for the last year.

REVIEW OF RESULTS

2023 is the year when the spirit of the 20th National Congress of
the Communist Party of China was fully implemented, and it is also
the year of economic recovery and development after transition in
controlling and preventing the 3-year COVID-19 pandemic. Although
consumer confidence is still insufficient and purchasing power is weak,
the economy has begun to steadily recover, with favorable conditions
outweighing adverse factors. The domestic automobile market has
shown strong endogenous power, with total sales reaching approximately
31.09 thousand vehicles, setting a new historical record and exceeding
market expectations. The Company has earnestly implemented the
new development concept, the spirit of the Central Economic Work
Conference, and the work plans of the municipal party committee and
government. Focusing on the goal of high-quality development, we have
systematically promoted key projects, improved product innovation,
optimised marketing mechanisms, and strengthened basic management,
achieving stable and growing business operations.

B2 /AHE D AR A A Qingling Motors Co. Ltd
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Working together to tackle challenges and accelerating product
innovation and technological innovation. Three new products,
including electric vehicles, pick-up trucks, and light trucks, have
achieved stable mass production and were launched on schedule.
We have also upgraded the technology of fuel vehicles, accelerated
compliance with new regulations, achieved the China VI-B Emission
Standard four years ahead of schedule for all series of fuel vehicles,
and basically completed the research and development on 4-stage
oil consumption for light, medium, and heavy-truck vehicles. We
have made progress in improving the performance and reducing
the cost of our main selling products, further enhancing our core
competitiveness in the market.

Closing sales through marketing system. \We have deepened the
reform of our marketing organization, stimulated marketing vitality,
and implemented monthly evaluations or special evaluations around
the “race competition” for annual marketing tasks. We have also
strengthened our marketing foundation, improved our marketing
capabilities, and mobilized the joint efforts of our distributors. We
have utilized new media effectively and strengthened market
promotion. We have implemented our maintenance commitments
and improved the quality of our services. With focused on
government and large customers, we strengthened services
for large customers to stabilize our marketing foundation, and
enhanced the capability to export complete vehicles. We have
started building an integrated system to support and ensure
the daily operation of “5+5”. We have also focused on the
transformation and upgrade of traditional dealers in terms of oil and
electricity, cooperated with Internet and freight operation platforms,
and built a new energy marketing solution in the style of Qingling,
opening up new prospects.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

3. Focusing on QCD capabilities, continuously strengthening
basic management. Our production systems have improved
efficiency and quality, emphasizing delivery; quality systems
establish mechanisms, enhance means, and we focus on
rectification; procurement systems strengthen risk removal and
supply guarantee, while financial systems implement stable
financial management.

4. Continuously promoting the development of new energy
and new industries, exploring new areas, and creating
and developing new momentum and advantages. \We have
expanded the specifications of our pure electric products,
completed the development of 8.9T, 18T environmental
sanitation chassis, and pre-research of 4K hybrid engines. The
results of our research and development in hydrogen-powered
vehicles and the cultivation of industrial ecology have gradually
emerged. Breakthroughs have been made in the cultivation of key
components for new energy vehicles, with batch delivery of electric
drive gearboxes and continuous improvement in electric drive axle
technology, which has been initially applied in commerce. Our VI
internet of vehicles function has been continuously improved, and
the service quality of our system has been enhanced.

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

The 2024 Government Work Report of the State Council” pointed out
that, after comprehensive analysis and judgment, the environment facing
China's development this year is still characterized by the coexistence
of strategic opportunities and risks and challenges, with favourable
conditions stronger than unfavourable factors. As the domestic economy
steadily recovers, the transition to new energy accelerates, and the
market expands from domestic to overseas, the automobile market
enters a period of stable recovery and growth. The market structure and
growth model are undergoing significant changes, maintaining moderate-
to-low growth. At the same time, new markets, new energies, new
technologies, new models, and the growth in demand for high cost-
performance bring new opportunities. The key work of the Company in
2024 is as follows:

1. Consolidate cost reduction and expense control, reshape the cost-
performance ratio of products. Under the premise of ensuring
and improving the technical performance and quality of products,
we shall continue to reduce product costs, making the product
prices increasingly accessible to more users. In terms of marketing
system, we focus on traditional fuel vehicles and new energy
vehicles, coordinating both domestic and overseas markets to
achieve expansion of sales volume, continuously optimize after-
sales service.

B2 /3E MM AR A A Qingling Motors Co. Ltd
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Strengthen product innovation by platformizing, serializing,
modularizing, generalizing, and standardizing products across
oil, electric, gas, hydrogen, and hybrid category. Improve cost-
performance ratio, and highlight the competitive advantages of
main selling products; focus on the rigid demand sub-markets
formed by policy orientations such as road rights and credits in
the post-subsidy era, precisely match use scenarios and customer
needs, optimize the portfolio, enrich the product spectrum, and
create competitive new energy vehicle products throughout their
lifecycle; align with the domestic heavy-truck market to develop
products, quickly benchmark against domestic best-selling brands,
thoroughly localize specifications and configurations, reduce costs
to the extreme, accelerate domestic closed loop production, and
improve cost-performance ratio.

Advance basic management with the times, rebuild capabilities,
and enhance benefit and efficiency competitiveness. In terms of
production system, we shall cultivate our business sense, address
issues proactively, re-examine existing weaknesses, and achieve
progress through enhanced delivery, inventory reduction and
cost reduction, quality improvement and efficiency enhancement,
and strengthened management; put ourselves in the customer'’s
perspective, continuously review, improve, and enhance product
quality and customer satisfaction; the procurement system should
further strengthen the control over components and suppliers,
through refined procurement, and intensify efforts to “reduce
inventory, lower costs, improve quality, and increase efficiency”.

LUO Yuguang
Chairman

Chongging, China
28 March 2024
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DIRECTORS

LUO Yuguang, aged 54, has been an executive director, the Chairman, a
member of the remuneration committee and the chairman and a member
of the nomination committee of the Company since 22 December 2016.
He graduated from Beijing Agricultural Engineering University (1t 52
ETIEAKE) in 1992, specialized in Construction and Environmental
Engineering (B £LE1%3E T 72) with a Bachelor's degree in engineering.
Mr. LUO also completed and graduated from an undergraduate program
in Chongaging Normal University (EERT&3AZ) in 2008, majoring in
Accounting. He joined the Company after obtaining his Bachelor’'s degree
and has a consecutive period of more than 20 years of experience in
the car industry. At the early stage, Mr. LUO underwent an internship
at the Assemble Workshop (4% ), Repair Workshop ({8 R),
Infrastructure Department (E323f) and Procurement Department (££88
£B) of the Company. Later he was the Deputy Head of the Planning and
Construction Department (}3 £7£:% 20 &/E6 &), Deputy Head of Secondary
Pressing Vehicles Workshop (=& B EH&|%F), Deputy Head of the
Finance Department (81730 &I3F ) and Deputy Head of the Integrated
Planning Department (42& 7t E1&&EIFK). In 2009, he joined the
management team of the Company and was the Deputy Chief Economist
and the Head of Procurement Department (BI|484% 7% Al 38 SRES 2L 26 &),
and the Deputy General Manager of Qingling Motors (Group) Company
Limited (“Qingling Group”), the substantial Shareholder of the Company,
being responsible for the production, logistics, domestic support and
import, etc.. He took up the post of the Director and the General Manager
of Qingling Group in September 2016. Mr. LUO studied abroad for
several times, including the Advanced Course in Corporate Governance
organized by the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Studies on Special Topics such as production, quality, development
and sales organized by Japan Isuzu. Mr. LUO has been the Chairman of
the Qingling Isuzu (Chongging) Engine Co., Ltd. from April 2015 to 30
November 2016.

YASUTA Tatsuya, aged 60, has been an executive director, the vice
chairman and the general manager of the Company since 30 July 2021.
He graduated from the Faculty of Foreign Language, Tokyo University
of Foreign Studies. Mr. YASUTA joined Isuzu Motors Limited (“Isuzu”)
in April 1986, and has held various positions such as a middle manager,
team leader and director in various departments. He was assigned to
work for Isuzu Sub-Saharan Africa and GMICA Colombia Ltd. from March
2015 to November 2018. Mr. YASUTA served as the assistant to the
head of Business Department of Isuzu, the assistant to the head of First
Section of Business Department and the assistant to the head of the
Industry Solution ® PT Business Department from December 2018 to
March 2020. He was currently an S expert in the head office of China
Business Department from April 2021 to May 2021.

B2 /3E MM AR A A Qingling Motors Co. Ltd
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NAKAMURA Osamu, aged 57, has been an executive director of
the Company since 25 August 2022. He graduated from the Faculty
of Fisheries of Tokyo University of Fisheries. Mr. NAKAMURA joined
Isuzu in April 1990, and held number of important positions in various
departments such as the Domestic Business Management Office and
the Business Development Department. He was assigned to work in
various departments for Yokohama Isuzu Motors Ltd (&/&f +$%/98
A7), Isuzu Network Ltd (fi+#4845 72 7)) and Isuzu Motors Sales Ltd
(18295 85 Q7). Mr. NAKAMURA currently serves as the executive
officer of Isuzu, the executive officer of the Head Office of Business
Department, the Business Department, the GR Domestic Coordination
Department, the GR Domestic Business Development Department and
the GR Domestic Commodity Policy Department as well as the Program
Business Development Department and a managerial staff in the head
office of the China Business Department.

KIJIMA Katsuya, aged 61, has been an executive director of the
Company since 25 August 2022. He graduated from the Faculty of
Engineering of Chiba University. Mr. KIJIMA joined Isuzu in April 1987,
and held number of important positions in various departments such as
certain technical units and vehicle body engineering units in Isuzu. He
was assigned to work in various departments for Isuzu Motors America,
LLC and Isuzu Motors Co., (Thailand) Ltd. (=B R +44/3EBRMDER A F).
Mr. KIJIMA currently serves as the executive officer of the Vehicle Public
Works Department and the Vehicle Quality Management Department of
Isuzu.

LI Juxing, aged 58, has been an executive director of the Company
since 28 May 2015. He graduated from Harbin Institute of Technology,
majoring in casting. He holds a bachelor degree of engineering and is a
senior engineer. Mr. LI successively served as a technician of a foundry
of Chongging Automobile Manufacturing Plant (& B £LE 4/, a
head of the biotechnology department, a head of the quality department,
a deputy chief engineer and a deputy general manager of Chongqging
Qingling Casting Company Limited (BEE#EEAR A 7)) since July
1990. He became a deputy chief engineer of Qingling Group since 2005
and concurrently served as the general managers of Chongging Qingling
Aluminum Casting Co. Ltd. (EEE R ERAR A F]) and Chongging
Qingling Forging Co. Ltd. (EEERBEAFRRZAR]). Since 2010, he has
been working as a deputy general manager of Qingling Group and he
also serves as the chairman of Chongging Qingling Forging Co. Ltd. and
vice chairman of Isuzu (China) Engine Co., Ltd.. During the period from
26 September 2016 to 22 December 2016, Mr. LI served as the acting
Chairman of the Company.
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XU Song, aged 56, has been an executive director of the Company
since 15 June 2016. He is a senior engineer. Mr. XU joined the Chinese
Communist Party in June 1988. He graduated from the Faculty of
Engineering Machinery of Jilin University of Technology in July 1989,
majoring in crane transport and engineering machinery. Mr. XU was
awarded a bachelor degree in Engineering and a master degree in
Business Administration. He worked in the equipment department of
Chongging Automobile Manufacturing Plant as an internship in 1989 and
successively served as an assistant engineer and the deputy head of
manufacturing factory. From 1995 to 2004, he worked at the Company
and successively served as the deputy head, the head of manufacturing
factory and the head of the product development department. Since
2004, Mr. XU served as an assistant to general manager of Qingling
Group and the Company, and successively served as the head of the
business planning department of Qingling Group and the Company and
the director of chief engineer office of the Company. Since 2005, he
served as an assistant to general manager of Qingling Group and the
vice general manager of the Company, and also served as the head of
the business planning department of Qingling Group and the Company.
He also served as the head of the procurement department of Qingling
Group in November 2005. From 2009 to 2012, he successively served
as the deputy general manager and a member of the Party Committee
of Qingling Group, the general manager, the secretary and a member of
the Party Committee of Chongging Qingling Casting Company Limited.
From 2012 till now, Mr. XU served as the deputy general manager and
a member of the Party Committee of Qingling Group. Mr. XU ceased to
serve as the deputy general manager of the Company since 25 February
2020.

LI Xiaodong, aged 57, has been an executive director of the Company
since 30 May 2019. He is a member of the Communist Party of China
and holds the university graduate. He joined the Company in September
1986. From September 1986 to October 2017, he was successively a
teacher at the Technical School, Youth League officer, deputy secretary
of Youth League, director of the engine manufacturing department
and deputy head of the coating workshop of Chongqging Automobile
Manufacturing Plant (during his tenure, he graduated from Chongging
Radio & TV University (majoring in law)); a deputy head of the coating
workshop, a deputy director of coating and manufacturing department,
deputy head and head of No. 2 welding workshop, director of car body
welding and manufacturing department of the Company; vice general
manager and general manager of Chongaging Qingling Forging Co. Ltd;
assistant to general manager of Qingling Group; general manager of
Chongaging Qingling Automobile Manufacture and Assembly Co. Ltd.;
person-in-charge of Northeast China and North China Sales Region of the
Company and chairman of Qingling Isuzu (Chongging) Automobile Sales
and Service Co., Ltd.. Mr. LI currently serves as a vice general manager
and member of the party committee of Qingling Group (during his tenure,
he obtained a bachelor’s degree in mechanical design and manufacturing
and automation from Chongging University and a bachelor’'s degree
in business administration from China Central Radio & TV University),
chairman and secretary of the Party Committee of Chongging Qingling
Casting Company Limited. Mr. LI ceased to serve as the deputy general
manager of the Company since 25 February 2020.

B2 /3E MM AR A A Qingling Motors Co. Ltd
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LONG Tao, aged 72, has been an independent non-executive director
of the Company since 28 April 1994. He is also a member of the audit
committee, the remuneration committee and the nomination committee
of the Company. Mr. LONG graduated from Research Institute for
Fiscal Science, Ministry of Finance, majoring in accounting. Mr. LONG
holds a master’'s degree in Economics. He had served at Accountancy
Division of Central University of Finance and Economics, and New York
office of KPMG Peat Marwick. Mr. LONG had acted as a member of
Securities Issue and Approval Committee of China Securities Regulatory
Commission and member of Chinese technology expert panel for China-
Hong Kong Securities Team. Mr. LONG also served as the independent
director of Luoyang Glass Company Limited, Beijing Hua'er Company
Limited (3t Z= 1L =& D AR A 7)), Beijing Capital International Airport
Co., Ltd., Baotou Iron and Steel Co. Ltd., China Asset Management
Co., Ltd., Beijing Bashi Company Limited, Jiangxi Copper Company
Limited, Beijing North Star Company Limited, Wangfujing Department
Store Co., Ltd. (EFHBERERMNERAF]) and the chairman of
Beijing Haiwen Investment Consulting Co., Ltd. (It /ERHREHZABR
~a]). Mr. LONG has extensive knowledge and experience in corporate
finance, accounting, audit, assets appraisal, restructuring of enterprise
and listing. Mr. LONG currently serves as the chairman of Beijing Haiwen
Entrepreneurship New Technology Investment Management Co., Ltd. (1t
REBAIENRITRE B2 AR /AR, an independent director of Beijing
Whoswho Culture and Media Co., Ltd., UBS SDIC Fund Management
Co., Ltd., Crown International Corporation Limited and Aimer Co., Ltd. (&

RN BRAR).

SONG Xiaojiang, aged 73, has been an independent non-executive
director of the Company since 28 April 1994. He is also the chairman and
a member of the audit committee and the remuneration committee and a
member of the nomination committee of the Company. Mr. SONG is the
general manager of Chongqging Ping Zheng Law Office, a member of the
China Economic Law Association and the China Lawyers Association. Mr.
SONG has been a lawyer and notary for 30 years. Mr. SONG graduated
from South West Institute of Political Science and Law and also studied
international law in the China University of Political Science and Law
and foreign economic law at Shenzhen University. He was formerly vice
chairman of Chongging Notary Office and vice chairman of Chongging
Foreign Law Office.
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LIU Tianni, aged 60, has been an independent non-executive director
of the Company since 31 May 2011. He is also a member of the audit
committee, the remuneration committee and the nomination committee
of the Company. Mr. LIU is also the executive director, the chairman
and the chief executive officer of Wonderful Sky Financial Group
Holdings Limited (the shares of which are listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, Stock Code: 1260), the chairman of The Listed Companies
Council of Chinese Enterprises Association (Hong Kong) (B&/&F {1 £
ARZB®), a Hong Kong member of Chongging Municipal Committee
of the Chinese People's Political Consultative Conference (EE M EHE
% B), executive vice chairman of the Hong Kong Island Federation (&
7 BHEA ), the honorary chairman of Shandong Hong Kong Overseas
Investment and Financing Association (B8 ¥R EH# A ), and vice
chairman of China Mergers and Acquisition Association (Kong Kong) (&
SR B HFIEAE). Mr. LIU graduated from Beijing Normal University with
a master degree in science.

LIU Erh Fei, aged 65, has been an independent non-executive director
of the Company and a member of the audit committee, remuneration
committee and nomination committee of the Company since 28 May
2015. He graduated from Harvard Business School with a master degree
in Business Administration. He graduated from Brandeis University with
a bachelor degree in Economics and International Relations in 1984 and
from Beijing Foreign Studies University, majoring in English, in 1981. Mr.
LIU has served as the chairman of China region and the general manager
of China region of Bank of America Merrill Lynch Group, and served as
senior management in Goldman Sachs Group Company, Morgan Stanley,
Salomon Smith Barney International and Calyon Credit Agricole of France.
He is currently a founding partner and CEO of Asian Investment Capital
(TR E ), a director of Cindat Capital Management Limited and an
independent director of CMB Wing Lung Bank Limited.

E$2/5H A1 B PR A R Qingling Motors Co. Ltd
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SUPERVISORS

MIN Qing, aged 56, has been the supervisor representing the
shareholders of the Company since 15 June 2006. Ms. MIN ceased to be
the Chairman of the Supervisory Committee on 28 May 2015. Ms. MIN is
a director, the deputy secretary of the Party Committee and the Chairman
of the Trade Union of Qingling Group, and has many years of experience
in corporate management. Ms. MIN graduated from Chongging
Communication College in Mechanical Engineering in 1988 and had
undergraduate education. She also studied corporate management in
Japan.

PU Qing, aged 51, has been a supervisor representing the staffs and
workers of the Company since 15 December 2021. She graduated
from Chongging University with a bachelor’'s degree in thermal power
engineering and as a master in business administration. Ms. PU joined
the Company in 1996 and worked in the Equipment Department, Kinetic
Energy Department and Sales Department of the Group. From March
2003 to October 2021, Ms. PU served as the person in charge of the
Personnel Department of Qingling Group, a substantial Shareholder
of the Company, and the person in charge of the Secondary Pressing
Vehicles Workshop (Z&BEfH) of the Company; the assistant to general
manager and deputy secretary of the Party branch of EEE#XEAE
[R 72 7]; the deputy head of the Planning Department of Qingling Group
and the Company, the deputy head of the Finance Department and the
head of the Finance Department of the Company and the secretary of
Party Branch for General Management. Ms. PU is currently the head of
the Audit Department and the director of Supervisors Office of Qingling
Group.
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Dear Shareholders:

Since the establishment of the Supervisory Committee, each member
has been performing his duty in accordance with the Company's Articles
of Association with a view to protecting the interests of shareholders
of the Company (“Shareholders”) and the Company. We have attended
the board meetings and have given our opinions regarding the business
development, market expansion, technological reform, basic management
and team building of the Company. We have also monitored the guiding
ideology of the management and considered whether the decisions made
by the management were in compliance with state laws and whether
they were appropriate for the development of the Company and were in
the interests of Shareholders.

According to its power, the Supervisory Committee has reviewed
evidence of the Company’s accounts, books, reports and other
accounting information in a timely manner. In our opinion, the financial
statements have been properly prepared while the accounting principles
and the method of financial management adopted are in compliance with
relevant rules and regulations and no issues were identified.

The Supervisory Committee has carefully examined the financial
statements and the Directors’ Report to be presented before the annual
general meeting by the board of directors (the “Board”). In our opinion,
the chairman of the Board, directors, managers and senior management
have not engaged in any malpractices which would be prejudicial to the
interests of Shareholders and employees of the Company.

The Supervisory Committee is satisfied with the performance as well as

the economic results of the Company, and we are confident about the
future development of the Company.

MIN Qing
Supervisor

Chongging, China
28 March 2024

B2 /3E MM AR A A Qingling Motors Co. Ltd
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The Board is pleased to present its annual report and audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in the production and sale of Isuzu light,
medium and heavy-duty trucks, pick-up trucks as well as automobile
parts and accessories. The activities of its principal subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures of the Company are set out in notes 41, 22 and 23
respectively to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Further discussion and analysis of the business review as required by
Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including a fair view
of the business and a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties
facing the Group, particulars of important events affecting the Group
that have occurred since the end of the financial year 2023 and an
indication of likely future development in the Group’s business are set
out in the “Chairman’s Statement”, “Directors’ Report”, “Corporate
Governance Report” and “Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements” sections of this annual report. In addition, a discussion of
the Company's environmental policies and performance, the Company'’s
compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Company and the relationship between the Company and
significant stakeholders are set out in “Directors’ Report” and “Corporate
Governance Report” sections of this annual report. The business review
set out in the above sections comprise part of this report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 74. The Board does not recommend the
payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to environmental protection, energy-saving and
emission reduction, and the integrated use of resources. Adhering to the
principles of making production and operation harmony to the ecological
environment, the Group has adopted the concept of environmental
protection, energy-saving and emission reduction and the integrated use
of resources in its production and operating activities through reducing
emission, protecting the environment and saving of resources while
putting into practice the scientific concepts of environmental protection
and integrated use of resources.
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The Group keeps placing strong emphasis on environmental protection
issues and coordinates the relationship between production development
and environmental protection, with the aim to develop pollution-free
production modes. The successive operation of the newly-installed
environmental protection facilities, the improvement of working
environment and the integrated measures adopted to prevent and
mitigate pollution have made the pollutants produced not exceeding
the standards set by local environmental authorities. The Group strives
to protect and improve the environment, enhance the environmental
awareness of our staff, ensure the well-being of our staff and builds a
clean and favorable production and working environment. With various
measures such as resources recycling and reusing and energy-saving
and emission reduction putting in place in the production process, the
Group endeavors to produce energy-saving and environmentally-friendly
products while keeping in mind the well-being of the production workers.
The implementation of the above measures fully demonstrates the
Group’s sustainable development strategies and its determination on
environmental protection.

COMPLIANCE OF RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

With regard to the protection of intellectual properties — The Group has
complied with the terms stipulated under the Trademark Law of the
People’s Republic of China and its Regulation for the Implementation of
the Trademark Law and the Patent Law of the People’s Republic of China
and Rules for the Implementation of the Patent Law and the specific
requirements of the city to carry out the work in relation to the design
and file registration of trademarks and patents and has actively taken
measures to protect the trademarks and patents of other interested
stakeholders. With regard to the product quality and consumer rights —
The Group has strictly complied with the Law of the People’s Republic of
China on Product Quality and the Law of the People’s Republic of China
on Protection of Consumer Rights and Interests in the manufacturing
and selling procedures of automobile products and automobile parts.
With respect to product quality, the Group has strengthened source
management and formulated stringent standard in evaluating parts
suppliers to ensure the quality of parts products and prevent substandard
goods being passed off as high-quality ones while purchasing automobile
products and parts. During the production process, standardized
management is strictly implemented with an emphasis on the
management of craftsmanship quality, and defective and substandard
parts are prohibited to be assembled at the production line in order to
ensure the satisfactory rate at the production line. Before the products
are transferred into the warehouses, product quality inspection system
was strictly put in place to forbid defective products being launched. In
terms of protection of consumers’ rights, we have complied with the
Law of the People’s Republic of China on Protection of Consumer Rights,
and product manuals with full details are provided to consumers while
advertisements are tailored to truly reflect the authentic characteristics of
products.

B2 /3E MM AR A A Qingling Motors Co. Ltd
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With regard to the interests of the employees — The Group has strived
to comply with the Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China and the Social Insurance
Law of the People’s Republic of China, so as to safeguard the legitimate
interests of workers. All full-time employees are entitled to work-related
injury insurance, unemployment insurance, medical insurance, pension
insurance, and maternity insurance and housing fund as required by the
state regulations. The Group has also arranged annual body check for
all of its staff, and this further protects the legitimate interests of the
employees. Moreover, the Group also actively organizes activities for its
employees with regard to the education of prevention of occupational
disease and other safety and health related issues.

With regard to tax payment — The Group complies with specific
regulations of the People’s Republic of China on various taxes, and
pays taxes according to the law for the purpose of ensuring that all
tax payment made by the Group is in compliance with the laws and
regulations.

DESCRIPTION OF THE PRINCIPAL RISKS AND
UNCERTAINTIES

Currently, the global economic and political situation is complex and
volatile, the domestic economy has entered a high-quality development
stage, the green and low-carbon transition of automotive industry is
accelerated, and due to the combination of such multiple factors, China’s
automotive industry has entered into a new stage of development:
the total volume of growth has slowed down, the focus of growth has
changed from volume to quality and the enhancement of product value;
reverse globalisation, which was introduced by the WTO in stages,
follows the trade and has changed to rely mainly on ourselves to make
innovation and development, and then expand the circle of friends
for trade, featuring higher export requirements; the technologies on
electrification, connectivity, intelligentisation and sharing of vehicles
and the diversified energy, have led to the progressive development of
commercial vehicles featuring interwoven and overlayed traditional stock
fuel vehicle market and incremental new energy vehicle market, followed
by more fierce competition featuring “involution” in sales, profits and
technology and acceleration of industrial transformation and change,
which brings greater challenges and higher requirements for enterprises.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group incurred approximately RMB117,347,000
on acquisition of property, plant and equipment for expansion of its
production facilities.

Details of these and other movements during the year in property, plant
and equipment and investment properties of the Group are set out in
notes 18 and 20 to the consolidated financial statements.
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FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND LIQUID FUNDS
SITUATION

Financial Performance

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the revenue of the Group was
RMB3,596,535,000 representing an increase of 10.73% as compared to
last year mainly due to the increase of sales volume.

Gross profit for the year was RMB223,354,000 representing an increase
of 93.96% as compared to last year. Gross profit margin of the Group for
the year was 6.21% as compared with 3.55% last year. Loss after tax of
the Group for the year was RMB45,407,000 representing an increase of
811.24% as compared to last year.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, other income mainly included
government grants, interest income and rental income, totaling
RMB295,743,000, representing a decrease of 23.26% as compared to
last year.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group's expenses, including
distribution and selling expenses, administrative expenses and research
expenses, increased by 7.08% as compared to last year, principally
attributable to the increase in selling expenses for the year as compared
to last year.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the share of results of joint
ventures of the Group was RMB2,504,000, representing a decrease of
75.28% as compared to last year, mainly due to the profit decrease of
Isuzu (China) Engine Co., Ltd., which is a joint venture that was established
in May 2007.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, basic loss per share was

RMBO0.02. The Company did not issue any new shares and the basic loss
per share is comparable with last year.

B2 /AHE D AR A A Qingling Motors Co. Ltd
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Financial Position

As at 31 December 2023, the total assets and total liabilities of the Group
were RMB9,984,490,000 and RMB2,247,229,000 respectively.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s non-current assets amounted to
RMB4,608,047,000 which mainly includes property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, investment properties, intangible assets, interests
in associates and joint ventures, deferred tax assets, time deposits and
deposit paid for property plant and equipment.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's current assets amounted to
RMB5,367,443,000 which mainly includes inventories, trade, bills and
other receivables and prepayments, tax recoverable, time deposits, cash
and cash equivalents.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's current liabilities amounted to
RMB2,223,542,000 which mainly includes trade, bills and other payables,
tax liabilities, contract liabilities, refund liabilities and lease liabilities.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s non-current liabilities amounted
to RMB23,687,000 which includes lease liabilities and deferred income —
governments grants.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’'s net current assets was
RMB3,152,901,000 (2022: RMB4,346,882,000), representing a
decrease of 27.47% as compared to last year, mainly due to the liquidity
classification of time deposits.
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Liquidity and Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2023, the time deposits, bank deposits and cash
and cash equivalents retained by the Group due within one year were
RMB2,514,070,000 and decreased by 35.35% as compared with the
balances on 31 December 2022. The Group's working capital requirement
was financed by its own cash flow. Gearing ratio represented the
percentage of total liabilities over total equity as per consolidated
statement of financial position. The gearing ratio of the Group as at
31 December 2023 was 29.04% (as at 31 December 2022: 32.92%).
Issued share capital as at 31 December 2023 maintained at the level of
RMB2,482,268,000 as no share was issued during this year.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, there was no material change
in the financing strategies of the Group and the Group did not incur
any bank borrowings nor any non-current liabilities. The Company
would closely monitor the financial and liquidity position of the Group
and financial market from time to time in order to formulate financing
strategies appropriate to the Group.

The total equity attributable to owners of the Company as at 31
December 2023 was RMB7,397,803,000. The net assets value per share
(representing total equity attributable to owners of the Company divided
by number of shares of the Company as at 31 December 2023) as at 31
December 2023 was RMB2.98.

Significant Investment
As at 31 December 2023, the Group's interests in joint ventures were
RMB481,423,000 and interests in associates were RMB44,362,000. For

the year ended 31 December 2023, the joint ventures and associates of
the Group were under normal operation.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there were no significant
acquisition and disposal of the Group.
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Segment Information

The revenue contributed by light-duty trucks and medium and heavy-
duty trucks were RMB1,975,295,000 and RMB722,155,000 respectively,
representing 75.00% of the total revenue and 71.83% of the total
segment loss. Light-duty trucks and medium and heavy-duty trucks are
currently the major products accounting for the highest contribution to
the Group.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2023, no asset of the Group was pledged for financial
facilities (for the year ended 31 December 2022: Nil).

Effects of Foreign Exchange Rate Changes

The major foreign currency transactions of the Group are related to
purchasing automobile parts denominated in Japanese Yen. The Group
did not encounter any difficulty or suffer any significant impact in its
operations or liquidity as a result of fluctuation in the exchange rate.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into during the year or at any
time during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

According to the Company’s Articles of Association, the amount
of profit available for distribution shall be deemed to be the lesser
of the amount of profit determined in accordance with the relevant
accounting principles and financial regulations applicable to companies
established in the PRC ("PRC GAAP"). The Company's profit available
for distribution to Shareholders as at 31 December 2023 was the
retained profit of approximately RMB1,171,767,000 (2022: approximately
RMB1,227,821,000).
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The profit of the Company for a financial year shall be applied in
accordance with the following order:

(i)  making up losses;
(i) allocation to statutory surplus reserve fund,;

(i) if there are preference shares, payment of dividends in respect of
preference shares;

(iv)  allocation to discretionary surplus reserve fund; and
(v)  payment of dividends in respect of ordinary shares.

The detailed proportion of distribution in respect of items (ii) to (v) above
for any financial year shall be formulated by the Board in accordance
with the operational conditions of the Company and its development
requirements and shall be submitted to Shareholders’ general meeting
for approval.

DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS

The directors and supervisors of the Company during the year and up to
the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. LUO Yuguang (Chairman)

Mr. YASUTA Tatsuya (Vice Chairman and General Manager)
Mr. NAKAMURA Osamu

Mr. KIJIMA Katsuya

Mr. LI Juxing

Mr. XU Song

Mr. LI Xiaodong

Independent Non-executive Directors.

Mr. LONG Tao

Mr. SONG Xiaojiang
Mr. LIU Erh Fei

Mr. LIU Tianni

Supervisors:

Ms. MIN Qing
Ms. PU Qing

Mr. LIU Erh Fei and Ms. MIN Qing have informed the Company of their
intention to retire as an independent non-executive director and the
supervisor of the Company respectively on expiry of their term of office
on the date of the annual general meeting of the Company for 2024 and
not to seek for re-election due to the change of their work arrangement.
The terms of office of the other directors and supervisors of the Company
will expire on the date of the annual general meeting of the Company
for 2024 and they are eligible and offer themselves for re-election at the
annual general meeting of the Company for 2024.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

All the executive directors and independent non-executive directors of
the Company to be re-elected and appointed will renew or enter into
service contracts or appointment letters with the Company on the date of
the annual general meeting of the Company for 2024 for a term of three
years.

All the supervisors of the Company to be re-elected and appointed will
renew or enter into appointment letters with the Company on the date of
the annual general meeting of the Company for 2024 for a term of three
years.

None of the directors or supervisors has a service contract with the
Company or its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received annual confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive directors as regards to their independence to
the Company and considers that each of the independent non-executive
directors is independent to the Company.

DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS" AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, none of the directors or the supervisors and
chief executives of the Company had any interests or short positions in
any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations as defined under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the “SFO") as recorded in the register required to be kept
under section 352 of SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code")
as set out in Appendix C3 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company, its holding company, or any
of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to
enable the directors and supervisors of the Company to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company
or any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ MATERIAL
INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
OR CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in relation
to which the Company, its holding company, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party and in which any directors or supervisors or their
connected entities had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at any time during the year or at the end of the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contracts other than employment contracts concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of
the business of the Company were entered into by the Group or existed
during the year.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS IN
COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year, none of the directors or supervisors of the Company had
any interest in any business which compete or may compete with the
business of the Company.

DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS" AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVES’ REMUNERATION AND THE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS

The details of directors’, supervisors’, and chief executives’ remuneration
and the highest paid individuals are set out in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements. Within two years, all of the five highest paid
individuals of the Company are directors.
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BERABREZRR NUMBER OF SHAREHOLDERS AND SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS

RIBE-=F+_-A=+—H  ARAaKESH As at 31 December 2023, there were 162 Shareholders recorded in the
ft ERRRERAZBAE162E  MARRESE - & register of Shareholders of the Company and the Shareholders other
;e TTHA B AINZ IR A RIEE AN than a director, supervisor or chief executive of the Company, having

B E RIS 3361 R T ER AR AIETNRN an interest and short positions in 5% or more of the relevant class of
R RARBEEMATRSE AR REBEE the issued share capital of the Company as recorded in the register of
BITIRAS % s A R ROAB AT ¢ interests in the shares and short positions required to be kept by the

Company under Section 336 of SFO were as follows:

KATIRGD T EIENR - Long positions in the shares of the Company:

{LHRER
BFEESL LA
Percentage of [=37 )4
FR5EERmEE the relevant  Percentage
BEREE B in %R R Number of &{3 class of share of entire
Name of Shareholders Class of Shares shares held Capacity capital share capital
BB (EB)ARAT] AE R 1,243,616,403% Em#EA A 100.00% 50.10%
Qingling Motors (Group) Domestic shares  1,243,616,403 shares Beneficial owner 100.00% 50.10%

Company Limited

EHRREARRAF HA% 496,453,654k Em#EA A 40.08% 20.00%
Isuzu Motors Limited H shares 496,453,654 shares Beneficial owner 40.08% 20.00%

B EXFTEEEN  ARARBE-_ZT-_=F Save as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified of any other
T A=+ AUEEEANERAATE R relevant interests or short positions in the issued share capital of the

FTIRA R 89 (] B A AR BB R 2 SO B RO © Company as of 31 December 2023.

B I 3R EMOLUMENT POLICY

FNEE e (R —EBRTEERNEBE LI The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
TEFHEKRBEE 2ER - B8R Remuneration Committee (composed of one executive director and
EAEEES 2 HMBUR - four independent non-executive directors) on the basis of their merit,

qualifications and competence.

FTMEESRBAARZEERE ESE5 The emoluments of the directors of the Company are decided by the
KB R TSEIBRAEARTESE 25 Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company's operating
B o results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

B% B BUR DIVIDEND POLICY

RARIEERAIREEER - 5ZBR B EHIFT &M A dividend policy is adopted by the Company which aims at setting out
ARARREERMNRERFAEENRE - EFE the principles to be followed for paying dividends to the Shareholders of
REBRMBREREEETIAE - BFET the Company. When considering the dividend payment, the Board shall

RARNARIR IS L - BEEBSKLKLE take into account the factors including but not limited to the Company's
B LARCETE REEERT o AD BB TMRE financial results, general business conditions and strategies, and statutory
REFENAMFES IR D REMEE SR and regulatory restrictions. There is no assurance that dividends will be
SRS - declared or distributed in any particular amount or in any form for each

year or in any year.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group had continuing connected transactions with
(a) Qingling Group and its subsidiaries, namely, EEE#EEGR AT
Chongging Qingling Casting Company Limited (“CQCC"), EEELBER
2 &) Chongging Qingling Forging Co. Ltd. (“CQFC"), EEE#4EBAR
A 7] Chongging Qingling Axle Co. Ltd. (“CQAC"), EEE HEERAR
A7) Chongaing Qingling NHK Seat Co. Ltd. (“CQNHK"), EEEHERA
R /A& Chongging Qingling Plastic Co. Ltd. (“CQPC"), EEE#i5iRER
2 &) Chongging Qingling Aluminium Casting Co. Ltd. (“CQACL"), EEE
BRSNS AR AT Chongging Qingling Automobile Chassis Parts Co.
Ltd. ("QAC"), EEEREINEMABR A5 Chongging Qingling Machinery
Parts Co. Ltd. ("QM") and EEE%ER/AEHFR 27 Chongging
Qingling Automobile Co. Ltd. (“Qingling Zhuanyong"), EEE/TER
HHEBR A A/ Chongging Qingling Autoparts Manufacturing Co. Ltd.
(“Autoparts Manufacturing”), EEERBEEBMALIEHRR AT Chongging
Qingling Vehicle Parts Manufacturing Co. Ltd. (“CQVPM") and & & §57%!
R E R ABR A T Chongging Qingling Keyu Automobile Autoparts Co.
Ltd. (“Keyu Autoparts”), (b) EEE#ZEEAFR A7 Chongging Qingling
Moulds Company Limited (“Qingling Moulds”), a sino-foreign equity joint
venture company owned as to 50.56% by the Company and 49.44% by
Isuzu, also a subsidiary of the Company; (c) Isuzu, (d) T+ %4 (FRE) 2 Eh
HA R A7) Isuzu (China) Engine Co. Ltd. (“IEC"), an entity established
and jointly controlled by the Company and Isuzu, (e) B H 5 (EE)
JTESEE RIS AR A R] Qingling Isuzu (Chongging) Automobile Sales and
Service Co. Ltd. (“Qingling Isuzu Sales"”), an entity established and jointly
controlled by the Company and Isuzu, (f) T +$2E % (EE) SR %
ABR /A7 Isuzu Qingling (Chongging) Engineering Co. Ltd (“Isuzu Qingling
Engineering”), an associate controlled by Isuzu and (g) BitEE 8 11 EZ 4
(EE)BMR/AR) Bosch Hydrogen Powertrain Systems (Chongging) Co.
Ltd. ("Bosch”), 40% equity interests of which are owned by the Qingling
Group. Qingling Group and Isuzu held 50.10% and 20.00% of the issued
share capital of the Company respectively as at 31 December 2023.
Pursuant to the Listing Rules, the above parties are connected persons of
the Group.

Details of the continuing connected transactions with the parties are as
follows:

(@)  Significant continuing connected transactions with Qingling Group
and/or its subsidiaries:

(i) On 30 December 2022, the Company and Qingling Group (for
itself and on behalf of its subsidiary — Qingling Zhuanyong)
entered into the New Chassis Supply Agreement relating to
the supply of automobile chassis and related components for
modified vehicles by the Company to Qingling Group and/or
Qingling Zhuanyong, for a term from 1 January 2023 to 31
December 2025. The prices were determined with reference
to the market prices of the automobile chassis and related
components after arm’s length negotiations between the
parties thereto. During the year, the amount of this continuing
connected transaction was RMB105,832,000.
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(ii)

On 30 December 2022, the Company on the one part
entered into the New Parts Supply Agreements with Qingling
Group (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries — QM,
Qingling Zhuanyong, QAC, Autoparts Manufacturing and
Keyu Autoparts), CQACL, CQCC (for itself and on behalf
of its subsidiary — CQVPM), CQFC, CQAC, CQNHK and
CQPC, respectively on the other, relating to the supply of
certain automobile parts by the Qingling Group Companies
(as defined below) and their relevant subsidiaries (where
applicable) to the Company, the provision of certain
consolidated services by the Company to CQFC and the
leasing of certain machineries from the Company to CQAC,
for a term from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025. With
respect to the automobile parts provided to the Company, the
prices were determined based on actual costs or reasonable
costs (whichever is lower) incurred plus a profit margin of not
more than 8% or a price not higher than market price with
reference to the following pricing policy: at prices not higher
than market prices; or if no comparable market prices, at
prices based on actual costs or reasonable costs (whichever
is lower) incurred plus a profit margin of not more than 8%
as agreed by the parties thereto, and in any event, on terms
no less favourable than those offered to independent third
parties. With respect to the provision of certain consolidated
services by the Company to CQFC, the prices were
calculated based on the actual costs incurred plus taxes
payable arising therefrom. With respect to the leasing of
certain machineries from the Company to CQAC, the rents
payable were determined based on normal commercial terms
through arm’s length negotiations between the parties which
are on terms no less favourable than those offered by the
Company to independent third parties.
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During the year, the amounts for the above continuing
connected transactions were as follows:

Purchase of automobile parts:

with respect to Qingling Group (Note 7). approximately
RMB149,741,000;

with respect to CQACL: approximately RMB8,861,000;

with respect to CQCC (Note 2). approximately RMB9,948,000;
with respect to CQFC: approximately RMB17,743,000;

with respect to CQAC: approximately RMB260,976,000;

with respect to CONHK: approximately RMB39,239,000; and

with respect to CQPC: approximately RMB45,524,000.

Provision of consolidated services:

with respect to CQFC: approximately RMB1,585,000.

Leasing of machineries:

with respect to CQAC: approximately RMB383,000.

Note 1: Including approximately RMB8,795,000, approximately
RMB135,156,000, approximately RMB2,990,000,
approximately RMB2,800,000 and approximately RMBO
representing the purchase of automobile parts from QM,
Qingling Zhuanyong, QAC, Autoparts Manufacturing and
Keyu Autoparts respectively during the year.

Note 2: Including approximately RMBO, representing the
purchase of automobile parts from CQVPM during the
year.

B2 /3E MM AR A A Qingling Motors Co. Ltd

27



28

EEEWE

DIRECTORS" REPORT

(iii)

(iv)

R-EBE-——&#+-_A=+H F
SR N EE R SR E B AT FTE SR 1
MEEHERZE  REERER
HanrmERE A HER AR XIEE
EmRRHEERNIRSE 6
BHE—_ET-_=F—HF—H&%=
T-_RFE+-A=+—H - B%
DERTERMEZER 2%
NTEBRRET : BT aR™m
BZE®L  WEAELERM
B BRELEZERRAEK
R (ABRIEE B2 INERT 45 1
FETBES% 2 FIEER « RERWN
Al BB E SR I IE L E
=HRBZIER - REAFEER -
AEFEFEISFNSHELOAA
R#217,0007T °

R-ZTE-——F+=-—A=+80"E
REBR EREREE EEE
RiE  ERERER - EZEE
R EEERER EEE
KA GEHEEREERR]) B
BRIEARA KRBT ITE
REBBRAMER S RBER
EREAMEREEAFT AT
REFHHHEEAELEBEAE R
/SR EERNIRS - &
BHAE—_E-_=ZF—HF—RB&_
T-_RE+ZA=+—H @R
WEFREAELRRS @ BIRTD
BREMEEZAERASZ N
B8% 2 FHEEMETE - RAFE
N ABEBEEISNSREL
BARKOT -

3R 2023 ANNUAL REPORT

(ii)

(iv)

On 30 December 2022, QM and Qingling Moulds entered
into the New QM Moulds Supply Agreement relating to
the supply of moulds and related products and provision of
maintenance and processing services by QM to Qingling
Moulds, for a term from 1 January 2023 to 31 December
2025. The prices were based on prices not higher than
market prices determined with reference to the following
pricing policy: at prices not higher than market prices; or if no
comparable market prices, at prices based on actual costs or
reasonable costs (whichever is lower) incurred plus a profit
margin of not more than 8% as agreed by the parties thereto
and in any event, on terms no less favourable than those
offered by QM to independent third parties. During the year,
the amount for this continuing connected transaction was
approximately RMB217,000.

On 30 December 2022, Qingling Group, CQCC, CQFC,
CQAC, CQNHK, CQPC and CQACL (collectively, the “Qingling
Group Companies”), Qingling Moulds and IEC entered into
the New Qingling Group Moulds Supply Agreement relating
to the supply of moulds and related products and/or provision
of maintenance and processing services by Qingling Moulds
to the Qingling Group Companies and IEC, for a term from
1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025. As there are no
sufficient comparable transactions, the consideration was
determined with reference to reasonable costs incurred
plus a profit margin of not more than 8%. During the year,
the amount for this continuing connected transaction was
approximately RMBO.
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(v)  On 30 December 2022, Qingling Group and the Company
entered into the New Qingling Group Equipment Lease
relating to, among others, the leasing of the equipment,
namely the 110kVA electrical substation and its ancillary
facilities owned by Qingling Group (the “Leased Equipment
(Qingling Group)”), from Qingling Group to the Company, for
a term from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025. During
the term of the lease, electricity charges incurred by the
Company for using the Leased Equipment (Qingling Group)
shall be borne by the Company. Given that the account
for the payment of electricity charges is opened under the
name of Qingling Group, Qingling Group will make advanced
monthly payment of electricity charges for the electricity
consumed by the Leased Equipment (Qingling Group) on
behalf of the Company, which will be reimbursed by the
Company. During the year, the amount for this continuing
connected transaction relating to electricity charges was
approximately RMB29,402,000.

The details and amount of the above continuing connected
transactions with Qingling Group and/or its subsidiaries during
the year are set out in note 37(i) to the consolidated financial
statements.
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(b)  Continuing connected transactions with Qingling Autoparts
Companies (as defined below):

(i

On 30 December 2022, the Company and CQCC, CQFC,
CQACL, CQAC, CQPC, CQNHK, QAC, M, Qingling
Zhuanyong and Autoparts Manufacturing (the “Qingling
Autoparts Companies”) entered into the New Autoparts
and Materials Agreement relating to (i) supply to CQCC
scrap metal left over from the Company’s manufacturing
process; (i) supply to CQNHK, Qingling Zhuanyong and
Autoparts Manufacturing semi-finished auto parts; and (iii)
supply to all Qingling Autoparts Companies crafting materials
by the Company, for a term from 1 January 2023 to 31
December 2025. Detailed terms shall be made on normal
commercial terms or better to the Company and on terms
no less favourable than those offered by the Company to
independent third parties or by independent third parties to
the Company, of which: (i) in respect of the supply of scrap
metal by the Company to CQCC, the prices shall not be
lower than the market price of scrap metal of the same type
and the prices of such scrap metal sold by the Company
to independent third parties (if any). The exact price will
be determined based on the public trading prices of scrap
metal of the same or similar type, specifications and quality
in the scrap metal trading market where the Company
operates, taking into consideration trading conditions such as
transportation, loading and unloading and method of payment
and will be negotiated and confirmed by the Company and
CQCC; (ii) in respect of the supply of the semi-finished
auto parts to CQNHK, Qingling Zhuanyong and Autoparts
Manufacturing, the prices will be determined based on costs
incurred plus a profit margin of not exceeding 8%; and (iii)
in respect of the supply of crafting materials to all Qingling
Autoparts Companies, the prices will be determined based
on the cost of sourcing such materials from suppliers which
are independent third parties plus a profit margin of not
exceeding 8%. In addition, the consideration was set with
reference to either the market prices or the costs of the scrap
metal, semi-finished auto parts and crafting materials to be
supplied, and was determined after arm’s length negotiations
between the parties thereto. During the year, the amount for
these continuing connected transactions was approximately
RMB29,936,000.
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(c)  Continuing connected transaction with Bosch:

(i)

On 30 December 2022, the Company and Bosch entered into
the New Hydrogen-powered Modules Supply Agreement
relating to the supply of hydrogen-powered modules by
Bosch to the Company, for a term from 1 January 2023 to
31 December 2025. The prices were determined after arm’s
length negotiations between the parties thereto and on terms
that are fair and reasonable based on the following pricing
policy: (i) on arm’'s length basis; (i) on normal commercial
terms, with the selling prices arrived at after negotiations
between the parties based on industry benchmark prices that
reflect the quality of the relevant hydrogen-powered modules
in a fair market; and (iii) in compliance with applicable laws,
rules and regulations including, among others, the Listing
Rules, with reference to, inter alia, industry benchmark prices
of hydrogen-powered modules of similar quality. During the
year, the amount for this continuing connected transaction
was approximately RMB112,921,000.

The details and amount of the above continuing connected
transaction with Bosch during the year are also set out in note
37(vi) to the consolidated financial statements.
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(d)

Significant continuing connected transactions with Qingling Moulds:

On 30 December 2022, the Company and Qingling Moulds entered
into the following agreements:

(i

the New Qingling Moulds Supply Agreement relating to
(i) supply of moulds and related products and provision of
maintenance and processing services by Qingling Moulds
to the Company; (ii) supply of raw materials and provision of
processing services by the Company to Qingling Moulds; and
(iii) provision of consolidated services including but not limited
to water, electricity and gas supply services, equipment repair
and maintenance services (including the three warranties),
medical and hygiene services and communication services
by the Company to Qingling Moulds, for a term from 1
January 2023 to 31 December 2025. Detailed terms shall
be made on normal commercial terms or, if there are no
sufficient comparable transactions to assess whether they
are on normal commercial terms, on terms that are fair and
reasonable to the Company and no less favourable than those
offered by Qingling Moulds to independent third parties, of
which: in respect of transactions described in (i) and (ii) above,
prices of which will be determined based on reasonable
costs incurred plus a profit margin of not exceeding 8%;
in respect of transactions described in (iii) above, at prices
based on actual costs incurred plus taxes payable. During the
year, the amount of purchase for this continuing connected
transaction was approximately RMB52,186,000, the amount
of sales for this continuing connected transaction was
approximately RMB867,000 and the revenue of consolidated
services for this continuing connected transaction amounted
to approximately RMB1,364,000.
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the New Qingling Moulds Lease relating to the leasing of
a land with a usable area of 7,420m? (the “Land (Qingling
Moulds)"”) from the Company to Qingling Moulds for the use
of Qingling Moulds as production and operation premises,
for a term from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025. The
rent for the Land (Qingling Moulds) was determined on
normal commercial terms through arm’s length negotiations
between the parties thereto and on terms no less favourable
to the Company than those offered by the Company to
independent third parties with reference to the prevailing
market rents and the rent paid by Qingling Moulds under
the Qingling Moulds Lease. During the year, the amount for
this continuing connected transaction was approximately
RMB43,000.

(e)  Significant continuing connected transactions with Isuzu:

(i)

(ii)

On 30 December 2022, the Company and Isuzu entered
into the New Isuzu Supply Agreement relating to supply of
automobile parts of ISUZU N Series, T Series, UC Series, F
Series and other series by Isuzu to the Company, for a term
from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025. As there is no
sufficient comparable transaction, prices shall be determined
based on the actual or reasonable costs (whichever is lower)
plus a profit margin of not exceeding 10%. During the year,
the amount for this continuing connected transaction was
approximately RMB35,261,000.

On 30 December 2022, the Company and Isuzu also entered
into the New Company Supply Agreement relating to supply
of vehicles, accessory sets and other automobile parts and
components by the Company to Isuzu and/or its subsidiary,
for a term from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025.
As there is no sufficient comparable transaction, prices
shall be determined based on the actual or reasonable
costs (whichever is lower) incurred plus a profit margin
of not exceeding 10%. During the year, the amount for
this continuing connected transaction was approximately
RMB2,896,000.
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(iif)

(iv)

On 26 March 2021, the Company and Isuzu entered into
the 600P, 100P and TF/UC Agreement, pursuant to which
Isuzu granted the Company a non-transferable right to use
the trademarks and emblems of Isuzu, “ISUZU", for the
production and sales of the 600P, 100P and TF/UC series
vehicles by the Company for a term of five years from the
date of entering into the agreement and thereafter renewable
automatically each year up to five years (in the event that no
party terminates the agreement by giving written notice to
the other party 90 days prior to the expiry of the agreement),
and the license fee for each series of vehicle was agreed
as follows: JPY2,000 for each 600P series vehicle sold,
JPY1,500 for each 100P series vehicle sold and JPY1,500 for
each TF/UC series vehicle sold. During the year, the amount
for this continuing connected transaction was approximately
RMB1,828,000.

On 23 June 2016, the Company entered into the 3XCAB
Agreement with Isuzu, pursuant to which Isuzu provided
technology and technical know-how, staff training and
technical assistance in relation to the production of permitted
cabs and permitted the Company to use the trademarks and
emblems of Isuzu, “ISUZU" for the assembling, production
and sales of permitted vehicles by the Company, for a term
commencing from the date of entering into the agreement
and ending on the date on which Isuzu ceases to manufacture
the sample cabs or the end of the period prescribed by the
relevant rules or regulations of the PRC, whichever is earlier.
With respect to the transfer of technology and provision
of technical know-how, the transaction pricing is set as
royalties, payable by the Company to Isuzu in relation to the
sale of each permitted vehicle, which are calculated at 3%
of the on-site added value of each vehicle (the on-site added
value was determined by reference to the wholesale price of
the vehicle less the aggregate of the import price of relevant
parts and components and the price of parts and components
with standard specifications). For the use of the trademark
of Isuzu, JPY2,000 is payable to Isuzu in relation to the sale
of each permitted vehicle. During the year, the amount for
this continuing connected transaction was approximately
RMB18,000.
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On 23 May 2008, the Company and Isuzu entered into the
700P3X Series Technology Transfer Agreement, pursuant to
which Isuzu provided technology and technical know-how,
staff training and technical assistance and permitted the
Company to use the trademarks and emblems of Isuzu for
the Company's production and sale of 700P3X series vehicles
and related parts and components, for a term commencing
from the date of entering into the agreement and ending on
the date on which Isuzu ceases to manufacture the sample
vehicles or the end of the period prescribed by the relevant
rules or regulations of the PRC, whichever is earlier. The
transaction pricing was set as the product development and
production technical support fee (which has already been
fully paid by the Company to Isuzu) plus royalties calculated
at 3% of the on-site added value of each vehicle. The on-
site added value is determined by reference to the wholesale
price of the vehicle less the aggregate of the import price
of relevant parts and components, the price of parts and
components with standard specifications and the price of
engine assemblies and parts. During the year, the amount
for this continuing connected transaction was approximately
RMB5,564,000.

On 27 April 2016, the Company and Isuzu entered into the
CYH Technology Licence Agreement, the CYZ Technology
Licence Agreement, and the EXR/EXZ Technology Licence
Agreement in relation to the provision of technology and
technical know-how by Isuzu to the Company in respect
of CYH, CYZ and EXR/EXZ vehicles in the PRC on a non-
exclusive basis. For the sale of each CYH, CYZ and EXR/EXZ
vehicle, the transaction pricing is set as the royalties payable
by the Company to Isuzu, which are calculated at 3% of the
on-site added value of each vehicle. The on-site added value is
determined by reference to the wholesale price of the vehicle
less the aggregate of the import price of relevant parts
and components, the price of parts and components with
standard specifications and the price of licensed engines.
During the year, the amount for this continuing connected
transaction was approximately RMB1,587,000.

The details and amount of the above continuing connected
transactions with Isuzu during the year are also set out in note 37(ii)
to the consolidated financial statements.
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(f)

Significant continuing connected transactions with |[EC:

On 30 December 2022, the Company and IEC entered into the
following agreements:

(i)

(ii)

the New Supply Agreement relating to supply of engine
parts and raw materials required for the manufacturing of
engines by the Company to IEC and supply of engines and
their parts by IEC to the Company, for a term from 1 January
2023 to 31 December 2025, and renewable upon expiry if
agreed by all parties and (if necessary) having obtained the
consent of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
"Stock Exchange”) and/or the approval of the independent
shareholders in accordance with the requirements of
the Listing Rules. As there is no sufficient comparable
transaction, prices shall be determined based on the actual
costs incurred plus a premium of not exceeding 10%. Such
premium shall be finalised by both parties on the basis that
it is fair and reasonable to both parties. During the year, the
amount of purchase for this continuing connected transaction
was approximately RMB603,786,000, and the amount
of sales for this continuing connected transaction was
approximately RMB256,567,000.

the New Equipment Lease relating to the lease of the
leased equipment (the “Leased Equipment (IEC)”) by IEC
from the Company, for a term from 1 January 2023 to 31
December 2025. The rent of the Leased Equipment (IEC)
was determined on normal commercial terms through arm’s
length negotiations between the parties thereto as well as on
terms no less favourable to the Company than those offered
by the Company to independent third parties, with reference
to the market value of the Lease Equipment (IEC). During the
year, the amount for this continuing connected transaction
was approximately RMB21,720,000.
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the New Factory Lease relating to the leasing of land (the
“Leased Land"”) and factory (the “Factory Premises”) from
the Company to IEC, for a term from 1 January 2023 to 31
December 2025. The rents for the Leased Land and the
Factory Premises were determined on normal commercial
terms through arm’s length negotiations between the parties
thereto and on terms no less favourable to the Company than
those offered by the Company to independent third parties.
During the year, the amount for this continuing connected
transaction was approximately RMB4,210,000.

the New Consolidated Services Agreement relating to the
provision of certain services (including water, electricity and
gas supply services, transportation services, equipment repair
and maintenance services (including the three warranties),
medical and hygiene services and communication services)
by the Company to IEC, for a term from 1 January 2023 to
31 December 2025, and renewable upon expiry if agreed by
all parties and (if necessary) having obtained the consent of
the Stock Exchange and/or the approval of the independent
shareholders in accordance with the requirements of the
Listing Rules. The price for the services to be provided
by the Company under the New Consolidated Services
Agreement and any further separate service agreement(s)
shall be the actual costs incurred by the Company plus taxes
payable arising therefrom. During the year, the amount for
this continuing connected transaction was approximately
RMB1,714,000.
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The details and amount of the above continuing connected
transactions with IEC during the year are also set out in note 37(iii)
to the consolidated financial statements.
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(@) Significant continuing connected transaction with Qingling Isuzu

Sales:

(i)

On 30 December 2022, the Company and Qingling Isuzu
Sales entered into the New Sales JV Supply Agreement
relating to the supply of automobiles and their parts by the
Company to Qingling Isuzu Sales, for a term from 1 January
2023 to 31 December 2025, and renewable upon expiry
if agreed by all parties and (if necessary) having obtained
the consent of the Stock Exchange and/or the approval
of the independent shareholders in accordance with the
requirements of the Listing Rules. The price was at prices
not lower than market prices or, if there are no comparable
market prices, at prices based on actual costs or reasonable
costs (whichever is lower) incurred plus a profit margin of not
more than 8% as agreed by the parties thereto. During the
year, the amount for this continuing connected transaction
was approximately RMB82,337,000.

The details and amount of the above continuing connected
transaction with Qingling Isuzu Sales during the year are set out in
note 37(iv) to the consolidated financial statements.
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(h)  Continuing connected transactions with Isuzu Qingling Engineering:

(i

On 30 December 2022, Company and Isuzu Qingling
Engineering entered into the New Consolidated Services
Agreement (Isuzu Qingling Engineering) relating to the
provision of certain services (including water, electricity
and gas supply services, car maintenance services,
communication services, internet cable rental services,
cleaning, healthcare and medical services and other
supporting services) by the Company to Isuzu Qingling
Engineering, for a term from 1 January 2023 to 31 December
2025, and renewable upon expiry if agreed by all parties
and (if necessary) having obtained the consent of the
Stock Exchange and/or the approval of the independent
shareholders in accordance with the requirements of
the Listing Rules. The consideration payable by Isuzu
Qingling Engineering under the New Consolidated Services
Agreement (Isuzu Qingling Engineering) was determined on
normal commercial terms through arm’s length negotiations
between the parties thereto, and on terms no less favourable
to the Company than those offered by the Company to
independent third parties with reference to the actual costs
incurred by the Company and the taxes payable arising
therefrom. During the year, the amount for this continuing
connected transaction was approximately RMB102,000.

The details and amount of the above continuing connected
transaction with Isuzu Qingling Engineering during the
year are set out in note 37(v) to the consolidated financial
statements.
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The Company's auditor was engaged to conduct audit work in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and with reference to Practice Note
740 "Auditor’'s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing
Rules, the auditor has issued a letter to the Board that nothing
has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the
continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group (except
those de minimis transactions which are fully exempted pursuant
to Rule 14A.76(1) of the Listing Rules):

1. have not been approved by the Board;

2. were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the
pricing policies of the Group if the transactions involve the
provision of goods or services by the Group;

3. were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance
with the relevant agreement governing the transactions; and

4. have exceeded the relevant annual caps set by the Company.

The independent non-executive directors of the Company confirm
that the transactions have been entered into by the Group in the
ordinary and usual course of its business, on normal commercial
terms or better and in accordance with the agreement governing
them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the Shareholders as a whole.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(i)

On 27 April 2016, the Company and Isuzu entered into (i) the CYH
Technology Licence Agreement; (ii) the CYZ Technology Licence
Agreement; and (iii) the EXR/EXZ Technology Licence Agreement,
respectively, in relation to the provision of technology and technical
know-how, staff training and technical assistance and the licence
to use the trademarks and the emblems of Isuzu by Isuzu to the
Company for the production and sale of (i) CYH; (i) CYZ; and (iii)
EXR/EXZ vehicles in the PRC on a non-exclusive basis.
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For the CYH Technology Licence Agreement, an initial fee of
JPY700,000,000 is payable by the Company to Isuzu in the
following manner: (i) 40% of the initial fee shall be payable within
30 days from the date of approval granted by the relevant PRC
authorities; (ii) 10% of the initial fee for each of the sample vehicles
CYH1, CYH2, CYH3 and CYH4 and a total of 40% of the initial fee
shall be payable within 30 days from the date of completion of the
provision of each CYH vehicles confirmed in writing by both the
Company and Isuzu; and (iii) 5% of the initial fee for each of the
sample vehicles CYH1, CYH2, CYH3 and CYH4 and a total of 20%
of the initial fee shall be payable within 30 days from the date of
the bulk production of each CYH vehicles confirmed in writing by
both the Company and Isuzu.

For the CYZ Technology Licence Agreement, an initial fee of
JPY700,000,000 is payable by the Company to Isuzu in the
following manner: (i) 40% of the initial fee shall be payable within
30 days from the date of approval granted by the relevant PRC
authorities; (ii) 40% of the initial fee shall be payable within 30 days
from the date of completion of the provision of technical knowhow
confirmed in writing by both the Company and Isuzu; and (iii) 20%
of the initial fee shall be payable within 30 days from the date of
the bulk production of the CYZ vehicles confirmed in writing by
both the Company and Isuzu.

For the EXR/EXZ Technology Licence Agreement, an initial fee
of JPY700,000,000 is payable by the Company to Isuzu in the
following manner: (i) 40% of the initial fee shall be payable within
30 days from the date of approval granted by the relevant PRC
authorities; (ii) 40% of the initial fee shall be payable within 30 days
from the date of completion of the provision of technical know-how
confirmed in writing by both the Company and Isuzu; and (iii) 20%
of the initial fee shall be payable within 30 days from the date of
the bulk production of the EXR/EXZ vehicles confirmed in writing by
both the Company and Isuzu.

The Company also has to pay royalties to Isuzu in relation to the

sale of each CYH, CYZ and EXR/EXZ vehicles, which are calculated
at 3% of the on-site added value of each vehicle.
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(ii)

No payment was conducted in the current period because the
CYH Technology Licence Agreement, the CYZ Technology Licence
Agreement and the EXR/EXZ Technology Licence Agreement are
no longer being developed.

On 30 December 2022, Qingling Group (for itself and on behalf of
its subsidiary — Keyu Autoparts) and the Company entered into the
New Warehouse Leasing Agreement relating to the leasing of (i)
the warehouses, including an open-air warehouse with a usable
area of approximately 25,833.51m? and an indoor warehouse
with a usable area of approximately 50,000m?; (ii) a portion of a
land with a usable area of approximately 20,697m?, for use as an
inspection, testing and operation site for autoparts; (iii) a portion of
a land with a usable area of approximately 19,880.4m?, for use as a
storage site of autoparts and raw materials; (iv) a portion of a land
with a usable area of approximately 10,000m?; (v) the premises
for the cultural and educational center with a leasable area of
approximately 4,784.28m?; (vi) a portion of a land with a leasable
area of approximately 22,507.7m?, which is located on the east side
of CQFC; and (vii) a total of 28 vacant apartments owned by Keyu
Autoparts with an aggregate usable area of 1,297.6m? and for use
as staff dormitory from Qingling Group and/or Keyu Autoparts to
the Company, at a consideration of RMB5,840,000, RMB961,000,
RMB923,000, RMB464,000, RMB830,000, RMB1,029,000 and
RMB144,000 (all exclusive of VAT), respectively, for a term from
1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025. The aforesaid annual rents
shall be payable by the Company on an annual or quarterly basis (as
the case may be) in accordance with their respective terms under
the New Warehouse Leasing Agreement.
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The consideration for aforesaid item (i) was determined on normal
commercial terms through arm’s length negotiations between
the parties thereto and shall not be higher than the market prices
or on prices less favourable to the Company than those offered
by Qingling Group (for itself and on behalf of Keyu Autoparts) to
independent third parties. The considerations for the relevant
portions of the land as stated in items (ii) to (iv) were determined
on normal commercial terms through arm’s length negotiations
between the parties thereto with reference to the prevailing
market rents and the existing rents payable by the Company under
the Warehouse Leasing Agreement, and shall not be higher than
the market prices or on prices less favourable to the Company
than those offered by Qingling Group (for itself and on behalf of
Keyu Autoparts) to independent third parties. The considerations
for the land/premises as mentioned in items (v) to (vii) above
were determined on normal commercial terms through arm's
length negotiations between the parties thereto with reference
to the prevailing market rents and the existing rents payable by
the Company under the Warehouse Leasing Agreement and on
terms no less favourable to the Company than those offered by
independent third parties to the Company for leasing of comparable
properties. During the year, the amount for this connected
transaction was approximately RMB18,700,000.

On 30 December 2022, CQFC and the Company entered into
the New Machinery Leasing Agreement relating to the leasing
of certain equipment for processing of casting and forging parts
from CQFC to the Company, for a term from 1 January 2023 to
31 December 2025, and the rent is RMB2,000,000 (exclusive
of VAT) each year, which shall be settled on a quarterly basis.
The Company shall pay the rent of each quarter within 30 days
after the end of that quarter. The consideration was determined
on normal commercial terms through arm’s length negotiations
between the parties thereto with reference to the prevailing market
rents of similar equipment and the existing rent payable by the
Company under the Machinery Leasing Agreement and on terms
no less favourable to the Company than those offered by CQFC
to independent third parties. During the year, the amount for this
connected transaction was approximately RMB1,651,000.
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(iv)

On 30 December 2022, Qingling Group and the Company entered
into the New Qingling Group Equipment Lease relating to the
leasing of the Leased Equipment (Qingling Group) from Qingling
Group to the Company, for a term from 1 January 2023 to 31
December 2025, and the rent for the Leased Equipment (Qingling
Group) is RMB880,000 per annum (exclusive of VAT), which shall
be settled on a quarterly basis. The Company shall pay the rent for
each quarter within one month after the end of that quarter. The
rent of the Leased Equipment (Qingling Group) was determined
on normal commercial terms through arm’s length negotiations
between the parties thereto, and on terms no less favourable to
the Company than those offered by Qingling Group to independent
third parties. During the year, the amount for this connected
transaction relating to leasing of the Leased Equipment (Qingling
Group) was approximately RMB875,000.

On 26 March 2021, the Company entered into an agreement with
Qingling Zhuan Yong, pursuant to which the Company agreed to
pay RMB89 million to Qingling Zhuan Yong regarding the judgment
by BREFYIHEEEREARZER the Intermediate People’s Court
of Futian District, Shenzhen, Guangdong on 14 May 2018 and the
appeal judgment by ER & = ARERT the Guangdong Higher
People’s Court on 2 August 2019, (collectively, the “Judgments”)
and Qingling Zhuan Yong also agreed to recover the debts under
the Judgments from the other debtors in accordance with the
Judgments. In the event that Qingling Zhuan Yong successfully
recovers any amount of such debts from the other debtors, subject
to the compliance with the relevant provisions of applicable laws,
regulations and rules (including but not limited to the Listing Rules),
it will, upon receipt of such amount, return the remaining amount
after deducting its cost incurred therefrom to the Company.
During the year, the amount for this connected transaction was
approximately RMBO.
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Qingling Group is the controlling shareholder of the Company holding
approximately 50.10% of the entire issued share capital of the Company
and given that CQCC, CQFC, CQACL, CQAC, CQPC, CQNHK, QAC, QM,
Qingling Zhuanyong, Keyu Autoparts, CQVPM, Autoparts Manufacturing
and Bosch are owned as to 75%, 75%, 72.43%, 80%, 75.15%, 55.8%,
100%, 100%, 100%, 100%, 75%, 100% and 40%, respectively, by
Qingling Group, they are associates of Qingling Group. Therefore,
Qingling Group, CQCC, CQFC, CQACL, CQAC, CQPC, CQONHK,
QAC, QM, Qingling Zhuanyong, Keyu Autoparts, CQVPM, Autoparts
Manufacturing and Bosch are all connected persons of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Isuzu is a substantial shareholder of the Company holding approximately
20% of the entire issued share capital of the Company and is a connected
person of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Qingling
Moulds is owned as to 50.56% and 49.44% by the Company and Isuzu,
respectively. As Qingling Moulds is a non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company and Isuzu is a substantial shareholder of the Company and
is entitled to exercise, or control the exercise of, more than 10% of the
voting power at any general meeting of Qingling Moulds, Qingling Moulds
is a connected subsidiary and therefore a connected person of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. In addition, Qingling
Isuzu Sales is owned as to 50% by the Company and 50% by Isuzu.
As Isuzu is a substantial shareholder of the Company and is entitled to
exercise or control the exercise of more than 30% of the voting power
at any general meeting of Qingling Isuzu Sales, Qingling Isuzu Sales is an
associate of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and is
therefore a connected person of the Company.

The information of the related party transactions entered into by
the Group is set out in note 37(i) to (vi) to the consolidated financial
statements. Those related party transactions also constitute connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules, and the Board confirms that the Company has
complied with the requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
for those transactions.
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FIVE LARGEST SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the purchases from five largest
suppliers accounted for 9.90% of the total purchases of the Group. The
purchases from the largest supplier accounted for 3.23% of the total
purchases. Qingling Group and its subsidiaries, a joint venture of the
Company and a Japanese trading company, through which Isuzu channels
its supply of parts and components to the Group, are included in the
five largest suppliers of the Group. Details of transactions with Qingling
Group and its subsidiaries and with Isuzu are set out in the two sections
"Continuing Connected Transactions” and “Connected Transactions”
above. Other than disclosed above, the Company’s directors and
supervisors, their associates or any Shareholders (which to the
knowledge of the directors own more than 5% of the Company’s share
capital), did not have any interests in the Group’s five largest suppliers
for the year ended 31 December 2023. For the year ended 31 December
2023, Qingling Group was the largest customer. The aggregate sales
attributable to the Group's five largest customers (except Qingling Group)
were less than 26.22% of the Group's total sales.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, OPTIONS, WARRANTS
OR SIMILAR RIGHTS

The Company and its subsidiaries did not issue or grant any convertible
securities, options, warrants or similar rights during the year.

There were no outstanding or conversion of convertible securities,
options, warrants or similar rights issued or granted by the Company or
its subsidiaries and jointly controlled entity during the year.

DESIGNATED DEPOSITS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not hold any designated deposits
or any time deposits that were overdue but could not be collected upon
maturity.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, none of the Company or its subsidiaries had purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company'’s listed securities.
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EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 2,877 employees (2022: 2,846
employees). During the year, no material change was noted for the
number of employees or their remuneration policy. The Group actively
formulated and implemented various training to its staff of all levels.

STAFF RETIREMENT SCHEME

Details of the Group's staff retirement benefits scheme are set out in
note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3
to the Listing Rules. Based on specific enquires to all directors and
supervisors, the Company confirms that all directors and supervisors of
the Company have complied with the requirements of the Model Code
during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company's Articles
of Association.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information on the Company’s corporate governance practices is set
out in the “Corporate Governance Report” from pages 49 to 68.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of its directors, there was sufficient public float
as not less than 25% of the Company's issued shares were held by the
public throughout the year 2023.
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REVIEW OF ACCOUNTS

The audit committee of the Company has reviewed with the
management and auditors of the Company the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group and discussed auditing, internal controls
and financial reporting matters including the review of the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023.

AUDITORS

The term of office of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public
Accountants LLP and Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu will expire on the date
of the annual general meeting of the Company for 2024.

CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

In accordance with Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, during the period
from 30 August 2023 (the date of 2023 interim report of the Company)
to 28 March 2024 (the date of the 2023 annual report of the Company),
there were no changes in information of directors required to be
disclosed pursuant to paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of Rule 13.51(2) of the
Listing Rules.

By order of the Board
LUO Yuguang
Chairman

Chongaing, the PRC
28 March 2024
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The Company puts high emphasis on and endeavors to maintain a
high standard of corporate governance. The Board believes that good
corporate governance practices are important to promote investors’
confidence and protect the interest of the shareholders of the Company
(“Shareholders”). The Company attaches importance to our staff, our
code of conduct and our corporate policies and standards, which together
form the basis of our corporate governance practices. The Board has
adopted sound corporate governance and disclosure practices, and is
committed to continuously improving those practices and cultivating an
ethical corporate culture.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company has complied with
the code provisions in the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Part
2 of Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules.

PURPOSE, VALUES, STRATEGY AND CULTURE

The core purpose of the Company is to create value for its shareholders.
It strives to become the leading pioneer in the motor industry that is
trusted by its consumers, and a place where its employees are proud to
work for. Its mission is to lead the development of the industry and set
the industry bench-marks. In this connection, it endeavours to maintain
accountability to its employees, consumers, shareholders, the society,
and the environment. These purpose and values shape the Company's
strategy, which are geared towards building a trusted and beloved motor
enterprise whereby values for shareholders are created.

The Company’s purpose, values and strategy form the foundations
of the Company’s corporate culture. Its corporate culture is centered
on adherence to high ethical standards and practices, and striving for
sustainable development.

THE BOARD

Members of the Board are accountable to the Shareholders for the
success and sustainable development of the Company. The Board
is responsible for the management of all the important issues of
the Company, including the duties of convening general meetings,
implementing the resolutions passed at the general meetings,
determining the operating strategies and investment proposals of the
Company, formulating the plans of the Company for annual financial
budgets and final accounts, establishing and approving the internal control
and risk management systems and monitoring the performance of the
members of the senior management. The directors shall make objective
decisions for the interests of the Company.

E$2/5H A1 B PR A R Qingling Motors Co. Ltd

49



50

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ESESTILRE

EZgRN T =FNARRTKES TR
RUAFAR_ZE—=FNABERFHERS
Z T LHFT ST AR ©

AARERETESTENEALSK EEFER
BARRERMABEE MR  BRES
BHNBRHEAE  EFSMERTHURARE
ARRAN - WHEERBAERATBIRT T DR
REZEEZITLE °

BREAERE RIS T BB ARE  B1F
RIS - Fi6 - ERBEER - Bk
HEER - REE - ARRRBES - &RHER
ABHREMARESSRHEMNBERMIER

.
E °

RBER  EFSHNBESMEL - BIE7/
PITEERANIBYIENITES » B IENIT
EENEETS ABIE3GCAY

R E B HNARERRYS T AR
SHBIILT

EFEAH N1
Number of
Directors 19
BUIFPTES
9 Independent
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FiRA R
Age Group

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board adopted board diversity policy in September 2013 to comply
with the new code provisions in relation to board diversity effective from
September 2013.

When determining the composition of the Board, the Company shall
take into account our business operations and select candidates with
appropriate and necessary skills and experience and those who can
express their views in a multi-angle perspective. All Board appointments
will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and education
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and
contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

As at the date of this report, the Board is comprised of 11 members,
including 7 executive directors and 4 independent non-executive
directors. Independent non-executive directors account for 36.4% of the
number of Board members.

An analysis of the Board based on a scope of diversity perspective is set
forth below:

70-79

RIEH
Length of Service
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For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board is comprised of 11
directors:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LUO Yuguang (Chairman)

Mr. YASUTA Tatsuya (Vice Chairman and General Manager)
Mr. NAKAMURA Osamu

Mr. KIJIMA Katsuya

Mr. LI Juxing

Mr. XU Song

Mr. LI Xiaodong

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LONG Tao

Mr. SONG Xiaojiang
Mr. LIU Erh Fei

Mr. LIU Tianni

Biographical particulars of the directors are set out in the section headed
"“Biographical Details of Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management”
in this annual report.

The current Board comprises 11 male members. The Company is
determined to enhance gender diversity in the Board to achieve gender
equality in terms of gender ratio within 2024. The Company expects the
above is achievable with suitable effort in promoting gender diversity.
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While the current senior management of the Company comprises all male
members, viewing from the Company’s perspective as a whole, as at the
year ended 31 December 2023, the Company has 2,877 employees in
total comprising of approximately 650 females and 2,227 males (a male-
to-female ratio of 3.4:1), reflecting a gender equality principle generally
adhered by the Company. The Company is mindful of the objectives
as set out in the diversity policy when assessing the candidacy of the
employees, and will ensure that the Company shall continue to follow the

policy.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, all the directors,
including independent non-executive directors, shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years, and their re-
election is subject to a vote of the Shareholders of the Company.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from
each of the existing independent non-executive directors in accordance
with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all the
independent non-executive directors are independent in accordance with
the Listing Rules.

RESPONSIBILITIES AND DELEGATION OF THE
BOARD

The Board determines the overall strategies of the Company, and
monitors the performance of the senior management and the related
risks and control systems so as to achieve the development objectives
of the Company. Day-to-day management of the Company is delegated
to the executive directors and the senior management, who are required
to report back to the Board. All the members of the Board have separate
and independent access to the senior management, and are provided
with full and timely information about the conduct of the business
and development of the Company, including monthly reports and
recommendations on significant matters.

The Board has delegated some of its functions to the committees under
the Board, and will seek independent and professional advices from them
in respect of related matters.
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EFERBRHESE BOARD MEETINGS AND ATTENDANCE
EZgTHRTEERIAR ﬂﬁ’]ﬁﬁ%&%L The Board meets regularly to review the financial and operating
R UETARRKRE - RZZE=_=F ' AR performance of the Company and to discuss future strategy. In 2023, the
RAIAMARESEESH  TIASESN_Z Company held four Board meetings, and the attendance record of each
TEFHEREERERANELS director at the Board meetings in 2023 is set out below:

HeHESE REARHESE

= BERAH BERRE (A7)

Attendance in Person,” Attendance by Proxy,”
Directors Number of Meetings Number of Meetings (Note)
BiTES
Executive Directors
BFEHEEEEFR) 4/4 0/0
Mr. LUO Yuguang (Chairman)
BRI (B FR RAGHTE) 4/4 0/0
Mr. YASUTA Tatsuya (Vice Chairman and General Manager)
RRNEEAE 3/3 11
Mr. NAKAMURA Osamu
NEFTERTE 3/3 Al
Mr. KIJIMA Katsuya
TEEXE 3/3 11
Mr. LI Juxing
RIDSEE 3/3 11
Mr. XU Song
FREE 3/3 1/1
Mr. LI Xiaodong
BAFRTESE
Independent Non-executive Directors
BEELE 4/4 0/0
Mr. LONG Tao
RIS £& o0
Mr. SONG Xiaojiang
B =R E 4/4 0/0
Mr. LIU Erh Fei
ZIREE 11 3/3
Mr. LIU Tianni
Mt : *E3§$@ETE@@EE§§%§§E1‘§ = Note:  Pursuant to Article 103 of the Articles of Association of the

i,ﬁ.\ggiﬁfgffég;ﬁéju EHZ Company, where a director is unable to attend the Board

meetings due to certain cause, he may in writing appoint other
director to attend the Board meetings on his/her behalf.
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At the Board meetings, the Board reviewed significant matters including
the Company’s annual and interim financial statements, annual budget,
proposals for final and interim dividends, annual report and interim report.
At least 14 days' notice is given to all directors for all regular Board
meetings and all directors are given the opportunity to include matters for
discussion in the agenda. The agenda and board papers for each meeting
are sent to all directors at least 3 days in advance of every regular Board
meeting. All minutes of the Board meetings are kept by the company
secretary and are available to all directors for inspection.

There is no material financial, business, family, or other relationship
between any two members of the Board.

The Board had adopted effective mechanisms to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board. Subject to approval of the
Chairman of the Board, the directors may seek, at the Company’s
expense, independent legal, financial or other professional advices from
advisors independent to those advising the Company as and when
necessary in appropriate circumstances to enable them to discharge their
responsibilities effectively. The Board will review the implementation and
effectiveness of such mechanisms on an annual basis.

The Board considers that the above mechanisms are effective in ensuring
that independent views and input are provided to the Board.

COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. LEI Bin and Mr. TUNG Tat Chiu Michael were appointed as company
secretaries for PRC and Hong Kong affairs respectively on 30 May 2019
and 28 April 1994. Mr. LEI Bin is a full-time employee of the Company,
and works as a chief financial officer of the Company. He is familiar with
the daily routine of the Company.

Mr. TUNG Tat Chiu Michael is a practicing lawyer in Hong Kong and
the senior partner of Tung & Co., the Hong Kong legal adviser of the
Company, and a China Appointed Attesting officer. He holds a B.A.
degree in law and accounting from the University of Manchester, the
United Kingdom. He has over 30 years of experience as a practicing
lawyer in Hong Kong. Mr. TUNG is also the company secretary or joint
company secretary of a number of companies listed in Hong Kong.
Although Mr. TUNG is not an employee of the Company, he has been
appointed by the Board to advise on legal and governance-related issues.
The primary corporate contact person of the Company is Mr. LEI Bin, the
company secretary for the PRC affairs.

As confirmed respectively by Mr. LEI Bin and Mr. TUNG Tat Chiu
Michael, they had taken the relevant professional trainings for no less
than 15 hours during the year of 2023.
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CHAIRMAN AND GENERAL MANAGER

Mr. LUO Yuguang and Mr. YASUTA Tatsuya hold the positions of
Chairman of the Board and General Manager respectively, which are two
clearly separate positions.

The Chairman is responsible for leading, and overseeing the operations of
the Board, effectively planning the Board meetings and ensuring that the
Board is acting in the best interests of the Company. The Chairman shall
proactively encourage directors to fully participate in the Board's affairs
and make contribution to the functions of the Board. The Board, under
the Chairman’s leadership, has adopted good corporate governance
practices and procedures and has taken appropriate steps to maintain
effective communication with the Shareholders.

The General Manager is responsible for managing the business of the
Company, as well as formulating and implementing the Company's
policies and is answerable to the Board in relation to the overall
management of the Company. The General Manager of the Company
works in close association with other executive directors and the
administration team of each core business division, ensuring the funding
requirements of the business of the Company are sufficiently met and
at the same time closely monitors the operation and financial results of
the Company according to business plans and budgets, and advises the
Board on matters in relation to the Company’s development. The General
Manager of the Company is required to keep close communication
with the Chairman and all directors to keep them fully informed of all
substantive matters relating to the Company's business development,
and is also responsible for building and maintaining a highly efficient
administrative support team to support him to discharge the assigned
duties in this position.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME

Each newly appointed director is provided with necessary induction
and information to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the
Company's operations and businesses as well as his responsibilities
under the relevant statutes, laws, rules and regulations.

Directors’ training is an ongoing process. During the year, directors
are provided with monthly updates on the Company's performance,
position and prospects to enable the Board as a whole and each director
to discharge their duties. In addition, all directors are encouraged to
participate in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills. The Company updates directors on
the latest development regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements from time to time, to ensure compliance and
enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices.
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RERRHEMNLEE  EEEE T -_=F1+= According to the records provided by the directors, a summary of the
A=+—HLFEEZFIORENT trainings received by the directors for the year ended 31 December 2023
is as follows:

B= BENERE

Directors Types of Training

BITES

Executive Directors

BFHGEEEFL) A B, C

Mr. LUO Yuguang (Chairman)

ZHR ML (BIEFRRABILHE) C

Mr. YASUTA Tatsuya (Vice Chairman and General Manager)

PR A C

Mr. NAKAMURA Osamu

REFRELE C

Mr. KIJIMA Katsuya

FERLAE A C

Mr. LI Juxing

TRINSEAE A B, C

Mr. XU Song

ENN-S C

Mr. LI Xiaodong

BIUFRTESF

Independent Non-executive Directors

BESLE A C

Mr. LONG Tao

RANIHRAE A C

Mr. SONG Xiaojiang

B Mk A B, C

Mr. LIU Erh Fei

BRI E A C

Mr. LIU Tianni

et - Notes:

A. HEEN SR KT E R, RRiE - A.  Attending briefing sessions and/or seminars and/or forums.

B. %%ﬁ@&/iﬁﬁﬂ@&/ﬁ%ﬁigiﬁéiﬁ B. Making speeches at briefing sessions and/or seminars and/or forums.

C. FEAMAE —MREK EFBE LW C. Reading seminar materials or magazines and updates relating to
HAKEMEREE R ERMERNMAFE economy, general business, directors’ responsibilities and the
MHS SRR ENER - Listing Rules or the latest development of other applicable regulatory

requirements.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

Three committees have been set up by the Board, namely, the
nomination committee, the remuneration committee and the audit
committee. The Board is responsible for discharging corporate
governance functions as set forth in the Corporate Governance Code.
Sufficient resources are provided to enable each committee under the
Board to undertake their specific roles.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established its nomination committee on 26 March 2012
with the terms of reference. The nomination committee is comprised of
four independent non-executive directors (namely Mr. LONG Tao, Mr.
SONG Xiaojiang, Mr. LIU Erh Fei and Mr. LIU Tianni) and one executive
director (namely Mr. LUO Yuguang). Mr. LUO Yuguang, an executive
director, serves as the chairman of the nomination committee, and
is responsible for the nomination of the directors. The committee is
delegated by the Board to formulate the policies for the nomination of
directors and establish the procedures for the nomination of directors and
the standards for the selection and recommendation of directors. It is also
responsible for the review of the structure, number and composition of
the Board and the assessment of the independence of the independent
non-executive directors. Directors shall be elected at the Shareholders’
general meeting for a term of three years. Upon expiry of the term, a
director shall be eligible for re-election. Accordingly, all directors are
appointed for a specific term.

The nomination committee held 1 meeting in 2023. It reviewed

the structure, number and composition of the Board, assessed the
independence of the independent non-executive directors.
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The attendance record of the members of the nomination committee at
the meeting held in 2023 is set out below:

HEE FRRB

Attendance/Number of Meetings

BITES
Executive Director
BFRAEE

Mr. LUO Yuguang

BIUFRITES

Independent Non-executive Directors
b

Mr. LONG Tao

RNIHEE

Mr. SONG Xiaojiang

Bl —REE

Mr. LIU Erh Fei

BIR(REHE

Mr. LIU Tianni
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mn

A
mn
mn

A

After discussing and understanding the demand for filling the vacancy for
directorship of the Company while balancing the board diversity policy,
the nomination committee identifies appropriate candidates for directors
through various channels (including in the Group, through the nomination
of shareholders and in the market out of the Group). After obtaining
the approval from the candidate on the nomination, the nomination
committee will assess his qualifications, academic degree, professional
ethics, relevant experience, skill, independence and whether he can
coordinate with the future development plan of the Company, devote
time and efforts in performing his duties and responsibilities as well as
the current structure of the Board. The nomination committee will make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment of a new director
after the completion of the assessment.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established its remuneration committee on 20 April 2006.
The remuneration committee is comprised of four independent non-
executive directors (namely Mr. LONG Tao, Mr. SONG Xiaojiang, Mr.
LIU Erh Fei and Mr. LIU Tianni) and one executive director (namely Mr.
LUO Yuguang). The remuneration committee is chaired by Mr. SONG
Xiaojiang.

The main duties of the remuneration committee shall be: (a) to make
recommendations to the Board on the policy and structure for the
remuneration of all directors and senior management and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policy; (b) to review and approve the management's
remuneration proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals
and objectives; (c) (i) to determine, with delegated responsibility, the
remuneration packages of individual executive directors and senior
management; or (ii) to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive directors and senior
management; (d) to consider salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the group; (e) to review and approve the compensation
payable to executive directors and senior management for any loss or
termination of their office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent
with contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive; (f) to
review and approve compensation arrangements relating to dismissal or
removal of directors for misconduct to ensure that they are consistent
with contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and appropriate;
and (g) to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive directors.

REMUNERATION POLICY FOR DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a model to make recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration package of individual executive directors and
senior management.

The directors are remunerated in accordance with the nature of their

duties and comparable market conditions. Incentive bonus would be
granted to reward and motivate well-performed directors.
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Remuneration Bands (RMB)

The remuneration of the members of the senior management by band for
the year ended 31 December 2023 is set out below:

AB

Number of persons

0%250,000
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EHIMYER -
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BYIEATEENFHRESSIREEZ LA
ERIBITEERSREEA BB THMFER
BEgRNESRE  TIAFHNZREEXKEN=
T - =FHESHENE RO

541
Members

0 to 250,000 6

Note: The members of the senior management disclosed above refer to
those employees other than directors and supervisors.

The remuneration committee held 1 meeting in 2023. It made
recommendations to the Board on the remunerations of the independent
non-executive directors and the specific remuneration packages of
individual executive directors and senior management. The attendance
record of the members of the remuneration committee at the meeting
held in 2023 is set out below:

HEE FHERE

Attendance/Number of Meetings

BITES
Executive Director
BFHESE

Mr. LUO Yuguang

WIAFRITES

Independent Non-executive Directors
v

Mr. LONG Tao

RNIHE

Mr. SONG Xiaojiang

Bl —ReE

Mr. LIU Erh Fei

£ PN bivtaa

Mr. LIU Tianni
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee with specific terms
of reference in accordance with the Listing Rules. The audit committee
is comprised of four independent non-executive directors, who possess
appropriate commercial and financial skills and experience to understand
financial statements. The audit committee is chaired by Mr. SONG
Xiaojiang and other members are Mr. LONG Tao, Mr. LIU Erh Fei and Mr.
LIU Tianni.

The terms of reference of the audit committee include the duties to
recommend the engagement and replacement of external audit firms,
oversee the Company’s internal auditing system and implementation,
verify the Company’s financial information and disclosure, examine
the Company'’s internal control system, and take charge and act as a
communication channel between internal and external auditors.

The audit committee held 2 meetings in 2023. It reviewed the final
results for 2022 and the interim results for 2023. The attendance record
of the members of the audit committee at the meetings in 2023 is set
out below:

R HESE FHERE
Members Attendance/Number of Meetings
WIAFRITES

Independent Non-executive Directors

BEEEE 2/2
Mr. LONG Tao

KNI 2/2
Mr. SONG Xiaojiang

Bl —REE 2/2
Mr. LIU Erh Fei

ZIREE 2/2
Mr. LIU Tianni
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board adopted the Terms of Reference for Corporate Governance
Function set out in Code A.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code as
the terms of reference for the Board to perform their duties in relation
to corporate governance function on 26 March 2012, which include
developing and reviewing the Company's policies and practices on
corporate governance and making recommendations to the Board;
reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management; reviewing and
monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements; developing, reviewing and monitoring
the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) for the Company’s
employees and directors; and reviewing the Company’s compliance
with the Corporate Governance Code and disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report.

During the year 2023, the Board has performed the corporate governance
function as mentioned above.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has the ultimate responsibility in overseeing the operation of
all business units under the Company’'s management. It shall appoint
suitable qualified personnel to serve on the boards of all subsidiaries
operating in key business areas, attending their Board meetings to
oversee the operations of these companies. The management in each
business division is accountable for the operations and performance of
the business within its area of responsibility.

The Company’'s management has implemented a system of internal
control to provide reasonable assurance that the Group's assets are
safeguarded, proper accounting records are maintained, applicable
laws and regulations are complied with, reliable financial information
are provided for the Company’s management for publication purposes
and investment and business risks (including environmental, social
and governance risks) affecting the Group are identified and properly
managed.

The Board is responsible to ensure a sound and effective risk
management and internal control system to safeguard investments of
Shareholders and assets of the Group and provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against the risks of material misstatement or loss,
and to manage but not eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives.
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The Board shall review the effectiveness of risk management and internal
control systems of the Company and its subsidiaries at least once every
year. The scope of a review includes financial control, operation control,
compliance control and risks management functions. The Board will
also consider the relevant adequacy of resources, staff qualification and
experience, training programs and budget of the Company's accounting
and financial reporting function and the Company’s environmental, social
and governance performance and reporting. As at 28 March 2024, the
Board meeting has completed the aforementioned review for 2023
and the Board is of the view that the Company’s risk management and
internal control systems can properly and effectively safeguard the
investments of the Shareholders and the assets of the Group.

ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

The Company has adopted an anti-corruption policy to govern acceptance
of advantages by employees and a whistleblowing policy to provide
guidance to employees and external stakeholders to report concerns
about any suspected or actual improprieties relating to the Group.

INSIDE INFORMATION

With respect to the procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information, the Company is aware of its
obligations under Part XIVA of the Securities and Futures Ordinance and
the Listing Rules and has established the inside information disclosure
policy with close regard to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside
Information” issued by the Securities and Futures Commission.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code"”) contained in Appendix
C3 of the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by directors and supervisors. After specific enquiry with
all the directors and supervisors of the Company, all directors and
supervisors of the Company confirmed that they have completely
complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
throughout 2023.

B2 /AHE D AR A A Qingling Motors Co. Ltd

63



64

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EEw

ARREEE(EES ) HMAREEK
HPfaBRRAKRHENSEE 20 BEX
) HRIARRHENEE—RED HBL
1) EFESEIFEHERELERN T \Fn
RA=1+BEE - ZBLEREHR - RZT==
FEAN  ARBEBRETETEERE  RE
TR  ARRMEINE AR - BHESF
S TIEFIBINERAZEFTERE -

EFEN_ZT_=FBTT1REE TR

EEER_T_—FHESINHFELE

EX

Supervisors

SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

The supervisory committee of the Company (the “Supervisory
Committee”) is comprised of two members, one of whom is a
representative of the Shareholders (namely Ms. MIN Qing) and one of
whom is the representative of the staff and workers (namely Ms. PU
Qing). Mr. GUAN Jinming, the chairman of the Supervisory Committee,
resigned on 30 May 2018 and caused a temporary vacancy for the
position. In 2023, the supervisors of the Company exercised their right
of supervision in accordance with the laws to protect the legal interests
of the Shareholders, the Company and the employees. The details of
the work of the Supervisory Committee are set out in the Supervisory
Committee’s Report in this annual report.

The Supervisory Committee held 1 meeting in 2023. The attendance
record of the members of the Supervisory Committee at the meeting in
2023 is set out below:

HEE FRRB

Attendance/Number of Meetings

BERARHENHES

Representatives of the Shareholders
REZ T

Ms. MIN Qing

RIRKKHENES

Representatives of the Staff and Workers
ShAE 2+

Ms. PU Qing
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EXTERNAL AUDITORS

The external auditors currently appointed by the Company are the
Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants LLP and
Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as its PRC and international auditors
respectively. For the year ended 31 December 2023, non-audit services
provided to the Group included the assurance of the environmental,
social and governance report of the Company, the review of continuing
connected transactions and review of the unaudited interim financial
statements. The work that the external auditors are engaged to perform
must bring clear benefits and value-added effects to the Company,
and will not cause adverse effect on the independence or independent
standing of their audit function. The remuneration of the auditor is
disclosed in the financial statements.
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DIRECTOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

With the assistance of the accounting department, the Board is
responsible for preparing the financial statements for each financial year
and ensuring that, in preparing such financial statements, appropriate
accounting policies are adopted and applied and the PRC accounting
standards and systems and International Financial Reporting Standards
are observed, to give a true and fair view of the financial position and
operating results of the Company. The statement of the auditor about
their responsibilities on the Group's financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’'s Report on pages 69 to 73.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
RIGHTS

After the announcement of the Company'’s interim and annual financial
results, the Company has proactively arranged for briefing meetings for
people from the investment community at regular intervals, using the
opportunity to promote investor relations and two-way communication.
The Company, through the investor relations manager, responds to the
information requests and inquiries from the investment community.
The Company also publishes information such as the Company's
announcements and circulars on its website (www.gingling.com.cn)
in a timely manner under the requirements of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange.

The Company encourages Shareholders to attend the annual general
meeting at which the Chairman and directors will answer questions
about the Company's business raised by Shareholders. The Company
distributes annual and interim reports to Shareholders in a timely manner
for their inspection.
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FRN - ARBIBEMAREARE - EFHHER During the year, the Company has convened two general meetings. The

RAERLEIT ¢ attendance record of directors at the general meetings is set out below:
= HEE BRXERH
Directors Attendance/Number of Meetings
BITES

Executive Directors

BFNEE(EFR) 2/2
Mr. LUO Yuguang (Chairman)

ZHR I (FIEFR RAGKIE) 2/2
Mr. YASUTA Tatsuya (Vice Chairman and General Manager)

iR EE 2/2
Mr. NAKAMURA Osamu

ARERIWEE 2/2
Mr. KIJIMA Katsuya

FERLEE 2/2
Mr. LI Juxing

TRINSEAE 2/2
Mr. XU Song

FRESE 0/2
Mr. LI Xiaodong

BIAFRITES

Independent Non-executive Directors

S 2/2
Mr. LONG Tao

KNI 2/2
Mr. SONG Xiaojiang

£ iy 3 2/2
Mr. LIU Erh Fei

BIRR LA 0/2
Mr. LIU Tianni

BEEXH CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

RAFENR @ BEECAAARNBEXHEF During the year, the Company did not make any amendment to its
) o constitutional documents.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Set out below is a summary of certain rights of the Shareholders:

Convening of extraordinary general meeting on requisition by
Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 80 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
two or more shareholders who hold an aggregate of 10% or more
of the shares carrying voting rights at the meeting proposed to be
held may, sign one or several written requisition in the same form
requesting the Board to convene an extraordinary general meeting of
Shareholders or a class meeting of Shareholders, specifying the objects
of the meeting. Upon the receipt of the aforesaid written request(s),
the Board shall convene an extraordinary general meeting or a class
meeting of Shareholders as soon as possible. The number of the shares
held as aforesaid shall be calculated based on these shares held by the
Shareholders as at the date of the written requisition.

Where the Board fails to give a notice convening the meeting within
thirty days upon the receipt of the aforesaid written requisition, the
requisitionists may themselves convene a meeting, within four months
upon the receipt of the said requisition by the Board. A meeting convene
by the requisitionists shall be convened in the same manner, as nearly as
possible, as that in which meetings are to be convened by the Board.

Any reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists by reason of
the failure of the Board duly convene a meeting, shall be borne by the
Company and be deducted from the amounts payable by the Company to
such directors who were in default.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at Shareholders’ general
meetings by Shareholders

The content of a proposal shall be a matter that should be determined
by Shareholders’ general meeting, which shall have definite topics to be
discussed and specific matters for resolution and shall be in line with the
laws and administrative regulations.

Shareholders that independently or collectively hold more than 3% of
shares in the Company may make a temporary proposal and submit
it to the convener(s) in written form ten days prior to a Shareholders’
general meeting. The convener(s) shall give a supplementary notice of
Shareholders’ general meeting to announce the content of the temporary
proposal within two days upon receipt of the proposal.

Except as provided in the preceding paragraph, after sending out a notice
of Shareholders’ general meeting, the convener(s) shall not make any
amendments to the proposals included in the notice or add any new
proposals.

The procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election as a
director is made available in the website of the Company.
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Procedures for directing Shareholders’ enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the
Board of the Company in writing through Mr. LEIl Bin, the company
secretary, whose contact details are as follows:

Mr. LEI Bin

Qingling Motors Co. Ltd

1 Xiexing Cun, Zhongliangshan, Jiulongpo District, Chongqing, the
People’s Republic of China

E-mail: hk1122@qingling.com.cn

Tel: (86) 23-65265671

Fax: (86) 23-68830397

The company secretary shall forward the Shareholders’ enquiries
and concerns to the Board and/or relevant Board committees of the
Company, where appropriate, to answer the Shareholders’ questions.

The Board has adopted a Shareholder's Communication Policy in 2022
which sets out the Group’'s commitment of maintaining an effective
ongoing dialogue with shareholders. In summary, the Company
establishes different communication channels with Shareholders and
stakeholders including: (i) provision of printed or electronic copies of
corporate communications; (i) provision of timely corporate information
on the company website; (iii) holding of annual general meetings to
provide platform for Shareholders to raise comments and exchange
views with the Board; and (iv) arrangement in serving the Shareholders in
respect of all share registration matters. The Board reviewed the validity
of implementation of the Shareholder's Communication Policy during
the year and considered that it remained effective in enhancing timely,
transparent, accurate and open communication between the Company
and the Shareholders.

In 2024, the Company will continue to dedicate efforts into enhancing
the standard of its corporate governance according to the ongoing
regulatory changes, development trend of the Company, and feedback
opinions from Shareholders, ensuring a stable and healthy growth for the
Company while adding value to the Shareholders.

The Board of Directors
LUO Yuguang
Chairman

Chongaing, the PRC
28 March 2024



Deloitte.
=20

BBRSERMAMRLATRRE :
(RPFEANRHKFIBEK ) F 50 & ER 17
BRZF])

BR

Az EED (AT R A1) EFAH 5 EN 5B 74
BEEF1BAEMERAERNERAR(ER
ADREMBAR(GREIERE]D WSS IE
BR WERMBHRREBER T _=F1+=
A=1T—ANGEARMBINE - MEEZA b
FENGABRRIEME2ERER  REER
BPERMGARSRER - UREAMHRE
st - BREERGFIBRER REMBEREE
£ e

BMRR  ZEFAUBBRCBREREER
fAg ((BAGFEAR)BEMNTEUHER
SEAU(EFAHHRELENDEEMT B R
T EEER-_FE_=F+-_A=1+—HHA
BUBARRREEZA ILFENGEEUHERIR
RigaBione - W BREB QARG Z 5
BREZ BB -

BREX

BAIERBETE ST ASRMNBT BRI E
A& AT LR DETET - RPIEZFE
AT AENE T ERRESRBMRE GRS
B mERAENEEI D P EE— TR - B
BEBEIMAGRANEESEERTR
(T=PR1)) > RBUREEE - X EEITTR
TREMBEREREE - TPIEE - RIFIPTE
BHETRERT R LA ARFNESE
SR ERE -

RV E D
Independent Auditor's Report

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF QINGLING MOTORS CO., LTD.
(a Sino-foreign joint venture joint stock limited company incorporated in
the People’s Republic of China with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Qingling
Motors Co., Ltd. (the “"Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 74 to 191, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy
information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“"HKFRSs") issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

ESTIMATED WRITE-DOWN OF INVENTORIES

We identified the estimated write-down of inventories as a key audit
matter due to the management judgment required in the estimation
of the net realisable value, which is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

As disclosed in Notes 4 and 25 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group had inventories of RMB1,318,413,000 (net of write-down for
inventories of RMB63,598,000 as at 31 December 2023. In determining
the net realisable value, the management of the Group considers the
historical selling prices of similar products, the estimated costs of
completion, the estimated costs necessary to make the sale, the current
market conditions, forecast usage and sales volume of similar products.

Our procedures in relation to the write-down of inventories included:

° Obtaining an understanding of the Group's forecast usage,
selling prices, costs of completion, costs necessary to make
the sale, and sales volume of inventories which are used by the
management of the Group in the estimation of the net realisable
value;

° Considering the selling prices and sales volume of inventories
during the year ended 31 December 2023 and subsequent to
the year end, on a sample basis, and comparing this information
with the Group's expected selling prices and sales volume of
inventories at year-end date;

° Challenging the assumptions of determining the estimated selling
prices and sales volume of forecast sales, on a sample basis, with
reference to the current market conditions and historical selling
prices and sales volume of similar products; and

° Comparing the cost of inventories, including costs of completion
and costs necessary to make the sale, at year-end date, on
a sample basis, with the estimated net realisable value and
checking if adequate write-down of inventories has been made.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.
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Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that
a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Chen Ping Him.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

28 March 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

HE—FE-_—F+_A=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

—E_=HF T —F
2023 2022
HizE ARSFIT AREFT
NOTES RMB'000 RMB'000
1) & Revenue 15) 3,596,535 3,248,080
HEKA Cost of sales (3,373,181) (3,132,923
EH Gross profit 223,354 115,157
EmUA Other income 7 295,743 385,405
HEhp Other expenses (8,026) (7,295)
EHEEEEEN TRREERE Impairment losses under expected
(kR HEED) credit loss model, net of reversal 8 (277) (9,529)
E RS RIER TR Other gains and losses, net 9 13,586 13,705
5385 R H B AR Distribution and selling expenses (189,768) (78,260)
BHEEA Administrative expenses (205,456) (213,745)
hEEH Research expenses (177.802) (243,132)
B SR AS Finance costs (1,680) (4,717)
DIREE R Share of results of associates 570 (7,339)
DIEEEDEEE Share of results of joint ventures 2,504 10,131
BRIRBIESIR Loss before tax 10 (47,252) (39,619)
PRSI Income tax credit 11 1,845 34,636
FAGRRGEAH Loss and total comprehensive
expenses for the year (45,407) (4,983)
THALTREEENGER Loss and total comprehensive
el : expenses attributable to:
KAEIE=EEB A Owners of the Company (54,269) (14,575)
FEFE AR M A Non-controlling interests 8,862 9,692
(45,407) (4,983)
AR®RMB ARERMB
BREXEE Basic loss per share 17 (0.02)7T (0.01)7T
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

R-CE-_=ZF+—-H=+—H
At 31 December 2023

—E—= —E-F
2023 2022
HiaE AR¥TFIT AR¥TFr
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’'000
FEREBEE Non-current assets
Y% - WE REE Property, plant and equipment 18 1,212,392 1,153,221
REEE Right-of-use assets 19 53,389 61,126
WE Y Investment properties 20 18,677 18,956
%ﬁﬁéﬁ% Intangible assets 21 119,905 154,997
w%ﬂé%Zﬁéfﬁ Interests in associates 22 44,362 43,792
REELEER Interests in joint ventures 23 481,423 486,526
IR IR & B Deferred tax assets 24 59,822 53,779
TEHFER Time deposits 27 2,569,260 1,499,018
FEUAR R Trade receivables 26 45,886 =
B E R E R UERIK Finance lease receivables 2,740 =
SE - BEMRREZIES Deposit paid for property, plant and
equipment 191 186
4,608,047 3,471,601
mENEE Current assets
FE Inventories 25 1,318,413 1,418,835
FEURERFR - R M H A EURE  Trade, bills and other receivables and
B R IEARIE prepayments 26 1,531,029 1,657,481
TEHATFERR Time deposits 27 1,486,295 2,915,887
RekREFED Cash and cash equivalents 28 1,027,775 972,924
AJ U B R IA Tax recoverable 12,448 12,448
B E R E R UERIK Finance lease receivables 483 =
5,376,443 6,877,575
mEEE Current liabilities
FEREIRR - BRIRER Trade, bills and other payables
H At RIS 29 1,775,320 1,973,545
HIEAE Tax liabilities 1,810 4,263
aRaE Contract liabilities 30 357,331 478,958
REBE Refund liabilities 31 72,624 59,115
HEAE Lease liabilities 32 16,457 14,812
2,223,542 2,530,693
mEEERE Net current assets 3,152,901 4,346,882
HEERTHAR Total assets less current liabilities 7,760,948 7,818,483
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

R-ZE-_=ZF+—-H=+—H
At 31 December 2023

—E-= T F
2023 2022
Mzt ABR#FT AEETFT
NOTES RMB’000 RMB 000
B & R ks Capital and reserves
&N Share capital 33 2,482,268 2,482,268
PR A (8 M fE 1 Share premium and reserves 4,915,535 4,969,804
AR A AE G Equity attributable to owners of the
Company 7,397,803 7,452,072
FEIERR A Non-controlling interests 339,458 333,925
RaEH Total equity 7,737,261 7,785,997
EL 1 bR Non-current liabilities
HEARE Lease liabilities 32 19,404 27,361
EEWA — BT BN Deferred income — government
grants 34 4,283 5,125
23,687 32,486
7,760,948 7,818,483
FIABEEF189B VM HERN —_Z Y The consolidated financial statements on pages 74 to 191 were approved
FEZA-+ N \BEESeEREERT I and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2024 and
AT ESESRREE are signed on its behalf by:
T=E2 N LI Juxing Li Xiaodong
s % DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

BE_FE_=FF+_H=1—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

Il‘/-.R

FLFHAEARK
Attributable to owners of the Company
HEER HEER
k% BFER EILRE  ORWE  OWR BRRE  GERR &t FnREE &t
Statutory Discretionary Non-
Share Share  Capital  surplus  surplis  Special  Retained controlling
capital  premium  reserve reservefund resevefund  reserve profits ~ Subtotal interests Total
ARETL NRETT AREFL ARETT ARETL ARETT ARETL ARETT ARETL ARETT
AWBOD  AMBUOOD  AMBUOD  AMBUOD  AMBUOD - AMBUOOD  AMBUOOD - AMBUOAD - AMBUOD  AMBUOD
Wiz My Wiy
Notea) o4 ot 75 (Notedy
W-F-—%-f-A At 1 January 2022 2482268 1764906 571200 1,236,497 2347 - 1682480 7739697 327505 806722
EREE)RAREGAEG)  (Loss) profitand total
W& comprehensive (expenses)
income for the year - - - - - - (14575 (14579) 9,692 (4,983)
RS 2021 final dividends recognised
Rt and paid ote 76/ S - - = o - Q130600 (273,060) - (273,060
REFERBRZARE Dividends paid to non-
controling interests - - - - - - - - (3192 (3192
R-E--E+-A=1+-A At 31 December 2022 2482268 1764906 571200 1236497 2,347 - 13485 7452012 333925 7785997
FREREFREABGE)  (Loss) profitand tota
W& comprehensive (expenses|
income for the year - - - - - - (4209 (64.209) 8862 (45,407)
REFERRERARE Dividends paid to non-
controlling interests - - - - - - - (3329 (3.329)
g2 Transfer - - - - 563 (663) - - -
St ch g ey At 31 December 2023 2482008 1764905 571,200 1236497 2347 563 1340023 7397803 339488 7,737,261

BiaF - Notes:

a. BRANEBEESEIFEE S ARK a. The capital reserve mainly includes an amount of RMB572,206,000
572,206,000t (ZEE-—_F : AR¥ (2022: RMB572,206,000) which represents the excess of the value of
572,206,0007T) B - TEEBEEER the net assets immediately before the establishment of the Company
%?ﬁ}&ﬁé%?§$ﬁaﬁ{{ﬁijﬁﬁ A injected into the Company by E# A8 (EE) AR AT (“Qingling
i(;ﬂ%@)ﬁﬁﬁ( AERLE C B E Group” — ultimate holding company of the Group) and E# AE AR
Bs&ERAR) RER ,—Liﬁ B A A A7) as part of the reorganisation in 1994 which was approved by the
BARR A E’J BEFENEA— AT State Administration of State-owned Assets, over the nominal value of
FEHEAM—Z D  LLEARRD B KR 1,500,000,000 shares issued upon establishment of the Company of
FT%471,500,000,000 % M E B A R RMB1,500,000,000.
1,500,000,0007T 2 B &S ©

b. 7R £ (B 7 38 PR B B B0 K FE S IR AR M Y B A b. The Group is required to make appropriations based on its revenue

[2021]1365% X2 £ E & AR EA{E A
ERPE)HEBSEEL RN - ZHER
RERTELRE2EERERRRRE - T
A AIAR R DK ©

in accordance with CaiZi [2022] No. 136 “Measures for the provision
and utilisation of the safety production fund” that is issued by the
Ministry of Finance and the Ministry of Emergency Management. The
reserve is for future enhancement of safety production environment
and improvement of facilities and is not available for distribution to
shareholders.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

BE_FE_=F+_H=1—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

—E—= T F
2023 2022
AR®FIT AREFT
RMB'000 RMB'000
BEXEW Operating activities
MRELATE R Loss before tax (47,252) (39,619)
BYEFREE - Adjustments for:
EUR %N Finance costs 1,680 637
ﬂ%‘ WA Interest income (148,008) (181,077)
DEHE DR Share of results of associates (570) 7,339
DMEEEREEE Share of results of joint ventures (2,504) (10,131)
BRI T HE B Government grants recognised (84,542) (90,877)
UL FRIE BT 1R B () Impairment (reversal) of losses on
trade receivables 161 (531)
HAb UGB R EE 1B Impairment losses on other
receivables 116 10,060
FEMR Write-down of inventories 200 645
ME - BERREBINE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 56,949 51,885
FREEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 17,761 23,862
EAERE Amortisation of intangible assets 37,591 38,499
REMENE Depreciation of investment
properties 279 279
HEME  BERRBARGHAESE Loss on disposal of property, plant
2 R and equipment and right-of-use
assets, net 864 161
bE W B 1R 58 Net foreign exchange loss 3,845 8,338
BEEACHBAZLCEREN Operating cash flows before
movements in working capital (163,430) (180,530)
FERA G M) Decrease (increase) in inventories 100,222 (383,930)
FEURERSR - PR IR K H b R U IR I T8 (Increase) decrease in trade, bills and
IERIBGE D) R other receivables and prepayments (19,971) 1,156,400
B T & e U AR SR 0 Increase in finance lease receivables (3,223) =
FERTERER » PRI SRR R E M TR Decrease in trade, bills and other
payables (143,717) (138,471)
AZ’]E1 A Decrease in contract liabilities (121,627) (115,788)
REBEBEEEIMCHD) Increase (decrease) in refund
liabilities 13,509 (29,951)
B AR Decrease in deferred income = (2,400)
EZ(FTR) M5 S Cash (used in) generated from
operations (338,237) 305,330
BB Income taxes paid (6,651) (4,669)
BEXER R FRRRALBHE Net cash (used in) from operating
activities (344,888) 300,661
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
AzE=
For the year ended 31 December 2023

T —Ff_HA=1—HIFE

== T F
2023 2022
ARETTT AREFT
RMB'000 RMB'000
BREXR Investing activities
7 A JE BT Placement of time deposits (2,442,000) (1,175,000)
HEEUE BT Withdrawal of time deposits 2,825,000 591,000
BEWE  BERE&E Purchases of property, plant and
equipment (131,217) (165,820)
BEEBFEE Purchases of intangible assets (43,142) (3,837)
W g —EaEEMRE Dividends received from a joint
venture 7,607 13,076
FEHA Interest received 124,358 129,605
HEME - BEMEEFTSKIA Proceeds on disposal of property,
plant and equipment 333 15}
BB A ER BT Government grants received related
to assets - 1,250
o RPN Advances to Qingling Group (222,543) (202,260)
EEEREERR Repayments of advance to Qingling
Group 306,503 118,300
BREXBERE (A ALPH Net cash from (used in) investing
activities 424,899 (693,681)
Hi#ﬁ Financing activities
B E Dividends paid - (273,050)
BEA— F'EJMTE’ATE’HFT BN ds Dividends paid to a non-controlling
shareholder of a subsidiary (3,329) (3,192)
Gzl \E\@E-JE,%’( Repayments of lease liabilities (16,306) (22,816)
TAFEE Payments of interest expense (1,680) (637)
MEXBRARLPRE Net cash used in financing
activities (21,315) (299,695)
ReRRSSEYIEM(RD)BE Net increase (decrease) in cash
and cash equivalents 58,696 (692,715)
R—A—HZHRERFLFED Cash and cash equivalents at
1 January 972,924 1,673,977
ERgnnxE Effects of foreign exchange rate
changes (3,845) (8,338)
BR+-RA=E1+—HZBASRALER/Y Cash and cash equivalents at 31
ERITREBRRAE December, represented by bank
balances and cash 1,027,775 972,924
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE T _=—F+_H=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Qingling Motors Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) is a sino-foreign joint venture
joint stock limited company incorporated in the People’s Republic of
China (the "PRC") with limited liability and its shares are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The address of the registered
office and principal place of business of the Company is 1 Xiexing Cun,
Zhongliangshan, Jiulongpo District, Chongqging, the PRC. The principal
activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are the
production and sale of Isuzu light-duty trucks, pick-up trucks, medium and
heavy-duty trucks and automobile parts, accessories and others.

The parent and ultimate holding company of the Company is Qingling
Group (a state-owned enterprise established in Chongging, the PRC).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
("RMB"), which is also the functional currency of the Company and its
subsidiaries.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for
the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the annual period beginning on 1 January 2023 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

HKFRS 17 (including the 2020 October and  Insurance Contracts
February 2022 Amendments to
HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction

International Tax Reform-Pillar Two model
Rules

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendments to HKAS 12
Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2

Except as described below, the application of the new and amendments
to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on the Group's
financial positions and performance for the current and prior years and/or
on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for
the current year (Continued)

2.1 Impacts on application of HKFRS 17 (including the October
2020 and February 2022 Amendments) Insurance Contracts

The Group has applied the new standard and the relevant amendments
for the first time in the current year.

HKFRS 17 establishes the principles for the recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of insurance contracts and supersedes
HKFRS 4 /nsurance Contracts.

HKFRS 17 defines an insurance contract as a contract under which
the Group accepts significant insurance risk from another party (the
policyholder) by agreeing to compensate the policyholder if a specified
uncertain future event (the insured event) adversely affects the
policyholder.

In October 2020, the HKICPA issued Amendments to HKFRS 17 to
address concerns and implementation challenges that were identified
after HKFRS 17 was published. The amendments defer the date of
initial application of HKFRS 17 (incorporating the amendments) to annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. At the same
time, the HKICPA issued Amendments to HKFRS 4 Extension of the
Temporary Exemption from HKFRS 9 that extends the fixed expiry date
of the temporary exemption from applying HKFRS 9 in HKFRS 4 to annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

In February 2022, the HKICPA issued Amendment to HKFRS 17 Initial
Application of HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9 — Comparative Information to
address implementation challenges that were identified after HKFRS 17
was published. The amendment addresses challenges in the presentation
of comparative information.

Certain contracts entered into by the Group, which is assurance type
warranty to customers, meet the definition of insurance contracts under
HKFRS 17. However, these contracts are specifically scoped out from
HKFRS 17 and the Group continues to account for these contracts under
relevant accounting standards. Therefore, the application of HKFRS 17 in
the current year had no material impact on the condensed consolidated
financial statements.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for
the current year (Continued)

22 Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred
Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the current
year. The amendments narrow the scope of the recognition exemption of
deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets in paragraphs 15 and 24 of
HKAS 12 /ncome Taxes so that it no longer applies to transactions that,
on initial recognition, give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences.

In accordance with the transition provision:

the Group has applied the new accounting policy retrospectively to
leasing transactions that occurred on or after 1 January 2022;

i the Group also, as at 1 January 2022, recognised a deferred tax
asset (to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary difference can
be utilised) and a deferred tax liability for all deductible and taxable
temporary difference associated with right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities.

The application of the amendments has had no material impact on
the Group's financial position and performance, except that the Group
recognised the related deferred tax assets of RMB6,326,000 and
deferred tax liabilities of RMB6,318,000 on a gross basis in Note 24 but it
has no impact on the retained earnings at the earliest period presented.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for
the current year (Continued)

2.3 Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the current
year. HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements is amended to replace
all instances of the term “significant accounting policies” with “material
accounting policy information”. Accounting policy information is material
if, when considered together with other information included in an
entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information may
be material because of the nature of the related transactions, other
events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial. However, not
all accounting policy information relating to material transactions, other
events or conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses to disclose
immaterial accounting policy information, such information must not
obscure material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements (the
"Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an entity applies
the “four-step materiality process” to accounting policy disclosures and
to judge whether information about an accounting policy is material to its
financial statements. Guidance and examples are added to the Practice
Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no material impact on
the Group's financial position and performance but has affected the
disclosure of the Group's accounting policies set out in Note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

2. ERERMEBREEAN(ER 2
P35 35 28 Al |) 2 $ART R AERT

F(®)
ERGERKERNEEHERSEAETE

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

REEW BB P EAAT D RMAE AL
FRMBREEERTA -

The Group has not early applied the following amendments to HKFRSs
that have been issued but are not yet effective:

SRR REENE105% KREFEEBEAR Amendments to HKFRS 10 and  Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
BB ETERE2855 SEECEMZE HKAS 28 Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture'
CHES ENEgTE

EAMBWERAE 165 ERHEERZPHME Amendment to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback?
(IBETA) EafE

BB GRTERE R BEIBARBRIE Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
CHEN) nERBEARES current and related amendments to Hong

5 (=T =TF)? Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)?

ERGRTEAIER MEZENERBE Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with covenants?
CHEN) &2

ERGHERETREES HETRELHE Amendments to HKAS 7 and Supplier Finance Arrangements?
IR E T HKFRS 7
CHEN)

BAGERE215% Bz A] s Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

CHEN)

! éﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ?ﬁZ?ﬁBﬁﬁéZﬁﬁiﬂﬁFﬂi
;o

E Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined.
g RZT—MF—-A—Hz&FABRZFER 2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.
F'Eﬁi@( °©
< RZE—RAF—A—BRZEBABRZFER g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

P -

AAREEEGN  EARRARRK - B
BEERIFABEANERTEEHRA MR
REEEATE -

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE_FE_=FF+_H=1—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of
the consolidated financial statements, information is considered material
if such information is reasonably expected to influence decisions made by
primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”)
and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The directors of the Company have, at the time of approving the
consolidated financial statements, a reasonable expectation that the
Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for
the foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the going concern
basis of accounting in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

3.2 Material accounting policy information
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company and
its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the
three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over
the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary.
Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the Group's
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately from
the Group's equity therein, which represent present ownership interests
entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the joint
arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control
of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint ventures are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using the equity
method of accounting. The financial statements of associates and joint
ventures used for equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform
accounting policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events
in similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment in
an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the associate or joint venture. Changes in net assets of the
associate/joint venture other than profit or loss and other comprehensive
income are not accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in
ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group’s share of losses
of an associate or joint venture exceeds the Group's interests in that
associate or joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that,
in substance, form part of the Group's net investment in the associate
or joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further
losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group
has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf
of the associate or joint venture.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for using
the equity method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an
associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the investment
over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included
within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the
cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in
profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that the
interest in an associate or a joint venture may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36
as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value
in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount.
Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, including
goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of the investment.
Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with
HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of
the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the associate or
joint venture that are not related to the Group.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Information about the Group’s accounting policies relating to contracts
with customers is provided in Notes 5 and 30.
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BE—F——#+-A=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial
application of HKFRS 16, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception,
modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will
not be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases
of warehouse that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. Lease

payments on short-term leases are recognised as expense on a straight-
line basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use assets includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the commencement date,
less any lease incentive received; and

° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition
of investment property as a separate line item on the consolidated
statement of financial position. Right-of-use assets that meet the
definition of investment property are presented within “investment
properties”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE_T_=—F+_HA=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liabilities at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest
accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) whenever:

° the lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment
of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the related lease
liabilities is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments
using a revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

° the lease payments change due to changes in market rental rates
following a market rent review, in which cases the related lease
liabilities is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments
using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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3R 2023 ANNUAL REPORT

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or
operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to
the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases
are classified as operating leases.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised
as receivables at commencement date at amounts equal to net
investments in the leases, measured using the interest rate implicit in
the respective leases. Initial direct costs for leases in which the Group is
the manufacturer or dealer lessor are recognised in costs of sales at the
commencement date of the finance leases. Interest income is allocated
to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on
the Group's net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE_FE_=FF+_H=1—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and
on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance
that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to them and that
the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis
over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses the related
costs for which the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that the Group should
purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are
recognised as deferred income in the consolidated statement of financial
position and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis
over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose
of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable. Such grants are presented under “other income”.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans including state-
managed retirement benefit schemes in the PRC are recognised as an
expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are recognised
as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of
the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries, annual leave) after deducting any amount already
paid.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE_FE_=FF+_H=1—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of current and deferred income
tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable
profit differs from (loss) profit before tax because of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
the initial recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit and at the time of the
transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences.
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3R 2023 ANNUAL REPORT

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, and interests in associates
and joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part
of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions in
which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the related lease
liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax deductions are
attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 requirements to the
lease liabilities, and the related assets separately. The Group recognises
a deferred tax asset related to lease liabilities to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability for all
taxable temporary differences..

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same taxable entity
by the same taxation authority.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE_FE_=FF+_H=1—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when
they relates to items that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held for use
in the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes (other than construction in progress as described below).
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or
administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include any costs directly attributable to bringing
the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable
of operating in the manner intended by management, including costs
of testing whether the related assets is functioning properly and, for
qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policy. Sale proceeds of items that are produced
while bringing an item of property, plant and equipment to the location
and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management (such as samples produced when testing
whether the asset is functioning properly), and the related costs of
producing those items are recognised in the profit or loss. The cost
of those items are measured in accordance with the measurement
requirements of HKAS 2. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis
as other property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their
intended use.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of properties
which includes both leasehold land and building elements, the entire
consideration is allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition. To
the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably,
interest in leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use assets” in the
consolidated statement of financial position. When the consideration
cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease building element and
undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land, the entire properties
are classified as property, plant and equipment.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets other than
properties under construction and specialised production facilities and
moulds less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using
the straight-line method. Specialised production facilities and moulds
which can be identified in relation to specific production processes
are depreciated by reference to the expected production volume of
these facilities and moulds after taking into account of their estimated
residual values. The estimated useful lives, residual values, the expected
production volume and the depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of the reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or
retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals.

Investment properties are initially measured at costs, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation is
recognised so as to write off the cost of investment properties over their
estimated useful lives and after taking into account of their estimated
residual value, using the straight-line method.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposal. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is
derecognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE_FE_=FF+_H=1—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are
carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful
lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future
economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains or losses
arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
investment properties, and intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
investment properties carried at cost, intangible assets with finite useful
lives to determine whether there is any indication that these assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets, investment properties carried at cost, and intangible assets are
estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate assets are
allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or group
of cash-generating units to which the corporate asset belongs, and is
compared with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit
or group of cash-generating units.
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3R 2023 ANNUAL REPORT

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
investment properties, and intangible assets (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot be
allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit,
the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-generating
units, including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of
corporate assets allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with the
recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets
on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit
or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is
not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of
the impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset
is allocated pro-rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of cash-
generating units. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE_FE_=FF+_H=1—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated statement of
financial position include cash, which comprises of cash on hand and
demand deposits.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Costs of inventories are determined on a weighted average method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories
less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the
sale. Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental costs directly
attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs which the Group must
incur to make the sale.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal
or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the Group
will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash
flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is
the present value of those cash flows (when the effect of the time value
of money is material).

Warranties

Provisions for the expected cost of assurance-type warranty obligations
under the relevant contracts with customers for sales of trucks and
chassis are recognised at the date of sale of the relevant products, at the
directors’ best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the Group's
obligation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE_FE_=F+_H=1—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value
except for trade receivables arising from contracts with customers
which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial
asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective
is to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows;
and

° the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All of the Group’s financial assets recognised under HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments ("HKFRS 9") are subsequently measured at amortised cost.



3. FAMBERNEREERE
KEHBERRHE ()

32 EXEHEEHGE
2H TR ()

EHEERE)
BESHAAR R A B IA

RERRBHERAAENEREENS @ B
WAERERNEKERER - RBESREE
(RRZFEEERRENERMEER TORN
FREAEERRAERNE - FEMEUWA - BLE
BERERANENEREENS @ T @RS
IR M R ATYE BE & BB E B AR
ERERMNEFHERL - MHRERRENS
BRTAGHARBEMNE  UBZEREET
BHBREARE  AREEZeREETHL
RIERARMEZZOBEHEFRLG - BEEZE
REERERERRAERANE - #RH K
A °

ARBEEMBRE
TREEMNRE

ERIESRAERER A

AEERBERPERBR(EHERBRNR
A eMEE(REREBERUSRER - B
R BB EMRKEIR - EHRER
ReLREEEY) REFEVHRELENF
OWRAR RICBE ) ETTRIERHE - BHE
RIRXSERE®RE AMELES - ARKE
A ERARNERRRES

2 HITEHR{E R IB R 3E4E M T A0 TB A HANFT
BB EMNENEHBELNTBHERE
Koz 12@AEHREABEL(12@AE
H=ABKRDIERE BEIE 128 A ARl gLt
EHEHEEEENEHTEREREBLRN—
o o REEERBEHBEEHBIERET
il STEERANBFTREE - BEAERR
NEERE B ERIR R MR RIS A TEORI fE L D ET
(HEITHE -

AREREE SRR K R R IR FE R 2 B TR
HIEREX -

.\m 7f ﬁéz#ﬁ%% Bﬁ ;I

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE_T_=—F+_HA=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for
financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost. Interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of
the financial asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is
no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following the determination
that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit loss
("ECL") model on financial assets (including finance lease receivables,
trade, bills and other receivables, time deposits, cash and cash
equivalents) which are subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9.
The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes
in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default
events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In contrast,
12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on the Group's
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to
the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade and bills receivables.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal
to 12m ECL, unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL.
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based
on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring
since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument'’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk,
e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE_FE_=FF+_H=1—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

° an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory,
economic, or technological environment of the debtor that results
in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a debt
instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition if the
debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting
date. A debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk if i) it has
a low risk of default, ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and iii) adverse changes
in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash
flow obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument to have low
credit risk when it has an internal or external credit rating of ‘investment
grade’ as per globally understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to
identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes
past due.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(ii) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of
default occurs when information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has occurred
when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

(i) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have
a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

(@)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b)  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons
relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise

consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE_FE_=FF+_H=1—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating
that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss
given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data and forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows
that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised cost of the financial
asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for
all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade, bills and other receivables where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance account.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are denominated in a foreign
currency is determined in that foreign currency and translated at the spot
rate at the end of each reporting period. Specifically for financial assets
measured at amortised cost that are not part of a designated hedging
relationship, exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the
‘Other gains and losses, net’ line item (Note 9) as part of the net foreign
exchange gains/(losses).

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights
to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset
to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the
difference between the asset’'s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE_T_=—F+_HA=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and bills payables, refund liabilities and
other payables are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Foreign exchange gains and losses

For financial liabilities that are denominated in a foreign currency and
are measured at amortised cost at the end of each reporting period,
the foreign exchange gains and losses are determined based on the
amortised cost of the instruments. These foreign exchange gains and
losses are recognised in the ‘Other gains and losses’ line item in profit or
loss (Note 9) as part of net foreign exchange gains/(losses) for financial
liabilities that are not part of a designated hedging relationship.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the net amount
presented in the consolidated statement of financial position when, and
only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set off
the recognised amounts; and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described
in Note 3, the directors of the Company are required to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and underlying assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at end of the reporting period
that may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Write-down of inventories

Write-down of inventories require the estimation of the net realisable
value, which is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less estimated cost of completion and estimated costs
necessary to make the sale. These estimates are based on the historical
selling prices of similar products, the estimates cost of completion, the
estimates cost necessary to make the sale, the current market conditions,
forecast usage and sale volume of similar products. It could change
significantly as a result of changes in customer taste or competitor
actions in response to severe consumer product industry cycles. The
management of the Group reassesses these estimates at the end of
the reporting period. As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of
inventories is RMB1,318,413,000 (2022: RMB1,418,835,000), net of
write-down for inventories of RMB63,598,000 (2022: RMB72,986,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE_T_=—F+_HA=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Provision of ECL for trade, bills and other receivables

The Group assesses ECL for the trade, bills and other receivables
individually based on internal credit rating of these debtors. The estimated
loss rates are estimated based on the Group's historical observed
default rates taking into consideration forward-looking information that
is reasonable and supportable available without undue costs or effort. At
every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are reassessed
and changes in the forward-looking information are considered. As at
31 December 2023, the total carrying amount of trade, bills and other
receivables is RMB1,428,085,000 (2022: RMB1,336,492,000), net of total
allowance for credit losses of RMB9,888,000 (2022: RMB12,546,000).

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The information
about the ECL for the Group's trade, bills and other receivables are
disclosed in Note 36.
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BE_FE_=F+_H=1—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

5. k& 5. REVENUE
(i) SFEXEEFSHNHKS (i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
AEEHWEIEMIINBEFHE RS « E£ - The Group's revenue represents sales of trucks, chassis, automobile
FET - MR EMEEN NS - B parts, accessories and others to external customers, that are recognised
RE-REEHER - NEEREEZERER at a point in time. The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue
WA T from its major products:
—E_=f§ —EF
2023 2022
AR¥TFIT ARETFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
10 Types of goods
HERAIFmAE Sales of light-duty trucks 1,529,085 1,344,581
HENRRE Sales of pick-up trucks 625,600 478,749
HERRRERE Sales of medium and heavy-duty trucks 703,503 509,977
HERKS Sales of chassis 468,001 633,512
SHEAETH - BHREM Sales of automobile parts, accessories
and others 270,346 281,261
@t Total 3,596,535 3,248,080
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5. (i)

BE_FE_=FF+_H=1—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

5. REVENUE (CONTINUED)

(i) SIFXEEFSHHKEGE) (i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers

(Continued)

TREFHEBERFTIFENRERFE LR Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from contracts with

AR ¢ customers disclosed in the segment information:
pERENE RESH
RES HHREM
BYERERER KFERES Medium and Automobile
Light-duty Pick-up heavy-duty parts,
trucks trucks trucks accessories #8
and chassis and chassis and chassis and others Consolidated
ARBFT ARRFT ARBFT ARRFT ANRBFT
RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000
BECECZE+TZBST—HLEE  Forthe year ended 31 December 2023
HEINERE Sales of light-duty trucks 1,529,085 - - - 1,529,085
HERFE Sales of pick-up trucks 5 625,600 5 5 625,600
HEPURELE Sales of medium and heavy-duty trucks - - 703,503 - 703,503
HERR Sales of chassis 446,210 3139 18,652 - 468,001
BERETME  PERER Sales of autormobile parts, accessories and others 5 = 5 270,346 210,346
Wi Revenue 1,975,295 628,739 722,155 270,346 3,596,535
HE-E--FT-A=t-HLEE  Forthe year ended 31 December 2022
FEANERS Sales of light-duty trucks 1,344,581 = s = 1,344,581
HENFE Sales of pick-up trucks 5 478749 5 5 478749
HEPHRERE Sales of medium and heavy-duty trucks 5 = 509977 5 509977
HERS Sales of chassis 590,036 2461 41,015 - 633,512
HERETE PHREL Sales of automabile parts, accessories and others - - - 281,261 281,261
i Revence 1.934617 41210 550,992 281061 348,080
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE T _=—F+_H=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023
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5. REVENUE (CONTINUED)

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts with customers and
revenue recognition policies

The Group sells trucks, chassis, automobile parts, accessories and
others to customers, including independent dealers and certain related
parties (details are set out in Note 37), according to the relevant sales
agreements. Revenues are recognised when control of trucks, chassis,
automobile parts, accessories and others has been transferred, being
when they have been shipped to the customers’ specific locations based
on the quantity of trucks, chassis, automobile parts, accessories and
others received by the customers. The customers have neither rights of
return nor rights to defer or avoid payment for the goods once they are
accepted by the customers. No provisions for returns of trucks, chassis,
automobile parts, accessories and others are set out in the relevant sales
agreements, except for replacement due to quality problems. Payments
of transaction price for sales of trucks, chassis, automobile parts,
accessories and others are agreed at the point when the customers
received them. Advance payments in forms of bank remittance and/or
bank bills from independent dealers are normally required for sales of
light-duty trucks, pick-up trucks, medium and heavy-duties trucks. Sales
of chassis, automobile parts, accessories and others to independent
dealers, and related parties are required to be settled in three months to
five years according to the relevant sales agreements.

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the promised
amount of consideration for the effects of the time value of money if
the timing of payments agreed (either explicitly or implicitly) provides
the customer or the Group with a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of trucks, chassis, automobile parts, accessories and others to
the customer. In those circumstances, the contract contains a significant
financing component. A significant financing component may exist
regardless of whether the promise of financing is explicitly stated in the
contract or implied by the payment terms agreed to by the parties to the
contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and transfer of trucks,
chassis, automobile parts, accessories and others to customers is less
than one year, the Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting
the transaction price for any significant financing component.

For contracts where the Group transferred the associated trucks,
chassis, automobile parts, accessories and others before payments
from customers in which the Group adjusts for the promised amount of
consideration for significant financing components, the Group applies a
discount rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception. The Group
recognises interest income during the period between the payment
from customers and the transfer of trucks, chassis, automobile parts,
accessories and others.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE_FE_=FF+_H=1—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

5. REVENUE (CONTINUED)

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts with customers and
revenue recognition policies (Continued)

Under the Group's standard contract terms, customers have a right to
receive rebates paid by the Company. The Group uses its accumulated
historical experience to estimate the amount of consideration to which
it will be entitled using the most likely amount. A refund liability is
recognised for sales in which revenue has yet been recognised.

Sales-related warranties associated with trucks, chassis, automobile
parts, accessories and others cannot be purchased separately and
they serve as an assurance that the products sold comply with agreed-
upon specifications. Accordingly, the Group accounts for warranties
in accordance with HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets.

(iii) Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligation for contracts with customers

The Group had aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to
remaining performance obligations which are mainly in respect of sales of
trucks and chassis that are unsatisfied amounted to RMB357,331,000 at
31 December 2023 (2022: RMB478,958,000).

Based on the information available to the Group at the end of the
reporting period, the directors of the Company expect the transaction
price allocated to the above unsatisfied contracts as at 31 December
2023 and 2022 will be recognised as revenue in the following year.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is engaged in the manufacture and sales of four categories
of products, light-duty trucks and chassis, pick-up trucks and chassis,
medium and heavy-duty trucks and chassis and automobile parts,
accessories and others, and the chief operating decision makers (i.e.
the Company'’s executive directors) review the segment information by
these categories to allocate resources to segments and to assess their

performance.

Specifically, the Group's reportable segments under HKFRS 8 Operating

Segments are as follows:

Light-duty trucks and
chassis

Pick-up trucks and
chassis

Medium and heavy-duty
trucks and chassis

Automobile parts,
accessories and
others

manufacture and sales of light-duty trucks
and chassis

manufacture and sales of pick-up trucks
and chassis

manufacture and sales of medium and
heavy-duty trucks and chassis

manufacture and sales of automobile parts,
accessories and others
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6. DEEE(E) 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
(i) SBBERES (i) Segment revenue and results

AEEWERFEFIREBERAZ2HD F L0 The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by

T

HE_ZT-_=-F+-_A=+—HULFE

operating and reportable segment:

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HER RESH
BYERE KtE  ENEREM R
RES RE®  Mediumand  Automobile
Light-duty Pick-up heavy-duty parts,
trucks trucks trucks  accessories #8
and chassis and chassis and chassis and others  Consolidated
ABBFT ABBFT ABBFT ARBFT ARBFT
RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000
Wi Segment revenue 1,975,295 628,739 722,155 270,346 3,596,535
E+ Result
AHER) &R Segment (loss) profit (26,024) (53521) (12,652) 38,355 (53,842)
Aftl\ Other income 212,043
AR Other expenses (8,026)
BEEBEETHEEER Impairment losses under ECL model, net of
(NBEE) reversal (2
EHEREXTR Other gains and losses, net 13,586
ENERD Central administration costs (34,328)
HZER Research expenses (177,802)
BIERA Finance costs (1,680)
M2 Share of results of associates 570
MEAELEEE Share of results of joint ventures 2,504
BBELRR Loss hefore tax (47,252)
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6. SEEE 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
(i) SEBSREREGE (i) Segment revenue and results (Continued)

BHE_Z-—_F+-A=+—HILFE

118

For the year ended 31 December 2022

PER
EHE
LG FRE RES AEEH
RE# REZ  Medumand B RE
Light-duty Pick-up heavy-duty Automobile
trucks trucks trucks  parts, accessories e
and chassis and chassis and chassis and others Consolidated
NEEFT NEEFT NEEFT NEEFT NEEFT
AMB 000 AMB 000 AMB 000 AMB 000 AMB 000
e Segment revenue 1,934,617 481,210 550,992 281,261 3,248,080
S Result
A (5E Segment (loss) profit (13258) (75,019) (8,084) 49028 47,333
EfMA Other income 295,405
EEx Other expenses (7,29)
EHEEREETHEEER Impaiment losses under ECL model, net of
(BEE) reversal 9,529)
EhFERELTE Other gains and losses, net 13,705
ShERE Central administration costs 39,515
HEER Research expenses (243,132)
BIEmA Finance costs {77
MR Share of results of associates (7,339)
MEAELEEE Share of results of joint ventures 10,131
iy Loss hefore tax 39,619)
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BITEARAR ~
ERFEE - litﬂr‘ﬂ

The accounting policies of the operating and reportable segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in Note 3. Segment

S (loss) profit represents the (loss incurred from) profit earned by each

segment without allocation of certain other income, other expenses,

)}ﬁa% impairment losses under ECL model, net of reversal, other gains and

losses, net, central administration costs, research expenses, finance
costs, share of results of associates and share of results of joint ventures.
This is the measure reported to the chief operating decision makers for

the purposes of resources allocation and performance assessment.
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the year ended 31 December 2023

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(ii) Segment assets and liabilities

AEFBEENMEEZE2RNEED T The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities by
™: operating and reportable segment:
WZZE-_=F+=-F=+—H At 31 December 2023
] KE
REXE % B
BUERE B+E RES Rt
RES RE®  Mediumand  Automobile
Light-duty Pick-up heavy-duty parts,
trucks trucks trucks  accessories 8
and chassis and chassis and chassis and others  Consolidated
ARBFT ARBFT ARBFT ARBFT ARBFT
RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000
& Assets
NHEE Segment assets 1,150,733 511,513 786,822 322,274 211,342
A EREEE Interchangeably used assets between segments
-0% BERRE - property, plant and equipment 436,077
-[PREAE - right-of-use assets 53,389
-8 - inventories 486,364
U] Investment properties 18677
REEtE ER Interests in associates 44,362
RAELEER Interests in joint ventures 481423
ReRRSSENREHER Cash and cash equivalents and time deposits 5,083,330
EANAEE Other unallocated assets 609,026
RBAE Consolidated total assets 9,984,490
Bf Liabilties
Nk Segment liabilities 313,631 101,730 109,139 - 524,500
TR RS - BREERERERZE Unallocated trade, bills and other payables 1,680,775
AR RERE Unallocated lease liabiiies 35,861
ERTASRER Other unallocated liablities 6,003
TRBAE Consolidated total liabilties 2,241229
B85 AE D AR A R] Qingling Motors Co. Ltd
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6. SEEE () 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
(i) HPEERARGEE (ii) Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)
RZTB-_—F+-A=+—H At 31 December 2022

] i

RERE A
LG ES KFE RES k&t

REZ REZ  Medumand Automobile
Light-duty Pick-up heavy-duty parts,
trucks trucks trucks accessories &h
and chassis and chassis and chassis and others Consolidated

ARRTE  ARRTL  ARRTL ARRTL ARETI
AUB 000 AUB000 AUB 000 AUB 000 AUB 000

2E Assets

AR Segment assets 1,247,884 491,460 804,351 288,174 2,831,869
Az EREEE Interchangeably used assets between segments

-0% BERRE - property, plant and equipment 426,99

-[FRIEAE - right-of-use assets 61,126

-kg - inventories 376,669
&ﬁ%% Investment properties 18956

w rEELEER Interests in associates 4379

ReBREZER Interests in joint ventures 486526

ﬁﬁ&}ﬁé—rﬁ NREEER Cash and cash equivalents and time deposits 5,387,829
EHATAREE Other unallocated assets 715413
GABEE Consolidated total assets 10,349,176
8% Liabiliies

HHEE Segment liabiliies 451,127 114037 164,402 5 729,566
TR RS - EREEREMERE Unallocated trade, bills and other payables 1,782,062
TSRz HERE Unallocated lease liabilities 2173
ERFASEEE Other unallocated liabilities 9,388
GARAR Consolidated total liabilties 2,563,179
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BE_FE_=FF+_H=1—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

6. SEEE 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
(i) HPEERARGEE (i) Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)
RERDBEERIEIHBER For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and allocating

resources between segments:

. FMBEEHDREEERAZ®/RD I o All assets are allocated to operating and reportable segments other
|E/\*BZF'3 Fﬁﬁﬁ CWEME - R than interchangeably used assets between segments, investment
BREIER  REELEIER B properties, interest in associates, interests in joint ventures, cash
S RBEEMRTERTR - URHA and cash equivalents and time deposits, and other unallocated
HEARFAEZTIASEEERIN : & assets held by the head office; and
. FBEAEEPREEERZ®RD I o All liabilities are allocated to operating and reportable segments
WA DR BRERR - BRNRERE other than unallocated trade, bills and other payables, unallocated
fhEIFIE - PRI DECHEBERE lease liabilities and other unallocated liabilities of the head office.
RNAZHEMTA DB BRI o
(iii) HttoEHEH (iii) Other segment information
HE-ZTE-=F+-A=+—HItFE For the year ended 31 December 2023
FER

ENE  RESH.
#YERE E+E BEE  BHRER

RES RE®  Mediumand  Automobile
Light-duty Pick-up  heavy-duty parts,
trucks trucks trucks  accessories SR #8

and chassis  and chassis  and chassis and others  Unallocated  Consolidated
ABRTT  ARRTT  ARBTT  ARBFT  ABBTT  ARRTT
RIMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RIMB000 RIMB000

FANBERRATEEZSE:  Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or

loss or segment assets:
RENE  BERZ Additions to property, plant and equipment 6,181 82,949 - - 28217 117,347
TEFARELEE Additions to right-of-use assets 5 = = = 13,091 13,091
TEEVEE Additions to intangible assets = = = S 2499 2499
BVEAEE Amortisation of intangible assets - - 32,081 - 5,510 37,591
% BERRERE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 14302 11,081 1273 - 18,843 56,949
FRELENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets - - = = 17,761 17,761
RANENE Depreciation of investment properties - o = = 29 279
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BE_FE_=F+_H=1—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

6. SEEHE () 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
(iii) HtoBMEIHEGEE) (iii) Other segment information (Continued)
BHE_Z-—_F+-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2022

RERERE BT

HETEE FFE REE  PHREM

REZ REZ  Medumand  Automobile

Light-duty Pick-up  heavy-duty parts,
trucks trucks trucks  accessories AR &4
andchassis  andchassis  andchassis  and others  Unallocated ~ Consolidated
ANRBTT  AREFT ARETT AREFr  AREFT  ARETT
AMBO00  AMBO00  RAMBOO0  AMBUO0O  AMBU0O0O  RMB000

SANDBRSATEEZEHE  Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or

seqment assets:

RENE  BRERR Additions to property, plant and equipment 659 69,791 6,565 S 80,699 167,714
TERARLE Additions to right-of-use assets = s = s 40,250 40,250
TEEVEE Additions to intangible assets = 5 S 5 3837 3837
BYEERH Amortisation of intangble assets = 5 32,081 5 6,418 38,499
% BERENE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 14,566 6,223 12570 5 18526 51,885
FREAENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 5 5 5 5 23,862 23,862
RENENE Depreciation of investment properties = E = E 279 9
(iv) HESEH (iv) Geographical information

MIEERIE N TEEBFRAIN  REEEE Excluding deferred tax assets and time deposits, the Group’s non-current
AR#®1,978,965,000t(ZFE==—F : A assets amounting to RMB1,978,965,000 (2022: RMB1,918,804,000) are
R#1,918,804,0000) M IERBE EMRP located in the PRC. Except for export sales to countries outside the PRC
FRER - BRARAFREUIINERZEOHES amounting to RMB93,133,000 (2022: RMB51,151,000), all other sales of
AR#93,133,0000t(ZFE=—F : AR the Group are made to customers located in the PRC.

51,151,00070)5) - REE Z A EAbigEH

ETRRPEZ2ER -
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BE_T_=—F+_HA=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

7. HMkA 7. OTHER INCOME
ot Sl 3 T —F
2023 2022
AR¥TFir AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BRATE) - BIRIEE s 5 (A7) Government grants, including release
from deferred income (Note) 113,800 112,657
FEHGEREEE RBESEEBM 2 FBWA Interest income from time deposits and
cash and cash equivalents 148,008 181,077
ZE-RFRARE S REMBERABGK Receipt from defendant and other
(EZ& ZHaF40) guarantors under 2015 Litigation
(as defined in Note 40) - 36,597
MRz HEWA Rental income from renting of
equipment 22,103 42,593
MR EMEZHERA Rental income from renting of
investment properties and buildings 4,464 4,464
MIERRTS YA Miscellaneous service income 7,368 8,017
295,743 385,405

B BEFEDTEBRTMEEMTEMEL - A Note: The government grants mainly comprise the hydrogen fuel cell vehicles
RFEEEENERNEL  ARRAR subsidies, which is compensation for expenses or losses already
SEIRMHARMBEZR - RRTEHEHEEE incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the

A e Group with no future related costs.

HE-Z-_=F+-A=+—HLFE ' &
ESEESMHE TN TEMAE T ERE
AR#83,700,000L(ZZT==4F : AR¥
90,000,0007T) ° BIEZTE - BAFEER
TE R T -AFHEMNRERHE
MTEEEMNBR o

HE-_Z-_=F+-A=+—HLFE  #
RFEAA R AR K842, 0007r(_iE::
& AR¥S77,0007T) Eifas o IELEWAFE
BEERMIFESS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recognised grants
of RMB83,700,000 (2022: RMB90,000,000) under the hydrogen fuel
cell vehicles subsidies. Under this scheme, the government aims to
accelerate the development of hydrogen fuel cell vehicle industry during
2021-2025.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, RMB842,000 (2022:
RMB877,000) was released to profit or loss from deferred income,
details of deferred income are set out in Note 34.

HORERSREEBREMNRREREBMHE
T S 1 5 BIV B B 75 3% 355 T 2 15 1) SR B 8
e DFRAREMEREKA - 8T8 REFE

=

The remaining balances of grants are incentives received upon fulfilling
the conditions for compensation of research and administrative
expenses already incurred or as immediate financial support with no
future related costs nor related to any assets.

B85 AE D AR A R] Qingling Motors Co. Ltd
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

8. FHERBRV|ATHREERS 8. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED

1R HIFRED CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET OF REVERSAL
—E-=HF —E-—F
2023 2022
ABRETTT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB'000
WEEBEBERS Impairment losses recognised on:
— FEUER IR — trade receivables 161 (531)
— HE fth FEUCAR K — other receivables 116 10,060
277 9,529
BT IB T FAKIFES6 © Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 36.
9. HFERIELBHE 9. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET
ot - T —F
2023 2022
ARETFT ARHFr
RMB’000 RMB’000
P& 5 (B R Was F 78 Net foreign exchange (losses) gains (4,297) 13,539
U 25 R 5 Net offsetting gains 18,580 =
HEME KRB ARSERREEE 2 HIBTFRE Loss on disposal of property and
equipment and right-of-use assets,
net (864) (161)
Hity Others 167 327
13,586 13,705
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10. FRIRFTESIR

10. LOSS BEFORE TAX

—EBC-=S —E-F
2023 2022
AR¥TFTT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
BRIGATE B BRGTA Loss before tax has been arrived at after
charging (crediting):
FrekHMEMNEZH Salaries and other payments and benefits 287,858 296,886
RINERIE IR FEE12) Retirement benefit scheme contributions
(Note 12) 38,953 41,965
BETHRABIREERESME) (Wi213)  Total staff costs (including directors’ and
supervisors' remuneration (Note 13)) 326,811 338,851
REEFERNERE T Staff costs capitalised in inventories (142,997) (147,479)
183,814 191,372
EILEAERHE Amortisation of intangible assets 37,591 38,499
Y% - BEREEITE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 56,949 51,885
REFEEPERE Capitalised in inventories (38,147) (31,660)
18,802 20,225
HEaBREKAR Finance costs of lease liabilities 1,680 637
ARIRERI TR H I8 2 BB R Finance costs of discounted bank acceptance
bills - 4,080
WEYEITE Depreciation of investment properties 279 279
FREEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 17,761 23,862
%A & Auditor's remuneration
— 2B RS - Audit service 2,358 2,606
— B R TS — Non-audit service 373 330
BRAERY 2 FERA Cost of inventories recognised as an expense
(BIEFEMBARE200,0007T (including write-down of inventories
(ZZ==F : AR%645,0007T)) amounting to RMB200,000
(2022: RMB645,000)) 3,373,181 3,132,923
MRFEREHE Subsequent sales of written-down inventories (9,588) (9,546)
MR EME A A Rental income from renting of investment
properties 4,210 4,210
B FEAEEHEERAZ Less: Direct operating expenses from
WEMHEEEZEEEER investment properties that generated
rental income during the year (279) (279)
3,931 3,931
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

FriSiRIE &R 11. INCOME TAX CREDIT
—E-=HF —E-_4F
2023 2022
ARETFIT AE#BFT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
BNERRI TR Current tax (4,202) (7,256)
BRFEEREEE Over provision in prior years 4 2,052
EIER B (H72#24) Deferred tax (Note 24) 6,043 39,840
1,845 34,636

RIECERTERBAFEDEMSHEBRD
NE) (IR BRMEERRERERK
BEZBENE2020F F235%) AR E S
BEEXEH) BERRENXNEZESSE
40%%)  BZEZ—F—A—RAEZZ=ZTF
+ZA=+—8 LR EAIHEITH ER
BT EEEE A FEEEERECERA
YA B EE L I HB 3860 % HI A ﬂ;ﬁW%m
BECEMBS(REMERIBE - AR
ARBIZHMBAREEEREEEREA TU%
SR E ) FTBE X BB A B SRNATH
RSB ESE  WAKRFEETLEKIMALE
HRESBRABBELOIER60% @ HEE
FW“&F;%%@m%% SHBMEI5% °
ARARRARBIZHNBRAREEERIERASR
RAR((ERERDFTEEXBEMNERBAF
BSANATENEREESE  YAAFEEE
EBRABBERESBRABEELFES
60% @ BB MEFEZEERDERS
HBE15% o

ARARIZHMBAREEERFEMPOERET
Aal([EREM.O)) RESRCRIDFRER T
HIHERBARAR (DRIIFERDREZ=
T =F+ A=+ —HIEFER25%(=E
TIF  25%) MR EMEE

3R 2023 ANNUAL REPORT

According to the Notice of the Continuation of the Enterprise Income Tax
for Implementation of Exploration and Development of Western Region
(Notice of the Ministry of Finance, State Administration of Taxation and
National Development and Reform Commission No. 23 [2020]) and the
Catalogue of Industries Encouraged to Develop in the Western Region
(Order of the National Development and Reform Commission No. 40),
companies located in the western region of the PRC and engaged in
the businesses encouraged by the PRC government are entitled to the
preferential enterprise income tax (“EIT”) rate of 15% from 1 January
2021 to 31 December 2030 if the operating revenue of the encouraged
business in a year accounted for more than 60% of the total income in
that year. The Company and EE EREEAGR A 7] (“Qingling Moulds"),
a subsidiary of the Company, are engaged in the encouraged businesses
included in the related notice and catalogue and the total revenue of their
major businesses for the year accounted for 60% of their respective total
revenue, and therefore continue to enjoy the preferential EIT rate of 15%
for both years.

EEBESHFMPOAREMLAA (“Qingling Technical Center”) and &
RORYDFEERREHEERB AR A (“Shenzhen New Energy”),
subsidiaries of the Company, are subject to EIT rate of 25% (2022: 25%)
for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

11. INCOME TAX CREDIT (CONTINUED)

The income tax credit for the year can be reconciled to the loss before tax
per consolidated statement of loss and other comprehensive expenses as
follows:

—E-= —E-—F
2023 2022
AR¥TFiT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
MRELATE R Loss before tax (47,252) (39,619)
LABE R FTSFR R 15% T8 2 B8 Tax at the applicable income tax rate of
(ZE==F :15%) 15% (2022: 15%) 7,088 5,943
EBRGAREENB c BAZHBTE Tax effect of expenses not deductible
for tax purpose (1,244) (1,036)
HERRAREE 2 EING IS s (H3E) Additional tax benefit applicable to the
Group (Note) 20,623 28,540
WE’&ﬂTIﬂ%}%? T Effect of different tax rate of subsidiaries (1,065) (1,282)
DB EDEREE VG E Tax effect of share of results of
associates 85 (1,101)
DMEEEDEREE RGBT E Tax effect of share of results of joint
ventures 376 1,520
SREHIRIE TSR Write-down of deferred tax (24,022)
BAEFEEERE Over provision in prior years 4 2,052
FAAEHER Income tax credit for the year 1,845 34,636
Vol Note:

BEEERRKER  ARUEENERTRESE
HNEEEMRRBIBAMI100% (2T -4 : 100%)
BoOBE_FT_—F+_A=+—ALLFE " A
ARG ESEAARK20,623,000(=ZF ==
&£ . AR#28,540,0007T) °

Pursuant to the relevant tax rules and regulation, expenses in research
nature are deductible at 100% (2022: 100%) of such expenses incurred
additionally. The related tax benefit is amounted to RMB20,623,000 (2022:
RMB28,540,000) for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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12. BikiEFIEHE

AEEEEFRITRARERERE—ER
e - Bt AEESREREBEREEE
AEEESTIMHAMBNEEMNATEHIEES
FFEIFTEL MR - RIBARETE - ARFF
FAMBMBRNEENRRES S —FEHE
ITE2HTETELOIZFE - AFEIRIEAER
ZHRNBFR T HEN S A ARE29,223,000
(=% : AR¥31,579,0007T) °

AN - RIEEREENICEFSHE] - BEX
EER _ZT—+tFE+ A BRIDGEFS

AFERENEL(BREAEENAEKRETD)
RIEFEFE - REBECEFSFTEIEAIE

REBASERE THMNERESENERE
TTEZREFEWLN  WHIRRESHERER
GABEMEMEAWRERPIY - bEFE
EIZEEBURALEE  A—BUTEES
#E c AFEREABLEENBERTHENE
HFHARE 730,000L(ZE——F : ARK
10,386,0007T) ©

R-ZB_=F+_A=1+—0 HEH=E—
—=Ft+ZA=1— Htﬁfﬂﬁ%ﬁ*iﬁ
THECTE_=F 8 -
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12. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS

The Group has a service agreement with its ultimate holding company,
Qingling Group, whereby the Group will reimburse the contributions
made by Qingling Group to a defined contribution pension scheme
administered by the municipal government in respect of the staff of the
Group. According to such scheme, the Company shall pay an amount
annually, calculated at a percentage of the total wages of the staff,
to a retirement fund administered by the municipal government. The
amount charged to profit or loss during the year under such arrangement
amounted to RMB29,223,000 (2022: RMB31,579,000).

In addition, on 1 December 2017, the Qingling Group established
a voluntary defined contribution enterprise annuities program (the
"Enterprise Annuities Plan"”) in accordance with the Qingling Group's
Enterprise Annuities Plan for its eligible employees (including eligible
employees of the Group). Contributions paid by the Group for its eligible
employees are made based on a percentage of their wages and salaries
and are charged to the Group's consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the Enterprise Annuities Plan. The assets of the
Enterprise Annuities Plan are held separately from those of the Group in
an independently administered fund. The amount charged to profit or loss
during the year under such arrangement amounted to RMB9,730,000
(2022: RMB10,386,000).

As at 31 December 2023, no contributions (2022: nil) due in respect of
the year ended 31 December 2023 had not been paid over to the plans.
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13. EF -EERTHAXZME 13. DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF

EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS

BECBCSETIACH-ALER BE-F-CE-A=t-ALEE
Year ended 31 December 2023 Year ended 31 December 2022
b LILES ABHT
FHR  RRRE  KEH  EMKE EMn EERE Gl BuE
BR  RftbE () RfkE  HEBA it BER Abus %) EfhE  EEA it
Performance Performance
related Retirement related Retirement
Salaries  incentive Other benefit Salaries incentive Other Denefit
and other  payments  benefits scheme andother  payments  benefits  scheme
Fee  benefits (Note)  received  contributions Total Fee  benefits Notg) ~ received  contributions Total
ABRFT ARRFT ARRFT ARRFT  ARRFT ABRFT ARSFr JBEFrT AREFT AREFT AEEFT AREFT
RMBD00  RMBO0O  RMBD00  RMBOAY  RMBU0O  RMBVO0  ALBUI)  RMBUOO  AWBOA - RMBUO  AMBUM  AWBUMD
hfias Executive directors
EA LUO Yuguang - 51 - - 60 631 - all - - 57 628
FRRG(-F--FLAZTAEE)  YASUTA Tatsuya lappointed on 30
July 2021) - 349 - 298 - 647 - 330 - 204 - h34
BIB(ZSZZENAZTERERE)  NAKAMURA Osamu (appointed on
25 Aug 2022) - - - - - - - - - - - -
RERR(ZFZZENAZTIRE  KIUIMA Katsuya lappointed on 25
fr) Aug 2022) - - - - - - - - - - - -
3R LI Juxing - 457 - - 60 517 - 457 - - b7 b4
(i XU Song - 457 - - 60 517 - 457 - - b7 b14
PR LI Xiaodong - 1] - - 60 517 - 47 - - 57 514
EE% (CEZZENAZTHEE  MASUDA Yoich resigned on 25 Aug
2022) - - - - - - - - - - - -
\KEA( FZCENECTRAE  YAGI Naoto resigned on 25 Aug
] m) 5 = = = = . - - - - - -
- 2,9 - 298 40 2809 - 201 - 204 18 2704
BUANAES Independent non-executive directors
g2 LONG Tao 120 - - - - 120 10 - - - - 10
RN SONG Xiaojiang 120 - - - - 120 10 = = S e 10
#Rh LIU Tianni 1 - - - - 120 10 - - - - 10
4R LIUErh Fei 120 - - - - 120 120 - - - - 120
I = = 5 5 480 180 5 s s s 180
g8 Supervisors
& MIN Qing - 4 107 - 50 203 - 4 107 - b7 210
#B PU Qing - I % - 5t 192 - £ 9 - 5 1%
- 88 206 - 101 395 - 8 206 - m 406
480 2319 206 298 3 3704 480 2,360 206 204 340 3590
" —aa ] ] = = =
Wz NEBE HREEERHTESHNEREE Note: The performance related incentive payment is determined by reference

to the individual performance of the supervisors and the executive
director, approved by the remuneration committee (composed of an
executive director and four independent non-executive directors).

EBE IMFMESS(Hm—BRTEER
MMABILIFTERAER)HZ
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13. EF EFRTTHASM:
(#&)

ZHARD(REZERESR) SRR RIEKIE
RITEITITRAREE M EXEEZHFHE
EREEETRAERRTRE 2 RG M SF2
RN o

BT =FRZTE-_F+-A=+—HIt
FE  BRPMatEBEZTEESRR) KB
RESTEEREAESR)  EAB —EER
NREALEIN  BBEEEREEREFRSZ
B o

AEF—EHAZARDEEEERBEFRE
&= - BYFIENETEE A AR 298,0005T
ZEZZF : AR®204,0007T) ©

AAREMATEEREFOME HRERE
BARNE R EME A B EHAR AR M
SATROEREN -

ARRBLIFMTEROME T ERWEIER
AAFEEFTRM ARG S S ETRBH

FR - AEEBERNARRESNEST NI
A& e ARSI B S AR E B S /E A H B
HECE=—=F : 8 -

LEFHMESHRT

AREFRUMESESALF (T ==
F ) ARTEERES  REREE=-F
CEFERZE_—F+-A=+—AHLFEN
Bl B LU E o

14. BAZELRE

BEFBEER AR  AEERFBRKIHSE
BABEETEMERERPHRBEEFIN10%
(HEEEEMNEEBAE)BALES (BE
—MBABERCEEEES(WER)) < AFE
BHRABSEESHBEINSQARFMER
50% R MEER WA AR BHATEE
E R IBAIR A £k il (L A REE RN
INER - AEESERIBEATCREBLES
LAATRE 5 REE AR - BHEERAEEREBA
BEHETESERAEESEEAMELRD
25% ° L EBARRBEASHE -
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13. DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Mr. YASUTA Tatsuya (upon appointed as a director), who is general
manager of the Company and also assume the role as the chief executive
of the Company and his emoluments disclosed above include that for
services rendered by him as the chief executive.

Save as Mr. NAKAMURA Osamu (upon appointed as a director), Mr.
KIJIMA Katsuya (upon appointed as a director), Mr. MASUDA Yoichi
and Mr. YAGI Naoto, neither directors nor supervisors waived their
emoluments for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

The Group has been providing accommodation and recuperation to Mr.
YASUTA Tatsuya at no charge. The estimation money value of the benefit
in kind is RMB298,000 (2022: RMB204,000).

The emoluments of the Company's other executive directors and
supervisors are paid for their services in connection with the management
of the affairs of the Company and its subsidiaries.

The emoluments of the Company’s independent non-executive directors
are paid for their services as directors of the Company.

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors
and supervisors of the Company as an inducement to join or as
compensation for loss of office (2022: nil).

Five highest paid employees

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, 5
individuals (2022: 5 individuals) were executive directors and supervisors
whose emoluments for the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 are
included in the disclosure above.

14. TRANSFER TO STATUTORY SURPLUS RESERVE
FUND

Pursuant to the relevant laws in the PRC, each of the group entities
established in the PRC is required to transfer 10% of its profit after tax
as per statutory financial statements (as determined by the management
of the group entities) to the reserve fund (including the general reserve
fund and enterprise development fund where appropriate). The general
reserve fund is discretionary when the fund balance reaches 50% of
the registered capital of the respective entity and can be used to make
up for previous years' losses or, expand the existing operations or can
be converted into additional capital of the respective entity. Each of the
group entities may capitalise the statutory surplus reserve fund by way
of bonus issues provided that the remaining amount of statutory surplus
reserve fund after such distribution shall not be less than 25% of the
registered capital of each of the group entities. The amount shall be
submitted to shareholders’ general meeting for approval.
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15. BAEELE® 15. TRANSFER TO DISCRETIONARY SURPLUS
RESERVE FUND
CECCFRIBCCFHERTEMRIERE No amount was appropriated to the discretionary reserve fund in 2023
EEAES - AR¥2,347,000L2EERTE and 2022. The balance of RMB2,347,000 in the discretionary reserve
SEBRBHBA Tﬁfﬁﬁﬁﬁ/\ﬂﬁirhﬂﬂl fund was the amount appropriated by a subsidiary, Qingling Moulds, in
ARG RAARERELBHERRE 2R previous years at a percentage of the profit after tax of the respective
HesfETaskBrremE - years in accordance with PRC GAAP and Articles of Association of

Qingling Moulds.

16. B2 16. DIVIDENDS
—EB_=HF —ET-—F
2023 2022
ARETT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB 000
REEWRBIIAARE Dividends recognised as distribution
during the year:
:2::$3EHHH“ B BRk—ZT(ZF=_=-F : = 2022 Final, paid - nil (2022: 2021 Final,
—FEREARE - BIR—BRARK0.117T) paid — RMBO0.11) per share - 273,050

ZEC=FHE  ARARUEALTARRKRRS No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders of the
N EEINRE - BREHEREDSER Company during 2023, nor has any dividend been proposed since the end
BXNEARE(CEZZF: &) - of the reporting period (2022: nil).
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17. BREGE 17. LOSS PER SHARE
AAEEEFE ARESRERNBERE T The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to owners of the
BERETHE - Company is based on the following data:
-] Loss
—=E=-= TEC
2023 2022
AR¥TFiT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
UG E &R EAEE 2 E5iE Loss for the purpose of basic
(KR RaEERFE ARLFESR) loss per share (loss for the year
attributable to owners of the
Company) (54,269) (14,575)
Ein& A Number of shares
—EBC-=S B
2023 2022
T FRE
‘000 ‘000
UG E TR EAEE 2R H & E Number of shares for the purpose of
basic loss per share 2,482,268 2,482,268
Hﬂﬁé$@\ﬁjﬁ:%:£¢)§i:;§::$i’;}ﬁﬁ_ No diluted loss per share was presented as there were no potential
?EM\E‘J?@E%@% R 2 5 R E ordinary shares in issue for both 2023 and 2022.
E (<
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE_FE_=FF+_H=1—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

n‘/-ﬁ

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

BR-BE RULRE
#¥ R Rl RE EEIR it
Moulds,  Furniture,
plantand fixtures and Motor Construction
Buildings  machinery equipment vehicles in progress Total
AEBFT AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFTL
RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB000
ﬁﬁtﬁ CoST
W-Z--_F—F—H At 1 January 2022 679,340 3,719,221 90,079 14,372 234,520 4,737,532
hE Additions = = = = 157,714 157,714
BRATETR Transfer from construction in
progress 8,179 24,992 - 1,773 (34,944) =
RE Disposals - (909) (716) - - (1,624)
RZZE-Z=F+=FA=+—H At 31 December 2022 687,519 3,743,304 89,364 16,145 357,290 4,893,622
NE Additions - - - - 117,347 117,347
BEATRIRE Transfer from construction in
progress 5,786 102,080 6,432 3,170 (117,468) =
RE Disposals - (12,084) = (108) - (12,192)
RZZE-=F+=-F=+—H At 31 December 2023 693,305 3,833,300 95,796 19,207 357,169 4,998,777
HEREE DEPRECIATION AND
IMPAIRMENT
W-Z-—%#—F—H At 1 January 2022 505,067 3,109,839 65,492 9,576 - 3,689,974
FEWERE Depreciation provided for the
year 8,760 38,596 3475 1,054 - 51,885
B Eliminated on disposals - (815) (643) - - (1,458)
RZZZZF+ZA=F+—H At31 December 2022 513827 3,147,620 68,324 10,630 - 3,740,401
FEWERE Depreciation provided for the
year 9,011 42,237 4,102 1,599 - 56,949
RE R Eliminated on disposals - (10,868) (97) = = (10,965)
RZZTZ=F+=ZA=+—H At 31 December 2023 522,838 3,178,989 72,426 12,132 - 3,786,385
IRME{E CARRYING VALUES
RZZE-=F+-A=+—H At31 December 2023 170,467 654,311 23,370 7,075 357,169 1,212,392
RZZE-=F+-FA=+—H At 31 December 2022 173,692 595,684 21,040 51515 357,290 1,153,221
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BE_FE_=F+_H=1—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

18. W3 - BE B Ek i (%)

LaE  BERSEERIENEREE
R RRARIN MG REF RISREERR
THEETAIME R FHABRE T ANE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

The above items of property, plant and equipment, except for
construction in progress and specialised production facilities and moulds,
are depreciated on a straight-line basis based on their estimated useful
lives, after taking into account the estimated residual value, as follows:

{&st AT FirEE

Estimated Residual

useful lives value

gF 204F 10%
Buildings 20 years

A - B Res (EREEREIEERIN 5E10%F 10%
Moulds, plant and machinery (other than 51to 10 years

specialised production facilities and moulds)

B - KB R 5 10%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5 years

AE 54 10%
Motor vehicles 5 years

ARENEERAMINETLEEAAR
#261,610,000.00L(ZZT=——F : ARK
266,232,0000) MEREERELER (BE
RRA  BERERE) H2ENERERER
BT EESE TUAITE -

FREFESHEA

AEERBELAHETRZERERESF -
ZEHRENERPRBE A1 E3F(ZE_=
F1RE3IF)  ZEHEHTREUEREN
o MEMRKLEHENET - BE - BE
MR ERE(E A ARKE91,014,000L(=ZF
— =% : AR#90,405,0007T) °

3R 2023 ANNUAL REPORT

Specialised production facilities and moulds with aggregate carrying
amount of RMB261,610,000.00 (2022: RMB266,232,000) included in
moulds, plant and machinery which can be identified in relation to specific
production processes are depreciated by reference to the expected

production volume of these facilities and moulds.

The Group as lessor

The Group leases out a number of equipment under operating leases.
The leases typically run for an initial period of 1 to 3 years (2022: 1 to 3
years). None of the leases includes variable lease payments. The carrying
value of the moulds, plant and machinery under operating leases at the
end of the reporting period is RMB91,014,000 (2022: RMB90,405,000).
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BE_FE_=FF+_H=1—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

19. (FHEEE 19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
HELHl BEREFT i3 #at
Warehouse
Leasehold and
lands  buildings Equipment Total
AREFT AREFT AREFT ARETFT
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AZEZ=F+=A=+—H At 31 December 2023
FREE Carrying amount 18,100 29,885 5,404 63,389
R-ZE-—F+-A=+—H At 31 December 2022
IREE Carrying amount 19,009 32,405 9,712 61,126
HEZT-_=F+-"A=+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2023
FELE Depreciation charge 909 13,882 2,970 17,761
HE-_ZT-—F+-A=+—HILEE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022
HTESE Depreciation charge 950 18,870 4,042 23,862
—E-= —E-—F
2023 2022
AR¥TFiT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BT HATR A B R & A Expense relating to short-term leases 6,252 656
HERS R AR Total cash outflow for leases 24,238 24,109
RNEFREEE Additions to right-of-use assets 13,091 40,250
HEFRAEEE Disposals of right-of-use assets 3,067 =

RZEFE  AEBHERAE @ EEMIER
REEBEE - HEARMNET IR A31E A
BIF(ZT-_—F : 3EAE3IF) - MEKR
EEERER EHEA - BESETRAKBK
A o 7 e E 7 B HARR AN ATt 1 AT IRl 2R
B AEBEFERERNTEE  WHETESRATH
TTHARR ©

RUWBZSYEERE —RMENTANK - &
FERES R SEL0 D BB O 300 - 25 H M
EWHELHEO T EBZT -

AREBEDRSMEEE L ey i E AR

E
=

For both years, the Group leases warehouses and buildings and
equipment for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed
term of 3 months to 3 years (2022: 3 months to 3 years). Lease terms
are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different
terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the
length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a
contract and determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire these property
interests. The leasehold lands components of these owned properties are

presented separately only if the payments made can be allocated reliably.

The Group has obtained the land use right certificates for all leasehold
lands.

B85 AE D AR A R] Qingling Motors Co. Ltd
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BE T _=—F+_H=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

19. EREREG)

AEETHEITRESHAY R -_=F
FZE-_F+-A=+—10 ZHHEEHESE
MmN E SRRy MR BEE
HEEU -

HESHRHXKE
WHN RZZE-=F+-A=+—H ' AR

35,861,000t K HE & (&8 A R #35,289,000
THEETRREERR(ZTE_F -
AR®42,173,000cMHEGERARK
42,117,0007cHIMERA{E AREEERR) ° it
AAFENHEEETHERESI  HE
FTEINE A EARIE - HEEETSAER
TJ\FH 4}5’]3‘:1% ©
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19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for warehouse. As
at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the portfolio of short-term leases is
similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to which the short-term lease
expense disclosed above.

Restrictions or covenants on leases

In addition, lease liabilities of RMB35,861,000 are recognised with related
right-of-use assets of RMB35,289,000 as at 31 December 2023 (2022:
lease liabilities of RMB42,173,000 are recognised with related right-of-
use assets of RMB42,117,000). The lease agreements do not impose
any covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets that
are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.
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BE_T_=—F+_HA=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

$%?ﬁzi‘<‘%7ﬂ’ﬁﬁ_§ﬂﬁﬂ ST L FEF - The Group leases out certain leasehold lands and buildings under
MERALZMN - HAO—RETELAIF(ZZ operating leases with fixed rentals payable monthly. The leases typically

TTF I 35F)

run for a fixed period of 3 years (2022: 3 years).

HEARTE SREERM SEAFRAEHE The lease contracts do not contain residual value guarantee and/or

HRRESBRYENESE -

lessee’s option to purchase the property at the end of lease term.

HELH BF a5t
Leasehold
lands Buildings Total
ARMTFT AREFT AR¥TFr
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
R E COST
—E--HF+-A=t—H8K At 31 December 2022 and
—E-=F+-A=+—H 31 December 2023 14,715 125,961 140,676
nE DEPRECIATION
i =y < At 1 January 2022 7,912 113,529 121,441
FERE Provided for the year 279 = 279
W—ZE-—_—F+=-HF=+—H At 31 December 2022 8,191 113,529 121,720
FERE Provided for the year 279 = 279
WZZE—_=F+=-F=+—H At 31 December 2023 8,470 113,529 121,999
REE CARRYING VALUES
W—ZE-_=F+=-F=+—8H At 31 December 2023 6,245 12,432 18,677
W-_ZE-_—_F+=-A=+—H At 31 December 2022 6,524 12,432 18,956

B85 AE D AR A R] Qingling Motors Co. Ltd
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20. BREMEGE

A EREMEMRTE - HERRTEHR -
Tt RIERT RIS EERL A B RRIRE A5
AERESE W

20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

The above investment properties are situated in the PRC held under
medium leases term and are depreciated on a straight-line basis based
on their estimated useful lives, after taking into account the estimated
residual value, as follows:

&5t Estimated
ATRAER  FEREE useful lives Residual value
HETH 50 0% Leasehold lands 50 years 0%
BgF 20%F 10% Buildings 20 years 10%

AEBREWENR T _=F+-_A=+—8H
ZAREBEAREARA4S929, 0007u(f$::
& 1 AR#48,929,0007T) ° RABETIIEE
EARE B ERE B (HEMEREREE
FEtEwEGEERETAR(CE_Z
F BEEFEEIELHEMEGEBERE
FEARNIEHZHEETE °

RABETRBRAEEE - ERWEMRER
HABMHTISEE RIRE EMRIE BZ
BRMENTSRATETHERER - 15
HeH2EYEATEHEBLMREHNES AR
MR ENE LB RETTHE © BiR
E2ESMPEEERLUBEMENHER
HELH WS - ]Ii«‘qu&fF%%%xé%E’Jm%ﬁ
HIETEE R TIABETE - WRMAEEREY %
HRE R Eﬁit—ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ’\]ﬁ@ﬁiﬂﬁtt'
I AR

WE.:H@%Z/“ME{EM M7 fxm RERE
R REBEATAR

REBNREMEBURER 2P REA -
RZE-_=F+=-A=+— EIE!’J’ hEES
BE=ZM(ZFT__F =8 RhEER
AR¥48,929,000(ZE=—F : AR
48,929,0007T) °
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The fair value of the Group's investment properties at 31 December 2023
was RMB48,929,000 (2022: RMB48,929,000). The fair value has been
arrived at based on a valuation carried out by B EEFEEEF G HibE
EMEBREMTARF(2022: EEEREET G TEHEGEAREER

Al), independent valuers not connected with the Group.

The fair value was determined based on the income approach, where
the market rentals of all lettable units of the properties are assessed and
discounted at the market yield expected by investors for this type of
properties. The market rentals are assessed by reference to the rentals
achieved in the lettable units of the properties as well as other lettings of
similar properties in the neighbourhood. The discount rate is determined
by reference to the yields derived from analysing the sales transactions
of similar commercial properties in Chongging China and adjusted to take
into account the market expectation from property investors to reflect
factors specific to the Group's investment properties. There has been no
change from the valuation technique used in the prior year.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use of
the properties is their current use.

The Group's investment properties are office units located in Chongging.
The fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2023 is Level 3 (2022: Level 3)
and the fair value is RMB48,929,000 (2022: RMB48,929,000).
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21. EEE 21. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
HirERE EEEERK et
Production
Technology management
transfer fees system Total
AR T ARETFT AREFT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
5% X COST
W-_E-——F—H—H At 1 January 2022 640,366 40,637 681,003
A= Additions - 3,837 3,837
W—ZE-_—F+=-HF=+—8H At 31 December 2022 640,366 44,474 684,840
NE Additions - 2,499 2,499
RZE_=F+_A=+—H At 31 December 2023 640,366 46,973 687,339
1] AMORTISATION
RZZE-_—_F—H—H At 1 January 2022 460,224 31,120 491,344
FERE Provided for the year 32,081 6,418 38,499
RZZE—=—F+=A=+—H At 31 December 2022 492,305 37,538 529,843
FERME Provided for the year 32,081 5,510 37,591
RZZE==F+=A=+—H At 31 December 2023 524,386 43,048 567,434
REE CARRYING VALUES
RZZE==F+=A=+—H At 31 December 2023 115,980 3,925 119,905
RZZE-=_F+=-A=+—H At 31 December 2022 148,061 6,936 154,997

Payments of technology transfer fees, representing lump sum royalties
— o 14 2 4 under technology transfer agreements with Isuzu Motors Limited
ﬁ?gﬁgﬁéﬁlggiﬂ’;%”i@i?@igfg ("Isuzu”, the substantial shareholder of the Company), are capitalised as
&= - jﬁ;;ﬁ ?T@Eﬁﬁiﬁﬂ/\?‘%i +’ i/}éﬁ intangible assets and are amortised over the license period ranging from
4 . EEI&;T};HEAEE%WAE BEl o *E;T?Zmﬁ?} 5 ten years to thirteen years, commencing from the use of the technologies

. S5 [t it 48 25 T A : in production. Continuing royalties payable to Isuzu under the technology
Tﬁ%g}i;i?ﬁ‘i—ﬁziﬁﬁ’]?ﬂ%,\TJE’\‘EEH% transfer agreements are charged to profit or loss when incurred.

BREER+RTEARABD(E+R] - %A

The production management system has an estimated useful life of
three to ten years and is expected to generate economic benefits to the
Company in the foreseeable future.

EE B ZSEMNA RS R RAR R HIRE
BEMEREFRFIEI0F o

BE%RERMHAMR AR Qingling Motors Co. Ltd 139
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22. RBERRZHED

22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

—EB-=H T F
2023 2022
AR¥TFT AREFr
RMB’000 RMB’'000

REEERZRERA - RET
DEBERRZ WG - HREEIRKE

RBERR - AEBEZBECEFBEOTH
N

Cost of investment in

associates, unlisted 55,333 55,333
Share of post-acquisition

profit of associates, net of

dividends declared (10,971) (11,541)

44,362 43,792

Details of the Group's associates at the end of the reporting period are as
follows:

ERzh ERES HMBIHE TEEBME FEMEHCHALA BHECRFRRLA TEEE
Form of Place of Principal place  Proportion of equity interests Portion of Principle
Name of entities entity establishment of operation held by the Group voting power held activities
ot} —Toof ZBIE “E-F
2023 2022 2023 2022
BHRER(ER) ERTREERAT i HE Gl 25% 5% 2% 5% KR
(R TRERRITRE ) (i)
ITHER(ER) ERIREERAR Incorporated  The PRC The PRC 5% 25% 5% 25% Technical
(“Isuzu Qingling Engineering”) (Note ()) development
BRERZERAA EaliA tF i 49% 49% 49% 49% REHE
(BERER) W)
ERERBARAA Incorporated  The PRC The PRC 49% 49% 49% 49%  Sale of trucks
("Qingling Shinerary") (Note (b))
Kiat - Notes:
(a) fﬁﬂ'ﬁ%%ﬁ%&ﬁisﬁﬁsﬁﬁé‘? B A, 37 ) HR A (a) Isuzu Qingling Engineering is a sino-foreign joint venture established
BER%- in the PRC.
(b) BREBRANTBKIHTESEDE - (b) Qingling Shinerary is a domestic joint venture in the PRC.

T B ERBI R AR BN GRS ER
R BELEMBERERAZ| 225 -

A A RELR A M B MR T RAEDRIEZ

3R 2023 ANNUAL REPORT

The summarised financial information below represents amounts shown
in the associate’s financial statements prepared in accordance with
HKFRSs.

The associate is accounted for using equity method in these consolidated
financial statements.
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22. PHELEZEI(E) 22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)
A+REBRHE AR Isuzu Qingling Engineering
—EB-=HF T —F
2023 2022
ARTFIT AR¥TFr
RMB’000 RMB’'000
MENEE Current assets 37,072 38,789
IERBEE Non-current assets 2,947 1,392
nEEE Current liabilities (1,051) (2,699)
ERBAE Non-Current liabilities = -
Wz Revenue 18,985 23,647
FREAN RERE W EEE Profit and total
comprehensive income for
the year 1,486 1,420
AEED A TRERFTINTHAZEET Group's share of profit of
Isuzu Qingling Engineering 371 355

B85 AE D AR A R] Qingling Motors Co. Ltd 141
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22. PHELEZEI(E) 22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

R+ ESRHEWwEAE (8 Isuzu Qingling Engineering (Continued)

LB E R E BN RRAR S SRR ER Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
FOES i D RERE R IR EE A AR - carrying amount of the interest in the associate recognised in the

consolidated financial statements:

—E-=% —E-F
2023 2022
AR®TTT ARETFT
RMB’000 RMB'000
R+ ESREIMRREEFE Net assets of Isuzu Qingling
Engineering 38,968 37,482
AEBERAHRER AR EAERERL A Proportion of the Group's
ownership interest in Isuzu
Qingling Engineering 25% 25%
REES A HRBRPIMAREEFE The Group's share of net
assets of Isuzu Qingling
Engineering 9,742 9,371
REBEMFRHRERBINAEERNEDE Carrying amount of the
Group's interest in Isuzu
Qingling Engineering 9,742 9,371

142 3% 2023 ANNUAL REPORT



e R ERAR MR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE_T_=—F+_HA=+—HIFE
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22. PHELEZEI(E) 22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)
BRER Qingling Shinerary
- S - 3 —EICF
2023 2022
ABREFTT AR¥TFr
RMB’000 RMB’000
MENEE Current assets 69,722 94,520
ERBEE Non-current assets 1,269 1,459
nBEE Current liabilities (338) (23,954)
ERBEE Non-Current liabilities = -
e Revenue 64,431 136,381
AEEEERGE T LB Loss and total comprehensive
expenses for the year (1,372) (15,702)
AEEHHERBRZEE Group's share of loss of
Qingling Shinerary (672) (7,694)
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22. PBIERRZER (1)
W ()

15 P 48 B 75 A A B AR & B 7S ek o AR Y
e EERREEEETHER

22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Qingling Shinerary (Continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
carrying amount of the interest in the associate recognised in the

consolidated financial statements:

kSl 3 T F
2023 2022
ARETFTT ARBFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BRERFEE Net assets of Qingling
Shinerary 70,653 72,025
AEBTEERSROMAEERLG Proportion of the Group's
ownership interest in
Qingling Shinerary 49% 49%
REETEERSRFEETHNE Group's share of net assets of
Qingling Shinerary 34,620 35,292
AR IR FIEL 2 A Adjustments for unrealised
profit - (871)
REBTEERSRTE=MRAER Carrying amount of the
Group's interest in Qingling
Shinerary 34,620 34,421
REBLEZES 23. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
AEERGE LR ZREFBITAR - Details of the Group's investments in joint ventures are as follows:
ot S T —F
2023 2022
ARETTT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
REEDEZIRERA - REM Cost of investment in joint
ventures, unlisted 368,639 368,639
PMEEEEEWEEEEHBREETRRL) Share of post-acquisition
results of joint ventures, net
of dividends declared 112,784 117,887
481,423 486,526
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NREBLEZES (1] 23. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)
KRB =FR=_F-__F+=-A=+—H" As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group had interests in the
AEBERTIEEDEPEEER following joint ventures:

f {24 ERES HMSIEE FEESHE FRERBZHRLE BHRCRRRLA TEEH

Place of Principal place  Proportion of equity interests Portion of Principle

Name of entities Form of entity establishment of operation held by the Group voting power held activities

ZBCZ “E--F  IBZZ “E-CE
2023 2022 2023 2022
EtRE)EBRERAT EaliA b7 i 19.33% 19.33% 19.33% 1933% EFELERS
AHRER( R TREDR ) W) ok 5
ITRPEEBRARRA Incorporated  The PRC The PRC 19.33% 19.33% 19.33% 19.33%  Manufacture of
("Isuzu Engine") (Note (a)) engines and
relevant parts
BRITR(ER)AE EEalA Gile? i 50.00% 50.00% 50.00% 50.00% ETEmiEiE
BERBERAF REpEE
(BERTITHRBE) W)
BRITR(ER) 2 RERKERAR Incorporated  The PRC The PRC 50.00% 50.00% 50.00% 50.00% Sale of lsuzu
("Qingling Isuzu Sales") (Note (b)) brand
automobiles
and autoparts

KiaF - Notes:

(a) ATREIUAE—BR_ZEZLFRALEF (a)  Isuzu Engine is a sino-foreign joint venture that was established in
B HRIINEERE  FENRFEEH the PRC in May 2007, and is principally engaged in manufacture of
LB HRRIE - A HRFEBHIMER engines and relevant parts. The registered capital of Isuzu Engine was
7324,260,000% 7t (AR%2,110,104,000 USD324,260,000 (RMB2,110,104,000), and each of Isuzu, Qingling
L) AR EREBRARATSREFE Group and the Company held 50.61%, 30.06% and 19.33% of equity
HF50.61% -~ 30. 06%&19 33%E’Jﬁﬁﬁ% interests, respectively, therein. The Company has joint control of
Hax o ANEEEMKR T REESHBERT arrangement with other two parties over Isuzu Engine by virtue of the
BREEBK - REA %7%?'JT§EE§’&T§$ contractual right to appoint one out of the seven directors to its board
SLEREFTH—F - HRAERAEEELSN of directors, whose decisions about the relevant activities require
RERALHZ NS T —HRAE - unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

(b) EHRATHREEA—HEAR-TZTNFENA (b)  Qingling Isuzu Sales is a sino-foreign joint venture that was established

FEREKINFINEGERE  T2HEH
ERTHMENTERSETHMH - HiF
fit & X £20,900,000% 7T + A AR R E R
AL EEE 10,450,000 T (AR
68,579,0007T) ° NN A S — 5 HEEH
MEBERATRIEE  BESHENTZRE
ZAREETENLEZHRHN=% - HIt/8
7‘%%1’&%@?&%@%&#\; THIENE T B

RECRURSREAASEERESHER
ERHAARERRNENREZZNERNR
i e

in the PRC in September 2008, and is principally engaged in selling
Isuzu brand automobiles and autoparts. The registered capital is
USD20,900,000 and the Company contributed USD10,450,000
(RMB68,579,000) to Qingling Isuzu Sales. The Company has joint control
of arrangement over Qingling Isuzu Sales by virtue of the contractual
right to appoint three out of the six directors to its board of directors,
whose decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.

There are no significant restrictions on the ability of joint ventures to
transfer funds to the Group in form of cash dividends, or to repay loans or
advances made by the Group.
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23. REELEZHERE () 23. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)
SELE MR T Summarised financial information of the joint ventures
AEEESEECMBERNMEZEHINAT - Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group's joint
TES AR ERIERIER AV IEIREER ventures is set out below. The summarised financial information below
REZEECEMBRERMET 225 - represents amounts shown in the joint ventures’ financial statements

prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

BEPERLFLRE MBHREAFEAEREY The joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method in these
iR o consolidated financial statements.
A1 REE Isuzu Engine
—E=HF —E-_4F
2023 2022
ARETFTT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
MEVEE Current assets 1,425,330 1,508,152
ERBEE Non-current assets 1,132,353 1,120,822
mEAE Current liabilities (251,126) (258,554)
ERBBE Non-current liabilities (135,820) (162,884)
BEFE Net assets 2,170,737 2,207,536
T EERBESBEEUNTSE The above amounts of assets and
liabilities include the following:
ReERRESEEY Cash and cash equivalents 1,111,230 1,057,809
nEemBRECNRERENKIER Current financial liabilities (excluding
E A fETFRIE R B ) trade and other payables and
provisions) (5,554) (5,792)
EnBerRAECTEERNTIER Non-current financial liabilities
HAth ET FRIE R B ) (excluding trade and other
payables and provisions) (126,235) (110,148)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

23. REELEZHEI(E) 23. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)
SELEZMBEHEBEE(8) Summarised financial information of the joint ventures (Continued)
BB EEHE) Isuzu Engine (Continued)
—EBZ=HF T
2023 2022
ARETTT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB'000
Wz Revenue 817,021 814,453
FRmN RiRE W58 Profit and total comprehensive
income for the year 1,933 46,301
MARREIREAARZHARE Dividends declared to and received
by the Company 7,607 13,076
T FEEFBEATSIEA The above profit for the year include
the following:
e R Depreciation and amortisation 82,675 80,948
FELA Interest income 47,533 46,180
FriSiii e Income tax credit (914) (246)
bt 2 B B R AR A B TSR R R A Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the

RATHRES WS 2 REEOHE

carrying amount of the interest i
consolidated financial statements:

n Isuzu Engine recognised in the

—EC=HF —E-—4F

2023 2022

ARSTFIT AREFT

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR EPREEFE Net assets of Isuzu Engine 2,170,737 2,207,536
REBRA A T8l 2 A=A Proportion of the Group’s ownership

interest in Isuzu Engine 19.33% 19.33%

FEARZ IR FEL 2 A Adjustments for unrealised profit (2,267) (2,148)

REBEER LB 2 ERAREE Carrying amount of the Group's
interest in Isuzu Engine 417,336 424,569

573
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23. REELEZER (W)

23. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

SELREZMBEEHE (] Summarised financial information of the joint ventures (Continued)
B R 898E Qingling Isuzu Sales
—E-= TEC 4
2023 2022
ARETFTT ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
MENEEE Current assets 177,392 132,477
ERBEE Non-current assets 7,932 8,698
mRENBE Current liabilities (50,758) (10,443)
FERBAG Non-current liabilities (7,068) (7,494)
MENEE Net assets 127,498 123,238
T EERABEBEAENATNEE The above amounts of assets and
liabilities include the following:
RERREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 116,913 115,978
nBERE & EEEMNFIER Current financial liabilities (excluding
H AT RIE R B E) trade and other payables and
provisions) - -
EnBERAEMN BREENRIER Non-current financial liabilities
H b FE FRIE R ) (excluding trade and other
payables and provisions) - -
Wiz Revenue 85,866 17,910
FRE | LR W858 Profit and total comprehensive
income for the year 4,260 2,361
EMFERFBFEATEE The above profit for the year include
the following:
e R Depreciation and amortisation 763 1,271
FEMA Interest income 3,976 4,153
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NREeELECHE (T 23. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)
SELEZMBEZIEEE () Summarised financial information of the joint ventures (Continued)
BT 20 E (1F) Qingling Isuzu Sales (Continued)

bt 2 B B R AR A B TS R R R A Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
RERTTREEER 2 RAENEE carrying amount of the interest in Qingling Isuzu Sales recognised in the
consolidated financial statements:

—B_=F —EICF
2023 2022
AR®FT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB 000
BRATREEEETE Net assets of Qingling Isuzu Sales 127,498 123,238
REBERERATIRHEE 2 A ERERL Proportion of the Group's ownership
interest in Qingling Isuzu Sales 50% 50%
ARG IR FIEL 2 A Adjustments for unrealised loss 338 338
REBEERATIREE 2 2 ERREE Carrying amount of the Group's
interest in Qingling Isuzu Sales 64,087 61,957
24, BERIGEE 24. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
B AMBRAERYME BT EERIEBES For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of financial
ENGEDFIEY - LWTAESRBREL position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset. The
RIEAEL DT ¢ following is the analysis of deferred tax balances for reporting purposes:
—E-=f —E-fF
2023 2022
AR®FT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB 000
EETRREE Deferred tax assets 59,822 53,779
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w'_ﬁ

24. BEREE (18)

LATF‘%$%@EA$$F&Z%¢FEE§EZI
ERETRIREE N ABAREREEE

24. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (CONTINUED)

The following are the major deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised
and movements thereon during the current and prior years:

BERR
Rftk BhERR
TR Bt iR
GRR%  WERE MARR BERN 0 NAFE  BENE GRNEE  HRGR BR O BHER  BRER ]
Trade
receivables
ECLof Accrual and
trade Wrte- for finance
andother  Impaiment down  seling  Accclerated  Deferred  Right-of Lease |ease
receivables onproperties ofinventories  rebates  depreciaion  income  useassets  liability Inventories receivables  Tax losses Total
AT AREFT ARETT AREFT ARETT AREFT ARETL AREFT ARETR AREFT ARETR ARETL
AUBORD  AVBOD  AYBOR  AMBUD  AUBOND  RMBU)  RUBOID  AMBUM  RUBOI  AMBUM  AWBOM  AMBUM
RIFZZFFZAZT-A A January 2022 i U IV Y T 7/ A Y I 1 s - B 138
R HR) Credted (charged) o proft o loss 1509 - 1,3%) - 4 B3 Qe 26 = B LTS ) 1)
RS2 FTA=1T-A At31 December 2022 frestated)
(&) 2087 0 10%8  8gd (434 B3y 63 - - B W
HERAGR) (Charged) credited to profitorlss (1) - Al 18 (11299 (126 1,0 o7 7m0 R T 6043
R-E-ZE+2AZ1-B At3! December 2023 1643 0 950 10808 (3660 63 B 539 TSR R BT B8

RBEHR  AEEHEBEEBEBEBARE
488,513,000 (ZZE-—_F : AR
368,845,0007T) A AR S AR 2R A © sZ &8
BEHRBECHBEE -

3R 2023 ANNUAL REPORT

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had tax losses of
RMB488,513,000 (2022: RMB368,845,000) available for offsetting
against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised of such
losses.
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25. 8 25. INVENTORIES
kSl 3 T CF
2023 2022
ABRFIT ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
R Raw materials 623,626 585,265
FEE Work in progress 289,116 286,215
RURK i Finished goods 405,671 547,355
1,318,413 1,418,835

26. FBULARRR - UL R iE & K fnfE
BRIRRAMTRIA

RBEMR - AEBZ BUERR - BEEERK
H At YR R B FORANT

26. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
PREPAYMENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s trade, bills and other
receivables and prepayments are as follows:

—EB-= T
2023 2022
ARETFIT ARMTFT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
FEUER FURME FA 1B Trade receivables, less allowance for
credit losses 271,184 116,900
e Bills receivables 831,289 845,821
EAh R IER (S 1B R B Other receivables, less allowance for
credit losses 161,972 203,831
R RTE 5RIB Prepayments for raw materials 140,107 170,935
AR [ BT Value-added tax recoverable 8,723 50,054
W B RV E BB 1B HE (i) Grants receivable, less allowance for
credit losses (Note) 163,640 169,940
1,576,915 1,657,481

W - RZE_=F+=-RA=+—HRZZ=-=F
+—A=+—8 ABRIBANEBKET
SRRRLE M R B B TR T B B A0 AR 1 AN #
B (F7E7) - At - BUREBIR =T ==F
+ZA=+—BRZT=F+ZA=+—
AR -

Note: As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, there was reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attached and
the grants under the hydrogen fuel cell vehicles subsidiaries (Note 7).
Hence a grant receivable was recognised as at 31 December 2023 and
31 December 2022.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

26. BULARRR - BURiE R K fnfE
Wr % IR B TR £+ R O (#68)

RIE-_=ZF+-_A=+—HBRZZ=-=F
+ A=+—0 BEPANFEANEKIER
DRIAARE271,184,0007T FIRE & E1EE
B AR #1,108,0007T) X AR #116,900,000
TR EE 1B ARYE2,164,0007T) °

RAEE - AABAEBASBNFTARER
PEIIENAH - BEMBERLF - ARFIR
BEEANAABEIERGREEEERAE
L

26. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, trade receivables from contracts with
customers amounted to RMB271,184,000 (net of allowance for credit
losses of RMB1,108,000) and RMB116,900,000 (net of allowance for
credit losses of RMB2,164,000), respectively.

During the current year, the Company entered into several contracts
with customers in structured installment methods, with a fixed term of
5 years. The Company determines the revenue amount according to the
contract's fair value or agreement price receivable.

k- - e 3 T CF
2023 2022
AR®TIT ARETFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FEUBR R BLIE Trade receivables comprise:
—FR Within one year 225,298 =
—FUEETEBRRT Within a period of more than one
years but not exceeding five years 45,886 -
271,184 -

RZFZZF—A—8  BEFaRBESRR
AK#102,810,0007T (F1kr AR #2,695,000
TLERIBREME) -

HEEMZEREPRTIERIE6MEA @ BRE
BB ARRINEERRIF) »

3R 2023 ANNUAL REPORT

As at 1 January 2022, trade receivables from contracts with customers
amounted to RMB102,810,000 (net of allowance for credit losses of
RMB2,695,000).

The credit period granted on sales of goods is mainly from 3 to 6 months
except for the subsidiaries of Qingling Group, to which a credit period of
1 year were granted.
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e SR IR B TR Bk 0A (#8)
SR - ARERSBBR 2 HEAH

( ﬁ%ﬁﬂﬂlmﬁ?’éwlﬂiﬁﬁ T) 2512 FRMARR -
R ERIBRERR - RieDITAT
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26. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

At the end of the reporting period, the aged analysis of the Group’s
trade receivables, net of allowance for credit losses, presented based on
invoice dates at the end of the reporting period, which approximated the
respective revenue recognition dates, is as follows:

—E-= e —

2023 2022

ARSFT AR¥TFr

RMB’000 RMB’'000

3ME A AR Within 3 months 156,244 97,960
3Z6{EAH Between 3 to 6 months 48,815 4,593
7&212{8 A Between 7 to 12 months 52,847 6,356
154 = Over 1 year 13,278 7,991
271,184 116,900

RBEMR - AEBRBETARZI 2 BKE
BERER O

At the end of the reporting period, the aged analysis of bills receivables of
the Group based on issue date is as follows:

—E-= T

2023 2022

ARSFT ARTFT

RMB’000 RMB’000

1E A LAA Within 1 month 389,320 315,809
1Z22{8 A Between 1 to 2 months 133,299 137,857
2231 A Between 2 to 3 months 131,577 120,004
3%6{EA Between 3 to 6 months 95,740 263,904
6x 1218 8 Between 6 to 12 months 81,353 8,247
831,289 845,821

LRSI RIRITARER - RRHAE
T—EAR -

MN-ZB-_=F+-_A=+—H st AKEEE
UTBR SR 45 64 B BR E 42 E A 96,903, 0007E
(_::::i AR#E5,396,0007T) © 2% 2IA

RikE BEIE B ﬁﬂfﬂﬁﬁuﬁmoa&ut
B AXANREA5,899,000(Z T -4 : A

R#¥1,428,00000) (A AZEEEART SR
BMHORBLRERALEE AL ERER
) TR EBEY - AEEWARZEER
SIBRESRIEA EMEA -

All the above bills receivables are guaranteed by banks and their maturity
dates are within 12 months.

As at 31 December 2023, included in the Group’s trade receivables
balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of RMB96,903,000
(2022: RMB5,396,000), which are past due as at the reporting date.
Out of the past due balances, an aggregate of RMB45,899,000 (2022:
RMB1,428,000) has been past due 90 days or more and are not
considered as in default, as these debtors normally fully settled the
outstanding balances subsequently with reference to the debtors’
settlement pattern. The Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances.
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26. BKIER  BlRREREME 26. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

I RIA R A RRIA (48) PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)
REREIR - AEEEURERR « HMEURGRIEA Included in the Group's trade and other receivables and prepayments at
FMEMNRERIERWEES 28 - 8En the end of the reporting period are amounts due from related parties as
™~ follows:
—=E=-= TEC
2023 2022
AREFIT ARTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
E+ie Isuzu - 100,000
EiEE Qingling Group 90,007 =
BREBENBAR Subsidiaries of Qingling Group 57,855 56,573
B A TR E Qingling Isuzu Sales 49,241 =
AR BH Isuzu Engine 2,413 15,437
f RS TR E Isuzu Qingling Engineering = 8
199,516 172,018
Yoz BREBEHAZATIA0%HIPRHE - Note: 40% equity interest of which is owned by Qingling Group.

it BB 5B R FE UL R 2 0B A IR The above amounts due from related parties are trade in nature,

REB o unsecured and interest-free.
-~ S 3 —EICF
2023 2022
ARETFIT ARETIT
RMB’000 RMB'000
BicEE Qingling Group - 83,960
J:}i AR S ER - EIEGR - BEREE The above amount was non-trade related, unsecured, and repayable on
2 demand.
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26. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

1 =% TR B T £+ BR 1A (#8) PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)
FAREENTELBEOT : The maximum amount outstanding during the year was as below:
—=== TET 4
2023 2022
ARETFIT AREFT
RMB'000 RMB'000
fg SE] Qingling Group 111,098 112,226

RIE-_=ZF+-_A=+—H  sTALEEE
N ERER IR R TE N 2 FUB
HARHE131,658,0007 (T - —F : AR
162,027,0007T) ©

FEMER - FEUR IR I HL At R WK IR AR E AT
2 FH BN HIFES6 ©

27. EHER
TEHRNIEI6EANBIE - MR EF
|:J:215%:|:3 99%(ZE-—F :2.15%

:?:4.180/0>

E B R R E RS FHIE H IOBRESG

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's prepayments include advance
payments to independent suppliers of batteries and steel amounting to
RMB131,658,000 (2022: RMB162,027,000).

Details of impairment assessment of trade, bills and other receivables are
set out in Note 36.

27. TIME DEPOSITS
The time deposits are with a term from more than 3 months to 36
months and carry interest at rates ranging from 2.15% to 3.99% (2022:

from 2.15% to 4.18%) per annum.

Details of impairment assessment of time deposits are set out in Note
36.
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28. BHEeRBE&EFERY 28. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
R1T4E A AR¥1,026,938,0000(ZFE - = Bank balances of RMB1,026,938,000 (2022: RMB971,830,000) carry
F: AR¥971,830,0000T) © HHHER XK interest at market rates, which ranging from 0.0001% to 1.80% (2022:

0.0001%E1.8%(—ZF - —4 : 0.0001% % 0.0001% to 1.90%) per annum.
1.90%)5H 8 °

LARBE R E RN IS NGRS B/ IR The bank balances and cash that are denominated in currencies other

TS EIREEIIWT than the functional currencies of the relevant group entities are set out
below:

—EB-= T —F
2023 2022
ABRETIT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
E(ES M) United Stated Dollar ("USD") 7,964 18,978
RETHED Japanese Yen (“JPY") 92,651 170,455
BT (Meoel) European Dollar (“EUR") 46 44
BT Hong Kong Dollar ("HKD") 132 130
TgE([HREE]) Great Britain Pound (“GBP") 3 3
100,796 189,610

29. EMFER  EAREREME 29. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER PAYABLES

TR
REBLHIR - ANEE Y EAED EREER At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s trade, bills and other
H b pEEIEI T payables are as follows:

—EC=HE —E-_4F

2023 2022

AR¥TFIT ARETFT

RMB’000 RMB’000

FES BRI S RN R 4E Trade and bills payables 1,471,366 1,570,470

JETSHEEM Selling expenses payables 139,802 171,483

H A SRR Other tax payables 3,774 2,375

A FIE (5 52) Other payables (Note) 160,378 229,217

1,775,320 1,973,545
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29. BfER  BEARBEREME 29. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

fT#RIA (#8)

Hiat - Note:

RZF_=F+=-A=+—8" ﬁﬁtﬁéﬁ RIAE As at 31 December 2023, other payables amounted to RMB160,378,000 (2022:
7%/\5%160 378,000c(ZT==F : AR RMB229,217,000) mainly including accrued continuing royalties payable of
#229,217,0007T) - EE@%FE%H%&WE RMB11,180,000 (2022: RMB10,533,000), accrual royalties and license fee of
EERKEARE11,180,000/t(Z T =4 : A RMB17,485,000 (2022: RMB58,129,000), payables for purchase of property,
K¥%10,5633,0007t) ' BARBRMEABARE plant and equipment of RMB20,127,000 (2022: RMB21,305,000) and payroll
17,485,000L(ZF = =4 : AR%58,129,000 payable of RMB22,917,000 (2022: RMB24,273,000).

) BEDE BERISEBEEMNRBBARE
20,127,000t (ZT == : AR#¥21,305, ooo
o) R EM TEAR22,917,00070 (2T —4F ¢
AR#24,273,0007T) °

Rk NEEREES AN, LEAHE At the end of the reporting period, the age analysis of trade and bills

B> e BE SR B JE M =R BRI AT payables of the Group based on purchase date/bills issue date is as
follows:

—E-= —E-—F
2023 2022
ARETTT ARETFT
RMB’000 RMB'000
3MEA AR Within 3 months 1,346,750 1,458,571
2618 A Between 3 to 6 months 109,839 99,921
7&212{8 8 Between 7 to 12 months 1,191 1,110
1218 A LA E Over 12 months 13,586 10,868
1,471,366 1,570,470
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29. BfER  BEARBEREME 29. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

fT#RIA (#8)
RIREBEAK - EAERE - BN E R R HvE Included in the balance of trade, bills and other payables at the end of the
NRIEESRP B ERNEERRIEBAT ¢ reporting period are amounts due to related parties as follows:
—E-=HF —E-_4F
2023 2022
ARETFTT ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
A5 E)E Isuzu Engine 89,049 242,098
Bl Isuzu = 68,682
BREENBAR Subsidiaries of Qingling Group 47,104 45,366
s Bosch - 28,797
BiER Qingling Group = 21,835
B A HIRHE Qingling Isuzu Sales = 1,642
136,153 408,420
TiFEABSME - MK - w8 - FHEY These amounts are trade in nature, unsecured, interest-free and the
HH{EEHA3E6MEA - credit period granted on purchases of materials is 3 to 6 months.
NEREEHR  ENEFREMENZTIES At the end of the reporting period, included in trade and other payables
A HEFAARYE28,665,0000 (=T = —4F : are amounted aggregating to RMB28,665,000 (2022: RMB68,682,000),
AE#68,682,0007T) - BERAZIETILAHE S which are denominated in JPY.
@ -
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30. AR

R-ZZE-_ZF+-_A=+—8  ~&£BHA
A8 ERARE357,331,0000(—FE - —4 :
AR#478,958,0007T) © EEIEHEANEER(A
WEEFRENBEEFBERFRENEE -RZE
=+ A=+ HHAHEEERER
E-_MFE+=-—A=+— Eﬁif%%mmﬁ

=7
o ©

R-ZB-_—_%—A—R ANARAARE
594,746,0007T °

HE-Z-_=F+-_A=+—HILFE O
RBZANERHEATS 958 000 (—TE-—4F : AR
#594,746,0007T) Z W AFT AF¥E LA EL
ﬁéjso

RREHHR  AEERNELRBERNGOR

EAARKE144,0000(ZE=-—F : AR¥
3,029,0007T) ©

BREAR

REABKERBEMHPRATLINOHE
BH o

BE_FE_=FF+_H=1—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

30. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's contract liabilities of
RMB357,331,000 (2022: RMB478,958,000) mainly represent the Group's
obligation to transfer trucks to customers subsequently for which the
Group has received consideration from the customers. Contract liabilities
as at 31 December 2023 will be recognised as revenue for the year
ending 31 December 2024.

As at 1 January 2022, contract liabilities amounted to RMB594,746,000.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, revenue of RMB478,958,000
(2022: RMB594,746,000) recognised that was included in the contract
liability balance at the beginning of the year.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has contract liabilities due
to Qingling Shinerary amounted to RMB144,000 (2022: RMB3,029,000).

31. REFUND LIABILITIES

The refund liabilities are arising from selling rebates to customers at the
end of the reporting period.

HE&S 32. LEASE LIABILITIES
—e_= —ECCfF
2023 2022
ARETTT AR¥TT
RMB’000 RMB’000
EMEEAR Lease liabilities payable:
—F R Within one year 16,457 14,812
1F A EZ2F AT IR Within a period of more than one
year but not more than two years 17,118 13,410
2F A EEIFLATHIRA Within a period of more than two
years but not exceeding three
years 2,286 13,951
35,861 42,173
B 12 ARNEERRGAEREER) Less: Amount due for settlement
within 12 months shown
under current liabilities (16,457) (14,812)
12 R EERZKG ABIERBAE) Amount due for settlement after 12
months shown under non-current
liabilities 19,404 27,361

%ﬂi%:é%i@ﬁﬁﬁ‘ﬂbﬂ%?i@ii{%ﬁii\?
3.88%F4.05%(Z T _F :
4.48%) °

The incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities range from
3.88% to 4.05% (2022: from 3.98% to 4.48%).
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33. & 33. SHARE CAPITAL

R-E__"%—A—A8-"
—E__#+"A=+—H
R-Z_=f+-A=+—~H
At 1 January 2022,

31 December 2022

and 31 December 2023
AREFT

RMB'000

it BEITRERE Registered, issued and fully paid 2,482,268

& E
R-B-—%—HA—8
—2__#%+_-A=+—H
R-®-=%+-A=+—8
Number of shares

At 1 January 2022,

31 December 2022

and 31 December 2023
FR

‘000

FRREEARE TR, Shares of RMB1 each
— A& — Domestic shares 1,243,616
—HA% — H shares 1,238,652

2,482,268

ﬁqﬁﬂxt’jq: BB R, S BEEMR I NE Domestic shares are ordinary shares subscribed for and credited as fully
BEAARKREN ARY| A ENTEE - M paid up in RMB by the PRC government and/or entities established in the

HHXZ%':F‘ BB RS B M o s e PRC. H shares are ordinary shares subscribed for in HKD and credited as
DASN AT LATE 7T 3R IR LA A R BE A BRSI| B 42 fully paid up in RMB by persons other than the PRC government and/or
B mAR o entities established in the PRC.

NEREHE®IEENR&E T EHEERZEH Domestic shares and H shares rank pari passu in all respects with each
= o RER T AN EBHAEXSFAERARH other. Domestic shares are not freely traded in The Stock Exchange of
HEE - Hong Kong Limited.

ANATIREM « 28T R BRARRERNIL There were no changes in the registered, issued and fully paid share
B o capital of the Company during both years.
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34. EFEUTA — BT 6 Bh

IRIEA SRR SR BB 83T MR IR B O BUR
fHBNRAL -

ZABIEASER KB - ﬁ%&%ﬁﬁ%&
BV EERROBIRITBUTHE - SBIRIE
HEAME - BB MR %waﬂfﬁ/é%ﬂ%izo
FRIEREHIME -

BE-_ZT-_=F+-A=+t—HULEFE #H
AN 52 (B 2R 52 2 38 <F B 48 Bh A0 B A1 1
AGITEREECEVRA(ZCE__F: AR
#2,400,0007T) ° NEE R BREE
REBOBRSEERE (TS ZF AR
1,250,0007T) ° Z AIFEEWE M EEWT A
TR AL FAAE B8 B B B9 AT 5 A F IS A U
A ZBRBYEAFENRLTEWAZEREAA
R#£842,000T (== —4 : AR¥877,000
TT) c RZTE-=F+-_A=+—0 ' AR
4,283,000C(ZZFE == : AR¥5,125,000
J0) Z BREME M 58S o
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34. DEFERRED INCOME - GOVERNMENT GRANTS

The deferred income represents government grants subsidising the
Group's equipment for technology innovation and environmental
protection.

The amount represents government grants received by the Group for
acquisition of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.
The balance will be amortised based on the useful lives of respective
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets from 3 to 20 years.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, no deferred income (2022:
RMB2,400,000) was returned since the Group did not fully comply with
the conditions attaching to the government grants. No government
grants have been received in the current year for purchase of new
equipment (2022: RMB1,250,000). The amounts received in prior years
have been treated as deferred income and are transferred to income
over the useful lives of the relevant assets. This policy has resulted in a
credit to income in the current year of RMB842,000 (2022: RMB877,000).
As at 31 December 2023, carrying amount of RMB4,283,000 (2022:
RMB5,125,000) will be amortised in the future.
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35. BEEBER
AEETRHER  ARRFEBNETE

ALY RNEBEBLEBRERERR
PRRE RIS MR - AN 7 BB AR 45 2

AT -

AEB 2 EARBOEARREA AREER
(BRDEITEA - REEHN REMERE) -

RRBEEIRERZENRE - FRUERZ
—#D - ARARERERERBENERER
ZERKARRER - AREFEBIRNRE -
BT A RBEITHE RSB R R B ER T
BEHBRBELRRE

35. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.
The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital, retained profits
and other reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure from time to
time. As part of this review, the directors of the Company consider the
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. The
Group will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends and new share issues as well as the issue of new debt or the
redemption of existing debt.

36. €T H 36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) £MIA%ER (a) Categories of financial instruments
—E-= T F
2023 2022
ABRTFIT AR¥TFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
SMEE Financial assets
BN Amortised cost 6,514,638 6,724,321
eMmAR Financial liabilities
BN Amortised cost 1,844,170 2,030,285

(b) SEEBRERERRBER

AEENTECRTASERREHEERER
K USRS - IR R EAEYSOR -
HER  REeRRSEEY - BAKRK - BN
ERFEMENFIER  REREIEERE -
Eiﬁ/fﬁﬂlﬂﬂ’]ﬁ BRE B MM ETRKE
SR T AFENRERBETSE RN
EHF EMERR) - ERERRLREE SR
B o AR A2 S AR R BORBSIR T - A
SEEHZERBNZESHERRFEZS
Rz EUBERES - EREAREE

REFLERR  BRESRERETEZR
i
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(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's major financial instruments include finance lease
receivables, trade, bills and other receivables, time deposits, cash and
cash equivalents, trade, bills and other payables, refund liabilities and
lease liabilities. Details of the financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out
below. There has been no significant change to the Group's exposure to
these risks or the manner in which it manages and measures these risks.
The management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.



36. &I A ()

b) SERRERERRRE ()

HEmE

() SHEmE
AEESERBETINEEE - ERELINE

% o REERBEY) B KRB A B RS
PERR - IR BRER A AR Fr R SNE R o

UTRAAREERHERARASINEHER TR
SMNERR B EELRER BB REE :
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Market risk

(i) Currency risk

Several entities of the Group have foreign currency sales and purchases,
which expose the Group to currency risk. The Group manages its foreign
currency risk by closely monitoring the movement of the foreign currency
rates and will undertake necessary procedures to mitigate the currency
risk.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated
monetary assets and monetary liabilities that are subject to currency risk
at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

BE af&

Assets Liabilities
R-EBZ=f§ i S R-BZ=HE i S
+=ZA=+—-8 +=-A=t+—H +=ZAR=+—HB +=—A=+—H
At 31 December At 31 December At 31 December At 31 December
2023 2022 2023 2022
AR®TFT AREFT ABR#TFT AREFr
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
T usD 13,111 18,978 - 57
Ht JPY 92,651 170,455 29,717 68,740
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36. &I A ()

b) SERRERERRRE ()
7 48/ B3 (48)

() SMNERS(E)

BRE DT
AEEZETRRABRKREXTRABRCEER
# o

TRHFMAEBRZ AR S ETL R BEAE
5% (ZFZ=F : 5%)HEMNBRERE - 5% (=
T —F :5%)IAEBEREABEAILRE
SNERBERAZ RREL R  AREERY
HNEPE RS IR AT RE R B) 2 fT MG - BUREDITE
BENAEENINEHEEEER - WK
AAREHFETNBEEERS% (T4
5%)MIEH MR - THIEHREK  MARE
HETKABEMES % (ZF=ZF : 5%) ' f
FEAKRBRBEEBRD(CEZZ2F : KrFiE
EERD) - AR A ETKHERES%
(ZE2E==F :5%) ' IeHFERBRREES
BEEERERNTE -

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

(i) Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to the risk of fluctuations in USD and JPY.

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a 5% (2022: 5%)
increase in the exchange rate of RMB against USD and JPY. 5% (2022:
5%) is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk
internally to key management personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange
rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the period
end for a 5% (2022: 5%) change in RMB against USD and JPY. A positive
number below indicates a decrease in post-tax loss (2022: a decrease
in post-tax loss) for the year, where the RMB strengthen 5% (2022:
5%) against USD and JPY. For a 5% (2022: 5%) weakening of the RMB
against USD and JPY, there would be an equal and opposite impact on
the post-tax loss for the year.

—E-=F —E-4F
2023 2022
AR¥FTT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
gzl Loss
E7T usD (557) (804)
= JPY (2,675) (4,323)
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36. &I A ()

b) SERRERERRRE ()
7 48/ B3 (48)

(i) FIEmE

AREBE R A BEN R E R T 2 R RE E X
SIRRMEIF R RHEREGR -

REBZRERENERE I F EEPRERSE
B2 80RZSRITHM R E T REE T
g o

BREDM

AT SR E AT RIS R RS B AR IR B i 17
RFNRF|EZ SRITHEGRBRMETE © FIK EFH
HEIK0.25% (ZFE=—F : 0.25%) AT E
EIEABENEREFERBERA  WAEK
FEEH N RSB EE 2 5 -

hﬂ$tﬂ/hﬁozmu_?__
0.25%) BFTE EtbE S RIFT $%@ﬁ
BHE-_Z_=F+=-A=+— EiiﬁZ%
FRIBE BRI seR 1 i AR 2,182,000
(ZE=——F  BRgREERD IEMARE
2,065,0007T) ° E2 A AEERAH BT
ZFIRRBBRFTER ©

15750 B3 B i (B AT

ERRREARENRZH T REBTEER
EHMEAEBEXUFBEREORRE - NEEH
MERARREZHFENBERSRUIRR -
YRR IR R B YRR - EHTE
RMIRITHEER - NEEY B A EAERRK
HitEMBRAEEABEEE SREEMRRN
ERER -
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)
(i) Interest rate risk

The Group's fair value interest risk relates primarily to time deposits
carried at fixed interest rates and lease liabilities.

The Group's cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the
fluctuation of deposit interest rate arising from the Group's bank balances
and time deposits carried at variable rate.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to bank balances carried prevailing deposit interest rate at the
end of the reporting period. 0.25% (2022: 0.25%) increase or decrease
in interest rate is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key
management personnel and represents the management’s assessment
of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 0.25% (2022: 0.25%) higher/lower and all
other variables were held constant, the Group's post-tax loss for the year
ended 31 December 2023 would decrease/increase by RMB2,182,000
(2022: post-tax loss decrease/increase by RMB2,065,000). This is mainly
attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on bank balances.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties default on
their contractual obligations resulting in financial losses to the Group.
The Group’s credit risk exposures are primarily attributable to finance
lease receivables, trade, bills and other receivables, time deposits,
bank balances. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with its financial assets.
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36. €T A (#8)
b) SEERBEFERERHE(E)
12 R B3 B i (B 2T 15 (#8)

B REE G BRI TETHELR
AR IEW

¢‘$IE?§%EH¥MI\%B§JEZEG CEEAA
BERFY ZRMEBEEEFPERERALDIK
E%@ﬁ c AREBEEEMARTEFPNE
RRBERFTD © I - AEEERESEHR
MIRBEF AU EIME - AEEEEEIERER
NEBREERETmTREERFHRITET
HERORE - Bt AREEEERSERE

EENERRBRID © Bl - NAARNEERR
AEBENERARREBRERE -

SEEERRR  AEBEEECEK—@E)
MEREERERBREEREN » UHEREN
BRI DERARNHER -

AN - REEREFERER R EWRZIRIA R
FVE R E IR R A 2 HTE R E Bk E
NEITRE G (BUER R R B E TR &
NES AR %ﬁ%f&%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁi
BB ORETERFG) UHESH
ﬁﬂy&$i%ﬁ%ﬂ%ﬂ%%%&éﬂ¢ﬁ
TR o FRLEWIR M ER Z R EERRE
BB AR 161,000 (== —F : JB{EEIE
[0 AR#531,0007T) - FAFLEE A E R
EREERAREBEEAT(CE_=F : %) -
SWBENFBERARMET »

B[R R IEL 78

AEBEREREEL SEHG - BELRI
NEBAE  AEREMREETEMEMERE
B HE U R IE A R YR B 1 1T BB AT A o
AEBEEREBAE128 ABHERELRNE
BEE  BRIEAVABRRUKRERRKRER
ZH - REEBR T AEERREHESEE
FiEX - FRERERBEEIEAREK116,000
TT(ZEZ=F : EEEEARE10,060,000
70) > LW EFBEHNAFE T
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade and bills receivables arising from contracts with customers and
finance lease receivables

Before accepting any new external customers, the Group uses an
internal credit scoring system to assess the potential customer’s credit
quality and assign credit limits thereto. Limits and scoring attributed
to customers are reviewed twice a year. Besides, recoverability of
the existing customers is reviewed by the management of the Group
regularly. The Group only accepts bills issued or guaranteed by reputable
PRC banks if trade receivables are settled by bills and therefore the
management of the Group considers the credit risk arising from the bills
is insignificant. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that
the Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has
delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits and
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debtors.

In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under lifetime
ECL model for trade and bills receivables and finance lease receivables
individually based on internal credit rating, customers’ aging and historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the customers and
adjusted for forward-looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort. Impairment losses of RMB161,000 (2022: reversal of
impairment losses of RMB531,000) is recognised for trade and bills
receivables during the year. Impairment losses of nil (2022: nil) is
recognised for finance lease receivables during the year. Details of the
quantitative disclosures are set out below in this note.

Other receivables and grants receivable

For other receivables, the management of the Group makes periodic
individual assessment on the recoverability of other receivables based on
historical settlement records, past experience, and also quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportive forward-looking
information. The management of the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. Impairment losses of RMB116,000 (2022: Impairment losses of
RMB10,060,000) is recognised during the year. Details of the quantitative
disclosures are set out below in this note.
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b) SERRERERRRE ()
15 /5 R AR R i (5 BF 15 (1)
EHTRRIRITHE

AEBERERE  AEETHFERMBITLHE
HERNEARBRRE  FESEMIETE
RARIFEE BB RTREATRRETE
ZERRE S BT - NEBESZEEINE
ERFRRERHRRERTIRERNEY
MERENEBRAXBENER  HZEERE
71218 ATEHAE AIB kAT - BIEFHEX
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MR8 - IEHE AL AR -
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BE_T_=—F+_HA=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Time deposits and bank balances

The management of the Group assesses that the Group’s time deposits
and bank balances are at low credit risk because they are placed with
reputable banks with high credit ratings assigned by either international
or PRC credit-rating agencies. The Group assesses 12m ECL for these
balances by reference to information relating to probability of default
and loss given default of the respective credit rating grades published by
external credit rating agencies. Based on the average loss rates, the 12m
ECL on these balances is considered to be insignificant and ECL is not
provided.

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the
following categories:

FEU AR =R R
BERER
MEHAEERER
Trade and bills,
and finance lease

Hitt&mEE

Other financial

Internal credit rating Description receivables assets
VEN S RHHEDRRE - TFEERREK SHERERELR - 12EAEHREREX
ERRIME

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and does Lifetime ECL - not 12m ECL
not have any past-due amounts credit-impaired

BREE BEHABRERIMERERERETHES THIEMERRBR-3F 12REHEREX

ERRME

Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but Lifetime ECL - not 12m ECL
usually settle in full credit-impaired

Al &R BEBNBREENISOMNIERTNERE 8RR 2HEHREREAL-F 2HRBERELR-E
il ERRME ERRE

Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit Lifetime ECL - not Lifetime ECL - not
risk since initial recognition through information credit-impaired credit-impaired
developed internally or external resources

&1 BISEBZEEFREERE THEHERELA-F 2HEHEREBL-E

FIRE FRE

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit- Lifetime ECL - credit-  Lifetime ECL - credit-
impaired impaired impaired

HisH BEFREBEBABABRENMBERE - AmAKER  FURTUAME FBT LA
@R & EYTE

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in Amount is written off ~ Amount is written off

severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery
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36. &R T A (H#) 36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) SEMEMREERERIEE) (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
15 /5 /8 b2 B % 2 5T 15 (#R) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
AEBNADEARBRERTHBRIEATE The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the
Al following categories:
o e =k —Eof
BRI ERTR i) A
Mi# Extemal  Internal 12EA%2BRHEREL IRE#E FESE
Notes  creditrating credit rating  12m or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount (Gross carrying amount

ABRTT ABBTT ARETT ARETT
RMB000  RMB000  AMB000  RMB 000

ERSRFHEZEMEE
Financial assets at amortised
cost
SRAERYEN TEA A PHRHERBXERRE)
Finance lease receivables N/A N/A Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 3223 3,223 - -
FEWER % TEA el SHRHBERBXERRE)
Trade receivables 26 NA Low risk Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 272,064 - 117,190 -
BE SHESERBX(GRAE)
Loss Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) 229 272,293 1,874 119,064
UEE 6 ER TEm PHRAERERXGHERRE)
Bills receivables 26 NA N/A Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 831,289 831,289 845,821 845,821
HAbFEAIE R M % ER ivEl 12EARBERER W)
Other receivables and grant 26 NA Low risk 12m ECL (Note) 242,261 - 292,769 -
receivable L SHRAERBXEERRE W)
Doubtful Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) (Note/ 1,742 - 91,120 -
B SHRHEREXERAB W)
Loss Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) (Note/ 90,389 334,392 264 384,153
RITHE 28 M TER 12 AEBERES
Bank balances 28 AA N/A 12m ECL 1,026,938 1,026,938 971,830 971,830
EHEHR 27 M TER 12 AEBERE
Time deposits 27 AA N/A 12m ECL 4,055,555  4,055555 4414905 4,414,905
Bt Note:
RETRIERARRERE  AEBGERABEIINRE For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the Group uses past due
BEHh B VR R ARG AR A EREIL M - information to assess whether credit risk has increased significantly since

initial recognition.
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36. & TR () 36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) SEMEMREERERIEE) (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
15 /5 /8 b2 B % 2 5T 15 (#R) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
FaxEEE
ERH
Not past due/
No fixed
—ZT_=f EHA repayment st
2023 Past due terms Total
ARETTT ABRETIT ARETIT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
o FEUAR K Other receivables 92,131 242,261 334,392
K@ EE
EEBRH
Not past due/
No fixed
—E-—F i Hf repayment 5t
2022 Past due terms Total
ARETFT AR T AREFT
RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
o FEUAR K Other receivables 91,384 292,769 384,153
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36. & TR () 36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

b) SREREERFERBUR(E) (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
15 /5 B Be R iR (B 5F 15 (#5) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
JRIEZE Allowance for impairment
RAFE - B EWRRA R EEEE S During the current year, the movements in allowance for impairment in
N respect of trade receivables were as follows:
2HRY RN
BERE% BERE%
(FfEHREE) (fEREE)
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit- it
impaired) impaired) Total
AREFT AREFT AREFT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB 000
E/\\ T-_&%—-HF—H At 1 January 2022 1,996 699 2,695
RZZZ—F—-F—BERZ Changes due to financial instruments recognised
SRIAER 29 at 1 January 2022
~BZEARE - Transfer to credit-impaired (766) 766 -
-BHEARESRE - Impairment losses recognised = 409 409
-BRERESE — Impairment losses reversed (1,230) = (1,230)
FEESHEE New financial assets originated 290 = 290
RZZE-ZZ$+-A=+—H At 31 December 2022 290 1,874 2,164
RZTZ=F—-A—B%ERZ Changes due to financial instruments recognised
SRMIASH &8 at 1 January 2023
-BEEERRAE - Transfer to credit-impaired (156) 156 -
-BEQRERE ~ Impairment losses reversed (380) (172) (552)
— W8 - Write-offs - (1,217) (1,217)
NELSREE New financial assets originated 713 s 713
R-ZE-=%+-A=+—H At 31 December 2023 467 641 1,108

3R 2023 ANNUAL REPORT




36. €T A (#8)
b) SEERBEFERERHE(E)

15 KB B2 R it (B AT 1e (/%)
JBLIEE S ()

MAEE - BRI EUGRIA K B B AR
BEFEEWT :

.\m 7f ﬁéz#ﬁ%% Bﬁ ;I

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE_T_=—F+_HA=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Allowance for impairment (Continued)

During the current year, the movements in allowance for impairment in
respect of other receivables and grants receivables were as follows:

2078 RN
12{8R HSES BERE%
FHERES  GEEARE) (fBREE) #xt
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
12m ECL impaired) impaired) Total
AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT
AMB 000 AMB000 RMB'000 RMB 000
R-E-—%—F—H At 1 January 2022 233 33 56 322
SRTAEY EE Changes due to financial instruments
RZZFZZF—-A—B®ERZ Changes due to financial instruments
SRIABR 29 recognised at 1 January 2022
-BE2HREEREX - Transfer to lifetime ECL (28) 28 = =
-BREREEE ~ Impairment losses reversed (205) (33) = (238)
—-BEARESE - Impairment losses recognised = 10,060 208 10,268
FELSREE New financial assets originated 30 = - 30
R-E--%+-A=+—H At 31 December 2022 30 10,088 264 10,382
RZZZ=F—-F—BERZ Changes due to financial instruments
TRIAZH &Y recognised at 1 January 2023
-EZ2HREEREX ~ Transfer to lifetime ECL (280) 280 - -
-BRERESSE — Impairment losses reversed (126) (174) = (300)
— W8 - Write-offs - (1,594) (124) (1,718)
NELSREE New financial assets originated 416 = = 416
RZE-_=F+-A=+—H At 31 December 2023 40 8,600 140 8,780

1SHBREEF

MsE26 P70 5 < B B T SRIB 2 (E AR
&9 AEEEHFEBES 2 EERARLS
KEZIRBEL TP BRI AREZH
YRR R E B RIR 2 E R AR TE
B&EF - RBROBREEIZHTRES °

Concentration on credit risk

There is concentration of credit risk on amounts due from related
parties, which have been disclosed in Note 26 and the Group periodically
evaluated the related parties credit rating and also look for more
non-related party customers. Apart from that, the Group does not
have significant concentration of credit risk on other trade and other
receivables, with exposure spread over a number of counter-parties and
customers.
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36. €T A (#8)
b) SEERBEFERERHE(E)
ADELEE

REBRDESRR - ARBEEZEREFER
EBRERMZAE MRSFEWKT - UAK
SEZERHESMNBERRASRERBZF
B AERRBEEERBELZRER/IER
HESHR - REAEEEZREFNKT A
B BUERS R ERRE A RN —FRME - T
RITHERAINE R RN - REEELEER
IR - ARREBHEARERA R AR
ERRESRNEMBEL -

IRAMAEBETE SR B BRI ER
iz TanE»S -  TREREESBABEZR

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the
management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects
of fluctuations in cash flows. The Group relies on cash generated from
operating activities as a significant source of liquidity. Trade and bills
receivables can be received within 1 year based on the earliest date on
which the Group can require payments and bank balances can be drawn
on demand. The directors of the Company believe that the Group will
have sufficient funds available to meet its financial obligations in the
foreseeable future based on management working capital forecast.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity
for its non-derivative financial liabilities based on the agreed repayment

WEASREGRAEETHERER &R terms. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash
RE) MRS flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay.
BROR =R St F#
it E3ud -@F —-E=fA E-f -EhE MEZE HRNEEN ZIEEE
On demand Total Carrying
Weighted average  or less than 13 3 months 12 23 undiscounted  amount at
interest rate 1 month months to 1 year years years cash flows year end
ANEEFE  ARETT  AREFT  ARETT AREFT ARETT AREFT
AMB 000 AWMB 000 AMB000 AVB 000 AWMB 000 AMB000 AMB 000
RIBZZ%£+ZA=+-A
At 31 December 2023
ENENRENEE TR
Trade and bills payables N/A 1,051,820 271,500 142,046 - - 1,471,366 1,471,366
ENHEERREMENTE iR
Selling expenses payables and other payables N/A 79,846 58,835 161,499 - - 300,180 300,180
REAR FER
Refund liabilities N/A 16,758 33515 22,351 - - 72,624 72,624
BERE 3.88%F4.05%
Lease liabilities 3.88% t0 4.05% 1120 1,952 14,623 17,695 2312 31,102 35,861
1,149,544 371,802 340,519 17,695 2312 1,881,872 1,880,031
RIBZZE+ZAS -
At 31 December 2022
ENENRENRE el
Trade and bills payables NA 1,174,303 165,084 231,083 - - 1,570,470 1,570,470
ENHEERREMERTE NaR
Selling expenses payables and other payables N/A 75990 74,061 250,649 - - 400,700 400,700
REGR NER
Refund liabilities N/A 13,569 28,505 17,041 - - 59,115 59,115
BERE 3.98%%4.48%
Lease liabilities 3.98% t0 4.48% 410 3,074 12,843 14,374 14,330 45,031 42173
1,264,272 270,724 511,616 14,374 14,330 2,075,316 2,072,458
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Fair value of the Group'’s financial assets and financial liabilities that
are measured at fair value on a recurring basis

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of

financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the
consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES
The Group's related party balances are set out in Notes 26, 29 and 30.
The Group entered into the following transactions with related parties:

(i)  Transactions with Qingling Group and its subsidiaries

-$-= —ToCfF
R 58 Types of transactions 2023 2022
ARBTFT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB'000
HEERTERERRERIEARAT Sales of chassis to EEEH
(p323=:9:0) HERAREARAA
("Qingling Zhuan Yong"”) 105,832 190,767
HERETH G MEAMT Sales of automobile parts and others to:
—EEEREERRAR - EEERBEARAR
([ER&EED ("Qingling Casting”) 12,574 11,316
—EEERBEERERAR - ERERRARERERAR
(B8R ER]D) ("Qingling Chair”) 4,628 4,882
—EEEREBARAR - ERERERARAT
([ERERBD ("Qingling Axle") 8,144 7,142
—ERER — Qingling Zhuan Yong 1,633 1,823
—BEEFRAEEMTREERR AR - EERRABEEINBREEGRAT
(TEEge#n)) ("Qingling Jijia") 1,204 1,216
—EEERBIEFRAR] - BEEERIBIEARAT
(TSR #E D) ("Qingling Forging”) 744 815
—EEERTERERTMERAR - BERRABEESIMARAA
([ESRIEE ] ("Qingling Chassis") 582 672
—EEEREBIRARAR - EEERIBIRARAT
([Es2888R)) (“Qingling Cast Aluminium”) 408 494
—EEEREAARAR - EEERBHARAT
(TEESR 28R D) ("Qingling Plastics") 224 245
—EREE - Qingling Group 135 168
- BEERAERMEEGRAT - BEEERABERHFREERAR
([ESRBLHD) ("Qingling Parts”) 88 1,757
30,364 30,530
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37. MEARH LR (HE) 37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES
(CONTINUED)
(i) HERFEREMEATNRSGR) (i) Transactions with Qingling Group and its subsidiaries

(Continued)

ot - Sl 3 —EoF

RoEH Types of transactions 2023 2022
ARBFTT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB'000

FERBERAEDHERE - Purchases of trucks and automobile parts

from:

—EIRER - Qingling Axle 260,976 256,612
—BEREA - Qingling Zhuan Yong 135,156 90,454
— iR - Qingling Plastics 45,524 44,007
— B ER - Qingling Chair 39,239 37,554
—ERiE - Qingling Forging 17,743 16,695
— BB - Qingling Casting 9,948 9,058
— B — Qingling Jijia 9,012 9,523
—EiRiEA - Qingling Cast Aluminium 8,861 4,606
—EREE - Qingling Chassis 2,990 2,550
— B - Qingling Parts 2,800 3,825
532,249 474,884
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37. MESXS R (#) 37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES
(CONTINUED)
(i) HERFEREMEATNRSGR) (i) Transactions with Qingling Group and its subsidiaries
(Continued)
® S
—E=§ T —F
+=B=+—-H +t=ZA=1+—H
At At
31 December 31 December
ERE Nature of balances 2023 2022
ARBFIT  ARETFT
RMB’000 RMB'000
MiEeEz MERBH ) - Lease liabilities for renting warehouse (Note):
—F’*f:%l - Qingling Group 15,511 22,817
—ERRba - Qingling Keyu 1,969 2,896
HEEFcREaEWL) Lease liabilities for renting buildings (Note):
—BREE - Qingling Group 1,588 2,336
—EREE - Qingling Keyu 281 414
HESE REGEWZ) Lease liabilities for renting equipment (Note/:
—EBRIE - Qingling Forging 3,827 5,630
—-EBiREE - Qingling Group 1,684 2,477
Kiat - Note:

BE_Z_—F+_A=+—"RILFE AKEL
BEEREEREMBAR(ERBE) T LHME
B -

HE_Z-_—_F+-_A=+—ALFE" A5£EHE
BEREERENBARIEARBESNERAEE
BFEREBEIILEZHEERS  AH=F - KA
SEEABERRENEHAEIN  NEEE D HHE
RABFAREERTAEAEARK40,250,000
TR AR®40,250,0007T °

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group did not enter into new
lease agreements with Qingling Group and its subsidiaries which are related
parties.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group entered into several
new lease agreements for the use of warehouse, building and equipment
with Qingling Group and its subsidiaries which are related parties for 3 years.
Except for short-term lease in which the Group applied recognition exemption,
the Group has recognised an addition of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
of RMB40,250,000 and RMB40,250,000 respectively.
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37. MEARH LR (HE) 37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES
(CONTINUED)
(i) HERFEREMEATNRSGR) (i) Transactions with Qingling Group and its subsidiaries

(Continued)

—EBC=H —E-CF

RSEH Types of transactions 2023 2022
AREFT  ARETT

RMB’000 RMB'000

B HEAERNE Interest on lease liabilities for renting
warehouse:
—EREE - Qingling Group 882 195
—BERba - Qingling Keyu 101 28
ffEEFsHEaEn s Interest on lease liabilities for renting
buildings:
—EREE - Qingling Group 82 23
—EHRENE - Qingling Keyu 11 6
HEREsAEaERNE Interest on lease liabilities for renting
equipment:
—EiRiE - Qingling Forging 197 48
—EREE - Qingling Group 87 24
HIERRISULA - Miscellaneous service income:
—EREH - Qingling Group 2,116 1,847
HHREFZHEERA Rental income from renting of buildings:
—ERiRE - Qingling Forging 211 211
— BT - Qingling Keyu 43 43
HHRECHERA Rental income from renting of equipment:
—EBER - Qingling Axle 383 383
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37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES

(CONTINUED)

(ii) Transactions with Isuzu

—EB_=HF T
RGEH Types of transactions 2023 2022
ARSFIT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
BREHE Reimbursement of marketing fee - 94,340
BE BT REM Purchases of automobile parts and
components 35,261 54,610
HERE R EMBERHEENRTREKE Royalties and licence fee paid on
sales of trucks and other vehicles 9,607 6,540
HERBETH - P REA Sales of automobile parts,
accessories and others 2,896 2,397
T R EE Compensation for software
upgrades 878 1,464
LETEER Quiality evaluation fee paid 915 893
(iii) BAE+HRBBRHEZS (iii) Transactions with Isuzu Engine
—E-= T —F
Ro1ELHE Types of transactions 2023 2022
AREFIT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BE BT RRM R Purchases of automobile parts and
raw materials 603,786 655,192
HERESMH - M REAM Sales of automobile parts,
accessories and others 256,567 193,195
A 2 HE WA Rental income from renting of
equipment 21,720 42,210
LR EmE 2 HSWA Rental income from renting of
investment properties 4,210 4,210
HIE ARG ULA Miscellaneous service income 1,767 1,352
FIRAZE Dividends declared 7,607 13,076
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37. MEH XS LR (R) 37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES
(CONTINUED)
(iv) HBERAI+HHENHRSH (iv) Transactions with Qingling Isuzu Sales
—EB_=HF T
RGEH Types of transactions 2023 2022
ABRETT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
HERBERABETH - 4 REAM Sales of trucks and automobile parts,
accessories and others 82,337 7,264
FIES Miscellaneous expenses = 99
HEeBEsHEaENE Interest on lease liabilities for renting
warehouse 39 17
HEREsHEaENE Interest on lease liabilities for renting
equipment 30 12
FEIERRAUA Miscellaneous service income = 2
» »
—EB-=% —T-—F
+=B=+—H +=ZA=+—H
At At
31 December 31 December
RS Nature of balances 2023 2022
ARETTT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
HErEZHEAR Lease liabilities for renting
warehouse - 2,075
MEREsHEaE Lease liabilities for renting
equipment - 1,605

178 3% 2023 ANNUAL REPORT



37. MEARH, LR (IR

(v) BAE+RBREWRARNZS

.\m 7f ﬁéz#ﬁ%% Bﬁ ;I

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE_T_=—F+_HA=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES

(CONTINUED)

(v) Transactions with Isuzu Qingling Engineering

—E-=HF —E-—F

RGEH Types of transactions 2023 2022

ABRETT AREFT

RMB’000 RMB’000

FIERFS A Miscellaneous service income 102 61
HERBETH - HBHEREA Sales of automobile parts,

accessories and others 64 70

(vii BRHtERBHIRE(ER)ARLIFH

(vi) Transactions with Bosch Hydrogen Powertrain Systems

x5 (Chonggqing) Co., Ltd.

—E-= T F
Ro1ELHE Types of transactions 2023 2022
AREFIT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BEARETH Purchases of automobile parts 115,849 147,201
BIE & Testing fee = 25,887

HERESMH - M REAM Sales of automobile parts,
accessories and others - 19

(vi) HERZROXS (vii) Transactions with Qingling Shinerary

=== TEC
RSB Types of transactions 2023 2022
AREFIT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
HERBERIESMH Sales of trucks and automobile parts 51,663 136,394

HERESMH - S REAM Sales of automobile parts,
accessories and others - 56

BREFRERNZZI - DMERRBHT R
%ﬁ%ﬁ%tﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂ%14A%Fﬁﬁm2?ﬁ1§%
FFEMER S - BRI HEANERE

7

Except for the transactions with Qingling Shinerary, the above
transactions with related parties also constitute connected transactions
or continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules and are conducted in accordance with the terms of the

relevant agreements.

B85 AE D AR A R] Qingling Motors Co. Ltd

179



180

.\m 7f ﬁﬁ#ﬁ%‘:z Bﬁ ;I

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE T _=—F+_H=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

37. MEARH, LR (IR

(viii) HRPEEMBBFHRARRENHZS, &

AEEREEBHEERERMNEEZPER
REZ SR EA SRS - HKREZES REAF
%E’J:‘éﬁ%(fﬁﬁ*%ﬁ;%ﬂ)mz% 1A NN

EI$%%¢@EAIH?’*%ME% EETER
AR — o B EXX()ERPTHR BR B 3%

E@&ﬁﬁﬁ% TLTTE’J XHIN - AN E IR
HMBTEREEE X ER - AAREER
B RAREEZERTEREERIMETTHR

BRHME @ %ERAEEERENELF =
SaC

HEEMBTEEEENERR S, EHRIT

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES
(CONTINUED)

(viii) Transactions/balances with other government-related entities
in the PRC

The Group operates in an economic environment currently predominated
by entities directly or indirectly owned or controlled, jointly controlled
or significantly influenced by the PRC government (“government-
related entities”). In addition, the Group itself is part of a larger group
of companies under Qingling Group which is controlled by the PRC
government. Apart from the transactions with Qingling Group and its
subsidiaries disclosed in section (i) above, the Group also conducts
businesses with other government-related entities. The directors of the
Company consider those government-related entities are independent
third parties so far as the Group’s business transactions with them are
concerned.

Material transactions/balances with other government-related entities are
as follows:

—EB-=HF —E-—F

2023 2022

ARSTFIT ARETFT

RMB’000 RMB’'000

BHHE Trade sales 76,551 57,705
B o5HE Trade purchases 254,961 225,753
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37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES
(CONTINUED)

(viii) Transactions/balances with other government-related entities
in the PRC (Continued)

Material transactions/balances with other government-related entities are

(&) as follows: (Continued)
- S - 3 —EICF
2023 2022
ARBFT ABEBTFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FER R E MRS BN A E SRR Trade and other balances due to
other government-related entities 56,266 33,346
JE LR B E A PR W BT AR R E S RO B RE Trade and other balances due from
other government-related entities 64,055 108,761

BESN - AR AR ERBET EE T BEA
HEERNRITEVMBHRBETZRERS 8
ERRRE R EBASNTE TR 7
Ko ERUFRTIHNMEE - ARAEER
RELEREYEEE -

B EXFIEES  AATEERR - BBF
HRERETHORSMARBENERM = LT
EX-

(ix) EE -EERFEEEARZTFH

In addition, the Group has entered into various transactions, including
utilities services and surcharges/taxes charged by the PRC government,
and deposits with certain banks and financial institutions which are
government-related entities in their ordinary course of business. In view
of the nature of these banking transactions, the directors of Company are
of the opinion that separate disclosure is not meaningful.

Except as disclosed above, the directors of the Company are of the
opinion that transactions with government-related entities are not

significant to the Group's operations.

(ix) Compensation of directors, supervisors and key management

personnel
FREE EENEMTEEBAS BN The remuneration of directors, supervisors and other members of key
T management during the year are as follows:
—=== —E-—F
2023 2022
ARETFT AREFT
RMB'000 RMB'000
72 AR TAEF Short-term employee benefits 5,161 4,401
BBk 12 A Post-employment benefits 678 682
5,839 5,083
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38. #&if
RIBERR - AEE Y EAREELNT

38. COMMITMENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the following capital

commitments:

—EB_=H T F
2023 2022
ARSFIT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
BATAMBERRERE IS R BB R B A A - Contracted for but not provided
in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of:
—BARRIEYE - B M — acquisition of property, plant and

equipment 200,133 256,545

39. EEHARH
FRMERHEA

ERLHEBNMEENREMENRE B
AR TE AR IR NETE -

HERBRNARFRBENKAT

39. OPERATING LEASING ARRANGEMENTS

The Group as lessor

All of the investment properties and equipment held for rental purposes

have committed lessees for the next 3 years.

Undiscounted lease payments receivable on leases are as follows:

—EB_=H T

2023 2022

AR®FIT AREFIT

RMB’000 RMB’'000

—FR Within one year 29,658 29,659
F-F In the second year 29,611 59,222
59,269 88,881
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ARARB T _ZTFFHEMIAIPTE

&Eéﬁ/\ff hFERENFR(—FT—1F
FRD ARAREBREAUAREBARK

89,000,000 T —ZE—HEFRNTRED
EFMEPER R T EX e () - 1R
Bt ARREREREAINARE
89,000,0007T + BESS B MIR S A bARER
ZE-RFFLNSE - RIEZ W (EAD
W EREARESEN - —RAFFATS
FHHEMERAMBHEEHE)IRET AR
7l e

HE T+ _-_A=+—BI=FE "
BEREATARKB(ZE-_—F: ARK
28,5697,0007T) + W AR AT E £ MK A 18 82
BETARRGE - N REE-_ZT_=F+_A
—t+—BLEFEHE  ARRANREFEER
AAF T ZTFRM7E38) M RAH 5 kB Z
T(ZEZ=F : AR¥8,000,0007T){E A
HRME - ZEFIEIREMRAFER - B
BHIRET -
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40. PROVISION FOR LITIGATION

In respect of the litigation brought forward from 2015 (the “2015
Litigation”), which was fully disclosed in Note 38 to the 2020 annual
report of the Company, the Company entered into a formal agreement
(the "Agreement”) with Qingling Zhuan Yong, a related company which
acquired the right of the plaintiff in the 2015 Litigation for a consideration
of RMB89,000,000. Pursuant to the Agreement, the Company had paid
Qingling Zhuan Yong RMB89,000,000, representing the amount Qingling
Zhuan Yong paid to the plaintiff, to settle the 2015 Litigation. Under the
agreement, in return, Qingling Zhuan Yong agreed to transfer to the
Company the amount it recovers, if any, from other guarantors involved
in the 2015 Litigation.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, Qingling Zhuan Yong
recovered nil (2022: RMB28,597,000), and after deducting its costs
incurred, transferred the amount to the Company. In addition, during
the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company received nil (2022:
RMB8,000,000) from the related parties of the Customer (as defined in
Note 38 to the 2020 annual report of the Company) as criminal indemnity.
Both of which were recognised in other income, details are set out in
Note 7.
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ELFIME LT 41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY
MEBARZ—REH General information of subsidiaries

REEHR - ARRIEERFENIEBEARFE Details of the subsidiaries directly held by the Company at the end of the

T e reporting period are set out below.
ERREEER RERMRRAS EES SLTEERENHTRRRNEAY IERE
REARER Country of registration and  Form of business Proportion of ownership interests directly
Name of subsidiaries operation structure Registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
St i
2023 2022
BRRAMNH6) hE Faliian 38,166,800 50.56% 5056% EEBEREFANEER
Qingling Moulds (Noze (3)) The PRC Incorporated USD38,166,600 50.56% 50.56%  Production of moulds for the
manufacture of automobile parts
B0 hE iR 29,980,000 70 51.00% 5100% HAREER
Qingling Technical Center (oze () The PRC Incorporated 1SD29,980,000 51.00% 51.00%  Not yet commenced husiness
ARz hE A AR%9,0000007 100.00% 10000% HETERERRH
Shenzhen New Energy (Note (b)) The PRC Incorporated RMB9,000,000 100.00% 100.00%  Automobile retailing and after-
sales services

et - Notes:
(a) EHREA A —RRFRBK I HFRING ER (a) Qingling Moulds is a sino-foreign joint venture established in the PRC.

el YNG
(b) BB SR BT A 0 BRI 3T RE IR AP AR BIRK 37 (b) Qingling Technical Center and Shenzhen New Energy are limited

MEREERF - liability companies established in the PRC and operating in the PRC.
FREZEMBR AW ARBFITEREHEES - None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of the

year.

WBARIUREKREMASEERESHEE There are no significant restrictions on the ability of subsidiaries to
Bk mAEEBATAEE DM ERIEKR transfer funds to the Group in form of cash dividends, or to repay loans or
il o advances made by the Group.
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41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non-
controlling interests

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries of the
Company that have material non-controlling interests:

FRARERNREL
HEREGRERHEE AN

Proportion ownership interests

AEEFAREANHETN EHES

HELREE and voting rights held by non- Profit allocated to non- Accumulated non-controlling
Name of subsidiaries controlling interests controlling interests interests

Zg-=f Ty IBIE§ “Toof 0 IBISE “BCCE

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

% % ARBFT ARETT  ARRTT  AEETI

% % RMB000 AMB 000 RMB'0000 RMB 000

BRBAW:tE)

Qingling Moulds (Note (a)) 49.44 49.44 4,960 501 176,437 174,806

BBl O (it

Qingling Technical Center (Note (b)) 49.00 49.00 3,902 4,581 163,021 159,119

8,862 9,592 339,458 333,925

Biat - Notes:

(a) b NG AWRERMEHIESEE  ATE (a) The Company has control over Qingling Moulds by virtue of the
ngA jigﬁﬁgggmm &2 Huk contractual right to appoint three out of the five directors to its board
MRS e AL ARES e #KE of directors, whose decisions about the relevant activities require half
A= - consent of the board of directors.

(b) RATVREEA RN B A MR - (b) The Company has control over Qingling Technical Center by virtue
AEAZATETe - 2EEThHRE of the contractual right to appoint two out of the three directors to
HE B TS EL R R ACE TS Y its board of directors, whose decisions about the relevant activities
WERE - require half consent of the board of directors.

BRAARRBAEERFERERE 2 BB AR
ZHEEREEIIAT - U THBERGEZ
FEEBA R R ELHATHEREE

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Company’s
subsidiary that has material non-controlling interests is set out below.
The summarised financial information below represents amounts before
intragroup eliminations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE T _=—F+_H=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

FOTME L TFES () 41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (CONTINUED)

BREA Qingling Moulds
ZE_=HF ot St -
2023 2022
ARBFT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB'000
MEEE Current assets 476,546 395,070
FnBBE Non-current assets 35,032 92,193
mEBE Current liabilities (123,257) (110,439)
ADRIERREE ARLES Equity attributable to owners of the
Company 211,884 202,018
FeriEa Non-controlling interests 176,437 174,806
-k e k3
2023 2022
ARBFT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB'000
Weza Revenue 125,545 128,824
% Expense (107,872) (113,043)
FAREF Profit for the year 17,673 15,781
AREEE NEIE SRR RS Bla Profit and total comprehensive income
attributable to the owners of the Company 12,713 10,770
FEERER LN iR A Bl Profit and total comprehensive income
attributable to the non-controlling interests 4,960 5,011
EERKE AFHERERRS Dividends declared and paid to non-
controlling interests 3,329 3,192
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE_T_=—F+_HA=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

41. FLFIME L FIEEE (18) 41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (CONTINUED)
BEEA (| Qingling Moulds (Continued)
—EZ= —EoCF
2023 2022
ARBFT ANEETT
RMB'000 RMB'000
BEEB RS RLFE Net cash outflow from operating activities (7,522) (27,383)
REFH ALTHACRL)FE Net cash inflow (outflow) from investing
activities 6,352 (1,913)
BEEH RS RNFE Net cash outflow from financing activities (6,739) (6,461)
REmLERE Net cash outflow (7,909) (35,757)
BREWHD Qingling Technical Center
—BC=f e a3
2023 2022
ABRBFIT ANEETT
RMB’000 RMB000
mEEE Current assets 333,804 326,208
REBE Current liabilities (1,108) (1,476)
ADREREEAELES Equity attributable to owners of the
Company 169,675 165,613
JeERR S Non-controlling interests 163,021 159,119
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE T _=—F+_H=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

41. EAFME L FFTE (8) 41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (CONTINUED)
BEHE RO () Qingling Technical Center (Continued)
—g8-= —EoCF
2023 2022
ARBTT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB 000
FIBA Interest income 10,552 11,971
53 Expenses (2,588) 2,622)
F AR Profit for the year 7,964 9,349
KRFRE NEEEN RS Bl Profit and total comprehensive income
attributable to the owners of the Company 4,062 4,768
RGN ke BEs Profit and total comprehensive income
attributable to the non-controlling interests 3,902 4,581
-k e a3
2023 2022
ARBFT AREFT
RMB000 RMB'000
maEn s BERACRL)F8 Net cash inflow (outflow) from
operating activities 14 (2,440)
RBES RETACRL)F8 Net cash inflow (outflow) from
investing activities 81,460 (67,718)
BewmAGRL)F28 Net cash inflow (outflow) 81,474 (70,158)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE_FE_=FF+_H=1—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

42. MRTBDFAEEARZADR 42. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

TRV ASERESTHMEENEGEEHF The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising from
NEFERERIFREEE) - RETHMESE financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities
MEEEREREENHARRSREFTRA arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or

EEGARESRERADEARETEIRER future cash flows will be, classified in the Group's consolidated statement
EMERE - of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.
HEAR BERE
Lease Dividend gt
liabilities payable Total
ARETFT ARKETFT ARETFT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
W-E-—%5—F—A At 1 January 2022 24,739 - 24,739
BERERE Financing cash flows
BRERE Dividends paid - (273,050) (273,050)
BB AR IEEAARALE  Dividends paid to a non-controlling
shareholder of a subsidiary - (3,192) (3,192)
HEABER Repayments of lease liabilities (22,816) = (22,816)
SR EER Payments of interest expense (637) - (637)
FReEH Non-cash changes:
BEIRRE W 16) Dividends declared (Note 76) - 273,050 273,050
BER—fEMNBRRRIEERR R Dividends declared to a non-
SRR B (W 241) controlling shareholder of a
subsidiary (Note 41) - 3,192 3,192
g Lease addition 40,250 = 40,250
HEAEBFE Interest on lease liabilities 637 = 637
RZZEZ__F+-_A=+—H At 31 December 2022 42,173 - 42,173
—E-=F—HF—H At 1 January 2023 42,173 - 42,173
mﬂﬁiﬁﬁmug Financing cash flows
BN —EMBARRIEERARERE  Dividends paid to a non-controlling
shareholder of a subsidiary - (3,329) (3,329)
HEABEER Repayments of lease liabilities (16,306) = (16,306)
ﬁﬁﬂmgﬁ Payments of interest expense (1,680) = (1,680)
FREEH: Non-cash changes:
BER B RRIEERR R Dividends declared to a non-
SRR B (W et41) controlling shareholder of a
subsidiary (Note 41) - 3,329 3,329
ERIsE) Lease addition 13,091 - 13,091
HERE Lease disposal (3,067) = (3,067)
HEFHREEZ Loss on disposal of right-of-use
EEFE assets, net (30) = (30)
HEABFIE Interest on lease liabilities 1,680 = 1,680
—Z-=F+-A=+—H At 31 December 2023 35,861 - 35,861
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE_FE_=F+_H=1—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

43. FLTFIMBRRERR FRE

43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

—E-= T F
2023 ) 2022
ABREFT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
FREEE Non-current assets
Y - BB KR Property, plant and equipment 1,200,119 1,131,905
FREERE Right-of-use assets 53,389 61,126
REME Investment properties 18,677 18,956
BVEE . Intangible assets 119,905 154,997
R BARZIRE Investments in subsidiaries 294,073 294,073
REpEbX 7 HE Investments associates 55,333 55,333
REELEZRE Investments in joint ventures 368,639 368,639
BRI IAE E Deferred tax assets 59,822 53,779
FEULER X Trade receivables 44,371 =
TFEF Time deposits 2,329,260 1,443,178
SE - BERRHZES Deposit paid for property, plant and
equipment 19,970 47,302
4,563,558 3,629,288
:R!)liE Current assets
BE Inventories 1,157,770 1,285,151
Fﬁlﬁlﬁwx FEUS SR IR K E A PR U R I K Trade, bills and other receivables and
FAN K prepayments 1,471,692 1,424,733
ﬁﬂlﬁl@ﬁlﬁ Tax recoverable 12,448 12,448
TR Time deposits 1,237,763 2,471,574
He MIREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 920,955 953,233
4,800,628 6,147,139
mE A E Current liabilities
FERTERR - BRI R E A FEATRUE Trade, bills and other payables 1,728,767 1,939,442
EHEaE Contract liabilities 300,880 452,747
REAG Refund liabilities 72,624 59,115
HEaE Lease liabilities 16,457 14,812
2,118,728 2,466,116
mENEERE Net current assets 2,681,900 3,681,023
HEERTDHAMR Total assets less current liabilities 7,245,458 7,310,311
2. 931 | Capital and reserves
LN ) Share capital 2,482,268 2,482,268
RS AN (8 K b Share premium and reserves 4,739,503 4,795,557
eaaE Total equity 7,221,771 7,277,825
ERBARE Non-current liabilities
%H SafE Lease liabilities 19,404 27,361
BT — BT R BY Deferred income — government grants 4,283 5,125
23,687 32,486
7,245,458 7,310,311
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE_T_=—F+_HA=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

43. FLFMBERARRRERE 43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

(#8) RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)
ENFIREFRZETH Movements in share premium and reserves of the Company
EERRLRE
BFRE HEFLES Statutory REEH
Share Capital surplus Retained gt
premium reserve  reserve fund profits Total

ARBTT  ARETT ARETL ARETT ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000

RZE-—%—F—H At 1 January 2022 1,764,905 572,210 1,230,621 1,518,696 5,086,432
FRNEEREAEIT Loss and total comprehensive

expenses for the year - - - (17,825) (17,825)
BEYXR-E-—FRERE 2021 final dividends paid - - - (273,050 (273,050)
R-FE-=F+-A=1+-A At 31 December 2022 1,764,905 572,210 1,230,621 1,227,821 4,795,557
FREBRGABZH Loss and total comprehensive

expenses for the year - - - (56,054) (56,054)
RZEZ=F+-A=+-H At 31 December 2023 1,764,905 572,210 1,230,621 1,171,767 4,739,503
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Financial Summary

HE—FE-_—F+_A=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

RARR CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

—®-=F —FT_—F —FB-—F —FBFF —FT-NF
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
ARBTFT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
RMB000  RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

WA Revenue 3,596,535 3,248,080 4,828,237 5,088,762 4,723,287
BB AT (&518) /& 7 (Loss) profit before tax (47,252) (39,619) 344,524 325,154 403,994
PSR () Income tax credit (expense) 1,845 34,636 (13,638) (18,692) (47,712)
FA(ER)REF (Loss) profit for the year (45,407) (4,983) 330,886 306,462 356,282
SEBR Attributable to:
RAREREBA Owners of the Company (54,269) (14,575) 322,080 300,989 345,308
RS Non-controlling interests 8,862 9,592 8,806 5,473 10,974
(45,407) (4,983) 330,886 306,462 356,282
FEeMBERAE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
B —T-—F —T-—F —ET-_FTF —ZT—hF
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

ARBTT ARETT AREFT ARETT ARETT
RMB000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000

BEE Total assets 9,984,490 10,349,176 10,905,911 10,996,341 10,995,614
waEG Total liabilities 2,247,229 2,563,179 2,838,689 2,978,916 2,914,764
B Total equity 7,737,261 7,785,997 8,067,222 7,987,425 8,080,850
SEBR Attributable to:
RAREREBA Owners of the Company 7,397,803 7,452,072 7,739,697 7,665,844 7,762,018
IR S Non-controlling interests 339,458 333,925 327,525 321,581 318,832

7,737,261 7,785,997 8,067,222 7,987,425 8,080,850
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the annual general meeting (the
“AGM") of Qingling Motors Co. Ltd (the “Company"”) will be held
at New Conference Hall of the Company, 1st Floor, 1 Xiexing Cun,
Zhongliangshan, Jiulongpo District, Chongging, the People's Republic
of China (the "PRC") on Wednesday, 5 June 2024 at 10:00 a.m. for the
purpose of considering and, if thought fit, passing the following ordinary
resolutions:

1. To consider and approve the report of the board (the “Board”) of
directors (the “Directors”) of the Company for the year of 2023.

2. To consider and approve the report of the supervisory committee
of the Company for the year of 2023.

38 To consider and approve the audited financial statements and the
independent auditor’s report of the Company for the year of 2023.

By Order of the Board
Qingling Motors Co. Ltd
LEI Bin
Company Secretary

Chongging, the PRC, 18 April 2024

Notes:

(1) Any shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the AGM is entitled to
appoint one or more proxies to attend and vote at the AGM on his/her
behalf in accordance with the articles of association of the Company. A
proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company.

(2) In order to be valid, the proxy form and, if such proxy form is signed
by a person under a power of attorney or other authority on behalf of
the appointer, a notarially certified copy of that power of attorney or
authority shall be deposited at the legal address of the Company at 1
Xiexing Cun, Zhongliangshan, Jiulongpo District, Chongging, the PRC
(in the case of proxy form of holder(s) of Domestic Shares) or at the
Company’'s H Share Registrars, Hong Kong Registrars Limited, at 17M
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong
(in the case of proxy form of holder(s) of H Shares) not less than 24
hours before the time for holding the AGM (i.e. not later than 4 June
2024 at 10:00 a.m. (Hong Kong time)) or 24 hours before the time
appointed for taking the poll.

(3) Shareholders or their proxies shall produce their identity documents
when attending the AGM.

B2 /3E MM AR A A Qingling Motors Co. Ltd
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(8)

To ascertain the H shareholders’ entitlement to attend and vote at the
AGM, the register of shareholders of the Company will be closed from
Monday, 6 May 2024 to Wednesday, 5 June 2024 (both dates inclusive),
during which period no transfer of shares will be registered. All duly
completed transfer forms relating to H shares accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company's H Share
Registrars, Hong Kong Registrars Limited, at Shops 1712-16, 17th
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong
not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 3 May 2024.

Shareholders whose names appear on the register of shareholders of
the Company on Monday, 6 May 2024 are entitled to attend and vote at
the AGM.

Shareholders who intend to attend the AGM shall complete and lodge
the reply slip for attending the AGM at the Company’s legal address at 1
Xiexing Cun, Zhongliangshan, Jiulongpo District, Chongqging, the PRC on
or before Thursday, 16 May 2024. The reply slip may be delivered to the
Company by hand, by post, by cable or by fax (at fax no.: (86) 23-6883
0397).

The AGM is not expected to take more than half a day. Shareholders or
their proxies attending the AGM shall be responsible for their own travel
and accommodation expenses.

Pursuant to rule 13.39(4) of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), all
votes of the shareholders at the meeting will be taken by poll except
where the chairman, in good faith, decides to allow a resolution which
relates purely to a procedural or administrative matter to be voted on
by a show of hands and the Company will announce the results of the
poll in the manner prescribed under Rules 13.39(5) and 13.39(5A) of the
Listing Rules.

As at the date of this notice, the Board comprises 11 Directors, of
which Mr. LUO Yuguang, Mr. YASUTA Tatsuya, Mr. NAKAMURA Osamu,
Mr. KIJIMA Katsuya, Mr. XU Song, Mr. LI Juxing and Mr. LI Xiaodong
are executive directors and Mr. LONG Tao, Mr. SONG Xiaojiang, Mr. LIU
Tianni and Mr. LIU Erh Fei are independent non-executive directors.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors:

Mr. LUO Yuguang (Chairman)

Mr. YASUTA Tatsuya (Vice Chairman and General Manager)
Mr. NAKAMURA Osamu

Mr. KIJIMA Katsuya

Mr. LI Juxing

Mr. XU Song

Mr. LI Xiaodong

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. LONG Tao

Mr. SONG Xiaojiang

Mr. LIU Erh Fei

Mr. LIU Tianni

SUPERVISORS
Ms. MIN Qing
Ms. PU Qing

COMPANY SECRETARIES
responsible for PRC affairs: Mr. LEI Bin
responsible for Hong Kong affairs: Mr. TUNG Tat Chiu Michael

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. SONG Xiaojiang (Committee Chairman)
Mr. LONG Tao

Mr. LIU Erh Fei

Mr. LIU Tianni

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. SONG Xiaojiang (Committee Chairman)
Mr. LUO Yuguang

Mr. LONG Tao

Mr. LIU Erh Fei

Mr. LIU Tianni

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. LUO Yuguang (Committee Chairman)
Mr. LONG Tao

Mr. SONG Xiaojiang

Mr. LIU Erh Fei

Mr. LIU Tianni

CORPORATE INFORMATION AVAILABLE AT
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LEGAL ADDRESS

1 Xiexing Cun

Zhongliangshan

Jiulongpo District

Chongaing

the People’'s Republic of China

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
Office 1601, 16th Floor

LHT Tower

31 Queen’s Road Central

Central, Hong Kong

COMPANY’'S WEBSITE

www.gingling.com.cn

H REGISTRARS

Hong Kong Registrars Limited
Shops 1712-1716

17th Floor, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East

Wan Chai, Hong Kong

H SHARE LISTING PLACE

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
Stock Code: 1122

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank of China, Huayu Road Branch

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China, Huafu Road Branch
Industrial Bank, Business Department of Chongging Branch
China CITIC Bank, Jiangbei Sub-branch

AUDITORS

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants LLP

30/F Bund Center

222 Yan An Road East

Shanghai 200002

The People’s Republic of China

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
35/F One Pacific Place

88 Queensway

Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISER

as to Hong Kong laws:

Tung & Co.

Office 1601, 16th Floor
LHT Tower

31 Queen’s Road Central
Central, Hong Kong
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